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The title of the annual report describes how the Group executed its
strategy in 2021 in all dimensions:
In order to align with the strategy of “achieving success in premiumization”
for the second three-year period, the Group relied on its unique advantages, actively
embraced the new era of beer industry upgrade and category diversification,

S0 as to converge various industry trends and own advantages which
empowers the Group for further development. Meanwhile, the Group also strived to
strengthen itself by establishing a more robust brand portfolio with
both Chinese and international brands, successfully creating a premium key

customers platform and further enhancing its cost-effectiveness. The Group is well-
prepared to “convergence to strengthen” and “win at premium segment” during
the third three-year period to become the leader of the new world of beer industry.

REt ERIREME | BRMEHRERAT

Design, Printing & Production: GenNex Financial Media Limited

www.gennexfm.com



Pkt 2 & @ | ABOUT THE GROUP

NRAIEN REEEE
TR FFEHT
T —FKRER
R FEIENEE
B E

zn‘

BB RFME R
HIE R & F 5

Financial Highlights

s

i

Major Figures in 2021
Major Events in 2021

Investor Relations

Company Profile and Group Structure

Awards and Recognition in 2021

Analysis of Turnover and
Earnings before Interest and Taxation

MR E | TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS 7
ERENRENR
N3 78 i 5= 30 [ 70
KEEHBZR

Management Discussion and Analysis

Geographical Distribution of Breweries

12
14

16

20
24

30

tEER

Exhmik
BEABZEE

EEEREE

I
o
s

REEEH

| CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Biographical Details of

25

Directors and Senior Management —

Corporate Risk Management

Corporate Social Responsibility —

Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Report

B1#5 %R S | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent Auditor’s Report
Consolidated Profit and Loss Acco

Consolidated Statement of

Ei: === =——=

30
40
46
62
87

Comprehensive Income

122

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements

123

s | /4]
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity — 127

=T

Five-Year Financial Summary

202

Corporate Information

Information for Investors

SINILNOD - ¥ B










AFBHNRERRS

COMPANY PROFILE AND GROUP STRUCTURE
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CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY
LIMITED

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
00291.HK), is a beer listed subsidiary company of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"). The Group focuses on the
manufacturing, sales and distribution of beer products. China
Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. In 2019, the Group has completed
the transaction and commenced the strategic partnership with the
Heineken Group, the world’s second-largest brewer.

As a member of CRH, we are dedicated to leading the business
progress and building a better life together with our consumers,
shareholders, staff and business partners, and make the Group a
trusted and beloved beer enterprise.

#£H (&EH) BRAF

China Resources

(Holdings) Company Limited

|

100%* {

SEERAT

Commotra Company Limited

China Resources Enterprise,

? 100%*

EHAXBRAA
Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.
Limited

0.24% %

{60% j 40%

|

EHEE (BF) BRAF
CRH (Beer) Limited

jL 51.67%

ERWE (ER) BRLF

China Resources Beer

(Holdings) Company Limited

(291.HK)
100%
EBHEREBERR AT N-Z——F+—A=+—A1

China Resources Snow
Breweries Limited

As at 31 December 2021
* A Indirectly held
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On 22 January, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into the Joint Venture Agreement,
the Relocation Compensation Agreement and the Construction Agreement with the wholly-owned subsidiaries of
China Resources Land Limited (HKEX stock code: 01109.HK) to develop the land owned by China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. GEESZIEEHE (H ) B R A7) (“CR Snow”) in Baoan District, Shenzhen. The relevant
agreements were approved by a majority of shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on 29 March.
The construction of the CR Snow headquarters and CR Snow beer town was officially launched in August.

M8H268 - ARFIMBAREREXERBRA
A(DEEZERDELRRZABEERAR(TLURR
CHEDRURFZEERNDAR AR LIHH
WHRI0A27BEXEBEEZERAIURRZAME
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On 26 August, China Resources Wine Holdings Co.,
Ltd GEREZEZERABR AR ("WH"), a subsidiary
of the Company, entered into an agreement with
Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu Co., Ltd. (LEREZ HEA
FR /A R]) (“Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu”) and Shandong
Jingzhi Liquor Co., Ltd. (ILER=ZBERHER
‘AA]). The Group formally acquired a 40% equity
interest in Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu through WH by
injecting RMB1.3 billion on 27 October.

M11A198 - BEEZEERRAREM + NAFE
MABEIEER MDA - W12 86 B BIER AR o
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REFEBNSEST @ AR AREBRKIERER
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On 19 November, Hang Seng Indexes Company
Limited announced that the Company has been
selected as one of the constituent stocks in the
Hang Seng Index with effect from 6 December.
The re-introduction of the Company as a blue-chip
stock reflects the high recognition of the Group’s
business and the confidence in the Group's future
development prospects by the capital market.
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ﬁ-'n The Group pioneered the “Snow Road”, a §
unique characteristic of CRSB, to kick off ?:ffi
the upgrade of the Group’s beer production ?ﬁ
N OREER [EEE MR - B management and move towards the leader of
BISTRBL AR R - BAEEEE F TR a1 ST I [ GSlA AT el
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The Group established the “CRSB Technology Research
Institute” to focus on beer research, innovation
and transformation of technological achievements,
integrates upstream and downstream enterprises on
the beer industrial chain and jointly develop a world-

class and international influential “Chinese Beer” Sl el e B i E’é
technology innovation platform. ﬂ\“}é
HER EXTHED s
NEW PRODUCTS AND MAJOR MARKETING ACTIVITIES g
B REER2021FHERES TRBESERR  2ABETRBMESRE S8R s BamTm [
FERREER [ RMRE | (#485KBRAL) - SIEBIPR MR [ALE IR W10 SEERKR mAE &t ] -
The Group continued to build and promote its
diversified brand portfolio in 2021. In February, the
carbonated beverage “Snow Xiao Pi Qi” with zero §
alcohol was launched. In April, a super-premium fﬂ;

new product, “Li”, and the first fruity beer product
“Lowen Fruit Beer” (#485 Rosé) were launched. The
international brand, “Amstel”, was introduced. In
October, the international brand “Edelweiss” was
introduced.
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The Group launched a number of marketing activities in 2021. In April, the second phrase of “Snow Hard Core Beer
Park” opened, continuing to build a distinctive landmark in Xi'an. In July, the “Snow Wan Mei Life Festival” was
launched in Hefei, Anhui, igniting a trendy destination in the city; the “Chengdu Snow Beer Carnival” was opened,
creating a well-known night-time economic event brand in Sichuan with over 100 million exposures. In September,
“The Second Snow Shenzhen International Beer Festival” was launched, creating a unique “Naughty Beer Carnival”.

6 [ENeR%G  HRRAEIBMNTREERRESHZE AR
RE 128 [ENCEEE 202015 —EBEFSHLITEES -
BEFESEXERBAI BRI THIEEFILHEAKE  BH
FEEESES(ERE -

In June, the UEFA Euro 2020 brand experience campaign
“HEINEKEN® X UEFA Champions League” was launched
nationwide. In December, the first electronic music industry
summit 2021 “Heineken® Soundscape” was held, joining hands
with stakeholders in the electronic music industry chain to
establish the China Electronic Music Co-creation Alliance, helping
to develop high-quality beer business in China.

[BE R EsuperX] ~ [SEF@HGZ] - [BHAE HEESHA
EA[BEXEsuperX | BR(ERRESEL)  HEGE [BR
BRBER - B [RWIES - @& [TRIRmE - BEEH 2
2 BAEEHERT R - [SEBRREIRE LT - UL
A IR B A A o

The new endorsers for “Brave the World superX”, “SNOW
MARRSGREEN BEER” and “Léwen White Beer” were announced
successively. “Brave the World superX” has been title sponsored
the “Street Dance of China S4”, which conveys the gene of
“cool and challenge” continuously. The co-branding of “Brave
the World superX”and “JUEWEI" also conveyed the concept
of “flexible customization for you” and catered to individual
consumer needs. The new packaging of “Snow Brave the World”
was launched, embracing the new era of beer with a new
attitude.

R E (%) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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In April, the Group was honored with “Outstanding
Contribution Award in Science and Technology Advancement
of China Alcoholic Drinks” by China Alcoholic Drinks

ARE55C | MAJOR EVENTS

Association at its forum of Special Award for Science and

Technology Advancement. In December, the project “Research and Application of Key Technologies for Beer Bottle
Design and Quality Assurance under Consumption Upgrade” passed the scientific and technological achievement
appraisal and was recognised as “International Advanced Level” by the China Alcoholic Drinks Association.

EECEXLERIKETR AR [ EERE
B [CEHSEETFERHAEARE | N [20215WH
BEERR-—AMBERREERR SEEIR]
TEANBERAERAES [EEANERRAERE
BEEFLE] URTBECEXARWBE[FEES
R -

The “Snow Corporate Culture Construction” won
the “Responsible Brand Award”, the “Corporate
Social Responsibility Industry Model Award” and
the “2021 KNX X Awards — Best Practice in Talent
Development and Best Employer Award”, and
the “Outstanding Enterprise in Human Resources
Development and Quality Assurance Award” by the
China Human Resource Development Association as
well as the “Outstanding Corporate Culture of the
Year” by the China Corporate Citizenship Forum.
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The “Snow Breweries Learning and Innovation
Centre” was awarded the honorary certification,
“China Exemplary Enterprise University”, the “2020-
2021 China Talent Development Elite Award —
Benchmark Unit” and “Best Learning Project” by
Training Magazine, the “Best Practice of Learning and
Development (HRBP) in Greater China 2021 by HRoot,
and the “6th China Learning Design Competition Gold
Award” by Chinese Society for Talent Development
(CSTD).

AN B LM R G E R ZE (World
Brand Lab) %8 % & [ 2021 & B & f&
FEAREEFAENO.1] : ABESNERM

L
|
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rae Bl fI5REEE28% -

#

3 The Group was awarded the “Chinese

" Brand Annual Award — No.1 in Beer
£y ke Industry 2021" by World Brand Lab,

and ranked 28th in the “BrandZ™ Top
100 Most Valuable Chinese Brands
2021" by Kantar.
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In 2021, a total of four relocation, new construction
or upgrading projects were officially launched by
the Group, including the relocation and construction
of the Bengbu plant in Anhui and Liangshan plant
in Sichuan with an annual production capacity of
800,000 kilolitres and 400,000 kilolitres respectively,
upgrading of the Hangzhou Heineken plant with
an annual production capacity of 200,000 kilolitres
and the Qiannan plant in Guizhou for canned beer
production line with an annual production capacity of
200,000 kilolitres.

Hth K=
OTHER MAJOR EVENTS
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In 2021, a total of three new projects were
officially signed, including the first-phase
construction of Jinan plant in Shandong with an
annual production capacity of 700,000 kilolitres,
the production line project in Hunan plant with
production capacity of 60,000 cans per hour and
the construction of the Xiamen plant in Fujian
Province with an annual production capacity of
400,000 kilolitres.

WIZETIRIOE THERBEZERR KRMNT
BE/ IR EERGAER LAREES -

The projects in Zhejiang were officially put in
operation, including the 100,000 kilolitres capacity
expansion project at the Jiashan plant and the
90,000 cans per hour production line project at the
Wenzhou plant.

B BRABE - (TEAEL - WEHRi R - SEABE]

On 28 July, the Group held a kick-off
meeting for the “Meet at the Top”
premium key customers platform and
established a three-tier key customers
platform. This was a milestone event
in the Group’s channel strategy under
the guidance of the “premiumization
strategy” to meet the future needs of
premiumization development.

RHASEEM B ANESE INEEER -

In October, the Group held an experience sharing session on
the implementation of the strategy of “Quality Development
for Success in Premium Segment”, which provided an in-depth
analysis of “the big change in the world, big era in China, big
trend in the State, big transformation in the industry, the new
world of beer industry, and Snow’s big strategy”, and put
forward the Group’s strategic goal of “becoming the leader of

the new world of beer industry”.

= (2 A% ) AR A F | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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On 7 December, the Group held the Snow Channel Partners
Convention 2021 named “Become a Trend to Achieve
Success in Premiumization”. The Group sent out again the
strongest message that it would continue to deeply empower
its channel partners and develop key customers with the
characteristics of CRSB, showing the infinite possibilities
of the Group’s future development in various dimensions.
In December, the Group also held its first suppliers’
conference to formally establish a star-rated suppliers’
system, empowering its suppliers and partners to assist in
premiumization development.

1A AEEENRERE[SEREY  KEFHTEWE285R
A8 BAHBIXRAR - BERRBEREX - RA - FESE
BRAZBEROERBE  RABBEZMBEERER -

In December, the Group held its first “Snow Day” event to
celebrate CRSB’s 28th birthday, helping to promote the cultural
recognition of employees and the achievement of its corporate
vision. In the same month, the CRSB Shared Operation Centre
was officially inaugurated, playing an important role in the
implementation of organizational restructure.

127 ATBEBEXHBEHRE  EFHE
EREAREBERBEERBREE
XS TEREFR#ELTHER -
REER - R - KEMERE
BRARER -2 HKRAFREEWEH
ARETENRAMKE 2 58 -

In December, an industrial conference
on the domestic barley for beer was
initiated by China Alcoholic Drinks
Association and convened by CRSB,
bringing together both upstream and
downstream enterprises, beer experts,
research institutes, universities and
senior media representatives to explore
the current status of the industry about
domestic barley for beer and the ways
to revitalize the industry.

73T B og R S B = i R OB SR A AR A BE ) AN 4T 4 = o R B R 7
AF - AEERRTEZEEMNASTEIER - KREE - B
=R—EF ] [MERAGR] - DEREIM [ARE AR -

In order to strengthen the Group’s organizational capability
and build up talents for the premium beer business, the Group
organized multi-level training programmes with fruitful results,
including the “Three Level Leaders”, the “Two Drive Wheels”,
the “Channel Magic Weapon” and the “Fire Pistol” projects.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITION
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MerComm, Inc.

MERCURY Excellence Awards
2020/2021

2019F FM-EFERE ¢
SRR A I B R A
Annual Report 2019 —
Overall Presentation:
Beverages -

Honors Winner

MERCURY

58 | MAY
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Corporate Governance Asia
2021 EETMNEER tEREAKR
Asian ESG Awards 2021

TN EERAE
Asia’s Icon on

Loppoateliemani
»
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x
Corporate Governance ASIANESGM:RD
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— 221~

8- 7% Vaktt 3
ESG Influencer
DN EEFRIBAR

Asian Corporate Director Recognition Awards

(TR ) et
Forbes

23200058 3%
Global 2000

#5125 186502
Ranked 1865th

6A | JUNE

(mmaE) M
Institutional Investor
2021 EETHEAFEEEKRAE

2021 All-Asia Executive Team survey

BRXERCX(MBHERITE)

Most Honored Company

(Consumer Staples Sector)
REERRTE(UBHEMITEE—R)
Best CEO (First Place in

Consumer Staples Sector)
REERUBE (VB HEMITEE—R)
Best CFO (First Place in

Consumer Staples Sector)
REREEBEREAE
(BEHERITHEE=R)

Best Investor Relations Professional
(Second Place in

Consumer Staples Sector)

FEHEE(ZER)BERAA

4R | APRIL

SHEENR
National Business Daily
2021 EER &9
Golden Goblet Awards ‘ ‘
of China Liquor
Industry 2021 NBD
A
RIERE R R ETRA
Listed Company with
the Best Return on Investment
HEEm—SEMAE
Star Product — Snow Draft Beer

BERENE  FEABRHEER
SHERELSEFRAL
National Business Daily and
Tsinghua SEM China Business
Research Center
2021 EH AT
A R E S

2021 List of Chinese ‘ ‘

Listed Companies !‘I{B’E
by Brand Value i

#21ETOP100
Top 100

B
Snowball

2021 & e
2021 Gold Enterprise Ranking

REBETOPES
TOP Investment Value Ranking

nal
or
2021 ASlA
EXECUTIVE TEAM

HEREEWURAR (LR HERITEFE=2)
Best Investor Relations Professional

(Third Place in Consumer Staples Sector)
RERBEEBRREK(LFHERITES —R)
Best Investor Relations Team

(First Place in Consumer Staples Sector)
REREEREIE(WTHERTESE —R)
Best Investor Relations Program

(First Place in Consumer Staples Sector)
CHERER

(BB HEMITEE—SR)

Best ESG (First Place in

Consumer Staples Sector)

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Fortune China

RE50058 & %
Fortune China 500

%515 3301L
Ranked 330th

8R | AUGUST

MerComm, Inc. ('5"': )

BB ARCAE 35 K 88
ARC

International Annual
Report Competition
INTERNATIONAL
XXXV

(ARC) Awards

RE B —E AEE ZUE - i
Interior Design — Beer/Wine/Spirits — Gold
ENfRI R BUE — BUER 75 85 — R

Printing & Production — Manufacturing and
Distributing — Silver

ME R~ BB R A —

Interior Design — Manufacturing and
Distributing — Bronze
ERRR(EREE) —WE  AEn,/
RUBMER — ERE

Overall Presentation (Traditional Format) —
Beer/Wine/Spirits — Honors
BRRBE(ERER) —ZERD#H -
BRI

Overall Presentation (Traditional Format) —
Manufacturing and Distributing — Honors
HEE R Rt - EERSH - BREE
Cover Photo/Design — Manufacturing and
Distributing — Honors

KEMEESRES

League of American Communications
Professionals LLC (LACP)
20205F iR 18

2020 Vision Awards

Annual Report Competition

D LACP

HEBEM— R/ /R EEER  Be%
Consumer Consumables — Food/Beverage/
Tobacco Category: Platinum Award
FIRF R 10058 — 5017

Ranked 50th in Top 100 Worldwide Rank
AR FIR803 — 2317

Ranked 23rd in Regional Top 80 Rank (Asia-
Pacific Region)

X ER5058

Top 50 Chinese Reports
REMBRE - RE(ERR)

Best Report Financials — Silver Award (Asia-
Pacific Region)
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Hong Kong Investor Relations Association

ELtEFSREEMERE
HKIRA 7th
Investor Relations Awards

BERBERBEWRADRNE - RER
Overall Best IR Company Awards

— Large Cap

ESGE A #— KA R

Grand ESG Award - Large Cap
RIEREEBEAR - RERK

Best IR Company — Large Cap
REREEBR(BFENTE) - RER
Best IR by CEO — Large Cap
REREEBR(ERBUBE) - RER
Best IR by CFO - Large Cap
RIEREEBHK — REK

Best IR Team — Large Cap
BEAEMESR - ARR

Best IRO (Investor Relations Officer)

— Large Cap

10A | OCTOBER

MerComm, Inc.
B Galaxyi€15 i |

T gl

Galaxy Awards

FHRIBMBRA — 05 ERERREE
Design — Covers: Annual Reports

- Places/Products — Bronze
FREF—R M/ BEREFERE
Annual Reports — Print: Food/
Packaged Good — Honors

128 | DECEMBER

(EMERER)HE
Corporate Governance Asia
AT EA LopporatebiE TN
SHEREREAR .

. S e
Asian Excellence  xg\aypilCEl [ ENCE
Recognition AWARD ¥ "y

Awards 2021 — 2021 T~

TMEEERRTE (REEBE)

Asia’s Best CEO (Investor Relations)

TNEEEFEHBE (REERME)
Asia’s Best CFO (Investor Relations)
RIEREEBERDLE

Best Investor Relations Company
RIERFEER

Best Environmental Responsibility
REREEBEAR

Best Investor Relations Professional

321K 552 | AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

[ira

IR Awards

RERE L RERGRE) - RER
Best ESG (E) — Large Cap

RERR  #HBRERHE) - RERK
Best ESG (S) — Large Cap

RERR B RER(ER) - KRERK
Best ESG (G) — Large Cap
REREEGH - RER

Best Investor Meeting — Large Cap
RIEREEBEEN MR — RELR
Best Investor Presentation Material

— Large Cap

RIEFHR—ABR

Best Annual Report — Large Cap
RIEREEMESF R — KA

5 years IR Awards Winning Company
— Large Cap

118 | NOVEMBER

{am730)CEE M 2 BRI B\ 43 48 A% )
am730, PR Asia and IFENG

HK STOCKS

R EH AR
K#82021

Listed Company
Excellence
Awards 2021

E®Ew

i T ARK8E

Listed Company Excellence Awards

IR Magazine

IR Magazinel8I§ — 2021 XPEME
IR Magazine Awards
- Greater China 2021

S varmer
Greaie Chwiia 0L

RERBRAEMEANEZ(REDR)

Best Overall Investor Relations
(Large Cap)

RIEREEMBRABRRE(RE D)
Best Investor Relations Officer (Large Cap)
REREEMERE  HER

Best in Sector: Consumer Staples

(EME®)

Asiamoney

20215 il R £ £ 2 TR
Asia’s Outstanding
Companies Poll 2021

BEEREHERITELTAR
Most Outstanding Company in Hong
Kong — Consumer Staples Sector

(EE—B)HE

Economic Digest
2021FEEEFERHETLR
Hong Kong Outstanding Listed
Enterprises 2021

W L E# 202

B e E b 2

Outstanding Beer Enterprise Award
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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BE_Z

Turnover

(AR¥ B E 7T RMB million)
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2020 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BiREFTRT

Basic earnings per share
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31,448 33,190 1.41 0.65 0.40
—E_—F —E-FF —ET-hF
2021 2020 2019
AR®EET AREBFETT AREBFETT
RMB million RMB million RMB million
A L 2 Turnover 31,448 33,190
NN T B R FE A 5 Profit attributable to
shareholders of the
Company 2,094 1,312
FIRE AR EF Basic earnings per share RMBO0.65 RMBO0.40
RS Dividend per share
— i Hf — interim RMBO0.128 RMBO0.120
— R HA — final RMBO.131 RMBO0.045
RMBO0.259 RMBO.165

FEHEE(ZER)BERAA

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company
(AREE BT RMB million)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BREERE: FEE
Net assets per share: book value
(AR¥IT RMB)
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71.53 6.54 6.06

BoZZZ—% RZZTZTF RIZE-NF
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As at As at As at

31 December 31 December 31 December

2021 2020 2019

AR®EER AREBETT AREEET

RMB million RMB million RMB million
RRFRREE = Equity attributable to
shareholders of the

Company 21,217 19,670

FEIZ HI AR B M A Non-controlling interests 57 57

e Total equity 21,274 19,727

SEAEIE S FEE Consolidated net cash’ 4,614 1,897

BEL &R Gearing ratio? JFI8 4 Net Cash jFIR 4 Net Cash

mB) b % Current ratio 0.68 0.49
FREEFE Net assets per share:

—REEBE(AR®T): - book value (RMB)? 6.54 6.06

B3 - Notes:

1. FERSFEEFARERASSFEMREE 1.
HRITREFRAGEBER

2. BELRBEAERFREEEROLLD 2.

3. BREEFE -REBEDARNRRBRERBEE 3.
BEAFRENERTROBEE -

Consolidated net cash represents consolidated total of cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits minus consolidated total loans.
Gearing ratio represents the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to total
equity.

Net assets per share — book value is calculated by dividing equity attributable
to shareholders of the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of
the year.
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ERERXAVNERBENEN DR
ANALYSIS OF TURNOVER AND EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION

BHE-ZT-—F+=-FA=1+—HLFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

ESWZRAFIBRIRAGRFIMGLL
EPWMZEEHEGL Earnings before interest and
Turnover proportion by segment taxation proportion by segment

M &= Southern region

M F 2 Central region

W %% Eastern region
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BEZZT-—F+-A=+—HIEFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

—E-—% ZTZTF EmSORD)

2021 2020 Increased/

ARBEHET AR¥BET (Decreased)

BEoMZzEXST Turnover by segment RMB million RMB million %
A Eastern region 16,369 5.2%
A& Central region 7,887 6.6%
E Southern region 8,352 8.5%
32,608 6.4%

HEDBEZRS Elimination of inter-segment

transactions (1,160) 12.3%

aE Total 31,448 6.2%
—EB-—%F ZTTF EMORD)

2021 2020 Increased/

ERWZREEFA Earnings before interest ARBEET AREKEBER (Decreased)
ERBERIETF and taxation by segment RMB million RMB million %
HE Eastern region 1,134 199.4%
& Central region 757 56.8%
5] Southern region 1,312 11.8%
3,203 88.9%

UNGIE R =g e Net corporate expenses (124) (53.2%)
b b ] Total 3,079 94.6%

| g :
L B T
L 1-.’ _d_u_l -I._.b_
B ™ Cied™ Tsas®™ W™
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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REBR S —FHEAEETAAR
#533,387,000,0007T * L FEK6.2% °
AEEBR-ZE-_—FHARAIREEN
HREBRMEARFTAERBIBENAFN - 12
EHR EFF119.1% K 94.6% &= AR
4,587,000,0007T & A R #5,991,000,000
-

R —F BEBEMBAEIRIKRE
EZE-NFRIBRIKE - A - BIFE
BAEEMmSEER S _SF5HR
55 - MBS 2B MEME - LERAES
MHAE Z A KB Hb & 7 E Bl B
NINAZEBBERENZE  AEE—
T FERBBREEER T _TFTHF
0.4% Z=#911,056,000 F F ' IHFE K
oo mEZIBARRITAINZZ — N F 48
bt - BIEFTHEEEIHERHBAEEEE -

REBEFERN  XERAEBFEHRER
B EmE A - TERE S mEEKE
WHEREFFEEER - & BBUNAFER
BESE EnmZEe (EREEHF4HA
X-partyE S B EFBHEEMEELHTE -
EEEFOAEESSME -  —FT = —
FREE R EEASEE 41,866,000 F
o BR-IEBE-ZFERITEY%  EmiEH
BERA - A - [ BE X Esuperx] -
[ZEhe] [SREGEIN [ S5 BT
EE R FHLEMNEIEER - B EER
HERBRAN  AEBR_ZT=-—FT#
FRERAHADERNEBERETTEER
B ERYHHEERR-ZE_ZF L
6.6% ' LHUBRM B R BEYRHER LR
MEREEHEERRN EANTE  F2F
T FEBEEMNER_ZF_FTF LFH0S8
EEDEE39.2% - A — T -_—FF
BRENR-_Z-_ZTF LASI%NEARK
13,074,000,0007T * &FIge N A FIIEFA o

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group’'s consolidated turnover in 2021 was
RMB33,387,000,000, which increased by 6.2% year-on-year.
The Group’s consolidated profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders and earnings before interest and taxation in
2021 increased by 119.1% and 94.6% year-on-year to
RMB4,587,000,000 and RMB5,991,000,000 respectively.

In 2021, the overall beer market capacity has not yet resumed to
the pre-pandemic level in 2019. Nonetheless, the impact of the
pandemic on China’s beer market has been easing as compared
with that in 2020. The beer market is in a state of recovery. The
Group's overall beer sales volume was generally flat year-on-
year in 2021, decreased by 0.4% to approximately 11,056,000
kilolitres as compared with 2020, due to shrinking market
capacity of mainstream segments, as well as the recurrence of
the pandemic in some regions in certain period of time. The
percentage change in the sales volume of the Group in 2021, as
compared with 2019 before pandemic, was in line with that of
overall industry situation.

During the year under review, the Group benefited from the
continuous promotion of its premiumization strategy, improving
and enriching the sales team for premium segment and promoting
the establishment of key customers platform, and the launch of
various thematic promotion and channel marketing activities such
as the UEFA Euro 2020, the UEFA Champions League, product
tastings, “Street Dance of China S4” and brand campaign event
“X-party” which cultivated and promoted various signature
brands continuously. As a result, the sales volume of the sub-
premium beer segment and above reached approximately
1,866,000 kilolitres in 2021, representing an increase of 27.8%
compared with 2020 with a significant improvement in the
product mix. Among the brands, “Brave the World SuperX”,
“Heineken®”, “Snow Draft Beer” and “SNOW MARRSGREEN
BEER” all recorded a double-digit growth year-on-year. Due to
the above-mentioned product mix upgrade coupled with the
moderate price adjustment of certain products of the Group
in the second half of 2021, the overall average selling price
increased by 6.6% as compared with 2020, which offset the
impact of the increase in average costs of sales due to the price
rose of raw materials and packaging materials. Overall gross profit
margin increased by 0.8 percentage points to 39.2% in 2021 as
compared with 2020. Meanwhile, the overall gross profit in 2021
increased by 8.3% to RMB13,074,000,000 compared with 2020,
resulting in an improvement in profitability.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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EEE MBI D4 | MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the Relocation Compensation Agreement dated 22
January 2021 entered into between Shenzhen Runtou Consulting
Co., Ltd. (% Y| B % 5 @ B R 2 &), China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (CEEZ & @@ (Hh EH )
1 & B PR A &) and China Resources Snow Breweries (China)
Co., Ltd. ($/Fﬁ§?€u$/@(¢'.)ﬁ|§EL\ A]), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, the initial compensation
gain on transfer of the land owned by the Group amounted
to approximately RMB1,755,000,000 (corresponding after-
tax income of approximately RMB1,316,000,000), which
led other income and gains in 2021 increased by 110.0% to
RMB3,543,000,000 as compared with 2020.

During the year under review, the selling and distribution
expenses of the Group in 2021 increased by 10.1% as compared
with 2020, mainly due to the increase in marketing expenses
and labour costs. In addition, the Group’s impairment loss on
fixed asset and one-off employee compensation and settlement
expenses in relation to plant closure in 2021 recorded a decrease
in 48.3% to approximately RMB387,000,000 as compared with
2020. Administrative and other expenses in 2021 decreased by
18.1% compared with 2020.

The Group continued to build and promote its diversified brand
portfolio by launching a number of new brands in 2021, including
the super-premium product “Li”, the premium product “Léwen
Fruit Beer” (#485 Rosé), the carbonated beverage “Snow Xiao
Pi Qi” as well as the introduction of the international brands
“Amstel” and “Edelweiss”, to further enrich the Group’s product
portfolio and support its premiumization development.

The Group has continued with its deployment of production
capacity optimization and ceased operation of 5 breweries during
the year under review. At the end of 2021, the Group operated 65
breweries in 24 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions
in Mainland China, with an aggregate annual production capacity
of approximately 18,200,000 kilolitres.

In respect of expanding its non-beer business, the Group, through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired a 40% equity interest in
Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu Co., Ltd. ((UESZHBEHBRAF]) by
injecting RMB1,300,000,000 on 27 October 2021.

Looking ahead, despite the uncertainty associated with the
ongoing pandemic, the Group will be well-prepared to actively
respond to the pandemic recurrence at certain regions. In
response to the rising prices of raw materials and packaging
materials, the Group will continue to closely monitor the market

— T - —4&F &3 | Annual Report 2021
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dynamics of domestic and foreign raw materials and packaging
materials, and replenish stocks reasonably at appropriate times
and implement staggered peak procurement to mitigate the
pressure of rising prices. The Group will adhere to its strategic
management philosophy of “Quality Development for Success in
Premium Segment”, planning to launch various new products in
2022, including “Snow Draft Pure Malt Beer” and “Heineken®
0.0", to enrich product diversity and address different consumer
needs. In addition, in response to the business development of
competitors in bars and bistros, the Group will actively explore
the expansion of its bistro business and develop new marketing
channels for beer products. At the same time, the Group will
continue to effectively strengthen the promotion and channel
marketing of its domestic and international brands, promote the
implementation of business initiatives such as the four standards
of talent selection, manufacturing excellence, upgrading
informatization, operational reforms and marketing digitization
to enhance the Group’s competitive position. The Group will also
continue to pay attention to the development opportunities for
appropriate non-beer alcoholic beverages in the pursuit of well-
defined diversified development to explore potential synergies
and further expand its business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
CAPITAL AND FUNDING

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s consolidated net cash
amounted to RMB5,396,000,000. The Group had no borrowings
as at 31 December 2021.

The Group was in a net cash position as at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020.

The Group's principal assets, liabilities, revenue and payments
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars.
As at 31 December 2021, 0.5% of the Group’s cash and bank
deposit balance was held in Hong Kong dollars, 97.5% in
Renminbi and 2.0% in US dollars.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s current liabilities and
current ratio were RMB21,170,000,000 and 0.75, respectively.
The current liabilities included receipts in advance on sales and
accruals on promotion and marketing expenses, majority of these
amounts would be offset by trade receivables or be realised
through sale discounts in the future, with no significant net
cash outflow in short run. Taking into account the gearing ratio,
historical and expected future cash flows from operations and
unutilised available banking facilities of the Group, management
expected the Group has adequate resources to meet its liabilities
and commitment as and when they fall due and to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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B E B4 | MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, assets with a carrying value of
RMB20,000,000 were pledged for construction in progress and
notes payable (31 December 2020: RMB76,000,000 were pledged
for notes payable).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2021.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES
AND ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group collects substantially all of its revenue in RMB and most
of the Group’s expenditures, including expenditure incurred in its
operations as well as capital expenditure, are also denominated in
RMB.

The Group’s business transactions were mainly carried out in HKD
and RMB. The Group's exposure to currency risk was attributable
to the bank balances and debts which were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the Company
to which these bank balances and debts were related. The
management regularly monitors the relevant foreign currency
exposure and will consider taking appropriate measures to control
the risk arising from significant exchange fluctuations.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE YEAR

There are no significant subsequent events occurred that
materially affect the Group’s financial condition or operation after
31 December 2021 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a staff size of around
25,000, amongst which more than 99% were employed in the
Mainland China, whilst the rest were mainly in Hong Kong.
The staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) of the Group
was approximately RMB5,692,000,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021. Remuneration packages are assessed in
accordance with the nature of job duties, individual performance
and market trends with built-in merit components, paid in the
form of cash bonuses.

By order of the Board
HOU XIAOHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF BREWERIES

FATUES T e S e B Se VAN A D e catiibe a2 (121

FEME '.
ANNUAL PRODUCTION (#

CAPACITY

. ey -
%. 'a'f:'ih i

4 : ‘
» 1 d 1 s : ceased operation‘and

:F* KL 4 determined by managerﬁen

to be closed

BE#H BE#H
;3 Provinces/ No. of ;3 Provinces/ No. of
No. # ™ Cities breweries No. # Cities breweries
1. BT Heilongjiang 3 13, #7L Zhejiang 5
2. EHM Jilin 1 14. ER Guangdong 4
3. ¥E=: Liaoning 8 15. 4 Hunan 2
4. RE Tianjin 1 16. &M Guizhou 3
5. JAdb Hebei 2 17. @)l Sichuan 8
6. UFA Shanxi 1 18.  FhiE Tibet 1
7. UE Shandong 3 19. H@&# Gansu 1
A3 Jiangsu 4 20, AExRGH Inner Mongolia 2
9. b Shanghai 1 21. EE Ningxia 1
10. ZH& Anhui 5 22. PBRPg Shaanxi 1
1. A Henan 3 23. EA Guangxi 1
12, S#dt Hubei 3 24. B Hainan 1

= T R B A B
TOTAL NUMBER
OF BREWERIES IN
OPERATION

69

5B 8 5E (2% ) AR 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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REERMR
INVESTOR RELATIONS

In 2021, the Group was included as a constituent stock in
the Hang Seng Index by Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited
with effect from 6 December 2021. The re-introduction of the
Company as a blue-chip stock demonstrates the confidence in the
Group’s business and future development plans by capital market.

During the year under review, the continuing COVID-19 outbreak has
increased uncertainties to the global economic environment. Investors
paid more attention to the timeliness and the extent of corporate
information disclosure, hoping to quickly recognise the impact of the
pandemic on corporate business in order to better understand the
corresponding corporate’s initiatives. Adhering to the principle of
sincere and transparent investor relations management, the Group has
actively engaged and communicated with shareholders and investors
via a diverse range of channels. The Group strived to uphold high-
quality corporate governance and a high level of transparency to
ensure the capital markets stay informed about its latest developments
and future development plans. The Group has welcomed the valuable
views of shareholders and investors to further enhance its operating
performance, create more business development opportunities and
bring a better return for shareholders.

In 2021, in response to the changing pandemic situation, the
Group held over 150 meetings with more than 3,000 fund
managers and analysts mainly through teleconferences and
online meetings, and arranged teleconferences and live streamed
financial results presentations so as to maintain high-level
and high-quality communication with investors which further
strengthened their confidence levels in the Group’s prospects.

During the year under review, the Company continued to earn
recognition from capital market for its work on corporate
governance and investor relations management with various
authoritative awards from reputable institutions. These included
“Most Honored Company”, “Best CEO (first place)”, "Best
Investor Relations Team (first place)”, “Best Investor Relations
Program (first place)”, “Best ESG (first place)” in the consumer
staples sectors in Asia with eight awards in total as part of the All-
Asia Executive Team survey by Institutional Investor. The Company
also received the “Best Overall Investor Relations (Large Cap)”,
“Best in Sector: Consumer Staples” and “Best Investor Relations
Officer (Large Cap)” in the Greater China IR Magazine Awards
from IR Magazine. The Hong Kong Investor Relations Association
has awarded the Company with a total of 14 accolades such
as “Overall Best IR Company Awards”, “Grand ESG Award”,
“Best IR by CEQO”, “Best IR Company”, “Best IR Team” in the
category of large capitalization company. Meanwhile, Corporate
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Governance Asia recognised the Company as “Asia’s lcon on
Corporate Governance”, “ESG Influencer” and “Asian Corporate
Director Recognition Awards”. Furthermore, the Company was
again commended with multiple international awards for its high-
quality annual report. The Company was awarded with 1 Gold, 1
Silver, 1 Bronze and 3 Honors awards in the “International Annual
Report Competition (ARC) Awards” by MerComm, Inc. Looking to
the future, the Group will maintain its momentum and enhance
shareholders’ value in the long run to promote the healthy
development of the Group.

SHARE PERFORMANCE

In 2021, a variety of external factors dealt a heavy blow to the
Hong Kong stock market. The Group paid close attention to
the pandemic developments and the policy directions while
continuing to review and adjust operational strategies to minimize
the impact on the business performance. On 8 January 2021, the
Company's stock price reached a record high of HK$75.40 with
total market capitalization climbing up to around HK$250.00
billion. Amid volatile market conditions, the Company’s share
price has maintained a relatively stable performance. The share
price of the Company on 31 December 2021 at the day’s close
was HK$63.85, outperforming the Hang Seng Index. Total market
capitalization was HK$207.14 billion as of 31 December 2021.

DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO

The Group is committed to enhancing the long-term value of
the Group as well as achieving sustainable business growth
and improving its profitability in recognition of the unwavering
support by shareholders. According to the dividend policy of the
Company, the annual dividend to be distributed by the Company
to shareholders shall be no less than 20% of the Group's profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year under normal
circumstances. In proposing any dividend payout, the board of
directors shall also take into account the Group’s actual and
expected financial performance, shareholders’ interest, general
business conditions and strategies, the Group’s expected working
capital requirements and future expansion plans, possible effects
on the Group’s creditworthiness, general economic conditions,
business cycle of the Group’s businesses and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company as well as
other factors that the board of directors deems appropriate.

The total dividend of the Company reached RMB0.566 per share,
representing an increase of 118.5% year-on-year, implying a
dividend payout ratio of 40% in 2021. Moving forward, the
Company will make every effort to maintain a respectable
dividend payout level while preserving its healthy financial
position to provide shareholders with reasonable long-term
investment returns.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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EERESREBAEBZHE
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BRITEE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

=23 %% | Mr. Hou Xiaohai

WERT=p% Aged 53
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REVEM D R RAREIE R ABEIRBNIBFRAAT LR ORKE - ARFERSIEEA
(PEDERDFMIDREELRE - RAEFETEARKBLGA B B0
FREHARR 288 BEEE FEER_ZT-FNAFEEE -

has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company in April 2016. He also acts as directors of a number of subsidiaries of
the Company. He was appointed as a director of CRH (Beer) Limited in May 2019,
which is a controlling shareholder of the Company. He was appointed as general
manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in March 2016 and
was the director of its sales and marketing departments from December 2001 to
December 2007. He was appointed as a director of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited from May 2018 to September 2021, which is a controlling shareholder
of the Company, and also as a director and a member of strategy committee of
Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Ltd. (whose shares are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange) from September 2018 to October 2021, respectively.
He was appointed as general manager and assistant general manager (also a
general manager of its distribution headquarter) of the branch of China Resources
Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in Guizhou Province and a general manager
of its branch in Sichuan Province from January 2009 to February 2016. Mr. Hou
has a Bachelor of Statistics Degree from the Renmin University of China. He has
previously worked in Shougang Corporation, Gallup Poll and Pepsico. Mr. Hou
joined China Resources Group in 2001.

R E (28 ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FisR 54 | Mr. Wei Qiang

WER+ =5 Aged 52
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has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company in November 2021. He also acts as director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. He has worked for China Resources Snow Breweries (China)
Co., Ltd. for more than 20 years and was the finance director of China Resources
Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. from May 2021 to December 2021. He has
served as the assistant general manager, general manager and deputy general
manager of the finance department, and deputy general manager of development
department of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. from January
2002 to April 2021, respectively. Mr. Wei boasts extensive experience in beer and

fast-moving consumer goods business management. Mr. Wei also has extensive
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experience in financial management, investment, and merger and acquisition with

comprehensive knowledge of accounting standards in China and overseas. Mr. Wei

holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting and Economics from Shenyang University
of Finance and Economics. Mr. Wei holds the qualification certificates of a certified
public accountant of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
registered tax agent of the Chinese Institute of Certified Tax Agents, and a certified

management accountant of the Institute of Management Accountants of the

SRR

United States. He is also a senior non-practising member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly
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FRTESE
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BG4 | Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank

IREN T Aged 60
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has been re-designated from an Executive Director to a Non-executive Director
of the Company since June 2016. He was an Executive Director and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company between June 2009 and May 2016, and the
Company Secretary between August 2009 and May 2016. Mr. Lai was previously
the Executive Director, Non-executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of China Resources Microelectronics Limited. Prior to that, he
served as the Chief Financial Officer of Eagle Brand Holdings Ltd. (now known
as Nam Cheong Limited), which is a company listed on the Singapore Exchange
and before then, he served as the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of Logic International Holdings Ltd. (now known as China Resources Gas Group
Limited). He was appointed as Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive
Officer of Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited, which is a member of CITIC Limited,
in June 2016 and became its Chief Executive Officer in March 2017. Mr. Lai
obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Western Australia
and a Graduate Diploma in Business and Administration from the Curtin University
of Technology of Western Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Richard Raymond Weissend %t 4 |
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend

IWERT 5% Aged 60
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has been appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company since 26 June 2020.
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Mr. Weissend is the Managing Director and Chairman of the board of directors of
Heineken Management (Shanghai) Co. Ltd (“Heineken Management China"), which

provides support to the Company and its subsidiaries in premium brand building,
marketing communication and activation, trade marketing and production. Mr.
Weissend is also a Director on the boards of CRH (Beer) Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and China Resources Snow Breweries Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. Heineken Management China is a subsidiary of
Heineken N.V., which holds an indirect 40% interest in CRH (Beer) Limited.

SRR

Mr. Weissend has been appointed as Managing Director of Heineken Management
China since July 2019. He joined Heineken Spain as Vice-President in 2007 and
took over as Chief Executive Officer of Heineken Spain from July 2008 to June
2019. He was also the President of the Spanish Brewers Association from March
2014 to March 2019. From 2001 to 2006, he was Managing Director of Brasseries
Heineken (now Heineken Enterprise), a subsidiary of Heineken France and

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly

distributor of the International and National Group brands. He was sales director of
Heineken France in 1998 and was promoted to commercial director and member of
the management team of Heineken France in 2000.

Mr. Weissend graduated in Marketing and Commercial Strategy from the
Strasbourg Business School.
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RBIF L £ | Ms. Zhang Kaiyu

WER+ =5 Aged 53
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has been appointed as Non-executive Director in November 2021. She joined
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in March 2011, serving as the deputy
general manager of its strategic management department, mainly in charge of
strategic management for technological industry, and comprehensive healthcare
business. Since 2016, she has been serving as a director and concurrently a
member of the China Committee of Genesis Care Pty Limited, a member of the
Investment Committee of China Resources Verlinvest Health Investment Limited,
and a director of Nativus Company Limited. Prior to March 2011, Ms. Zhang
worked as a director of global strategy and financial director of the Asia Pacific
of Valspar Corporation, the United States, and the chief financial officer and an
executive director of its wholly-owned subsidiary. She also worked as a commercial
director of Indochina Peninsula and an executive director of the Thailand
headquarter of Reckitt Benckiser Group, a senior financial planning manager
of PepsiCo International Limited in Asia Pacific Region (China) and financial
controller of PepsiCo in Guangzhou. Ms. Zhang has nearly 30 years of experience
in management, leading research on corporate global strategy, national strategy
for emerging markets, formulation of regional operational strategy, business
development and resources allocation over regions, planning and establishing
globalized management consultation platform, localized corporate governance
and proposal, and design of corporate structure, etc. Ms. Zhang holds a MBA
degree jointly awarded by Sasin Graduate Institute of Business Administration
of Chulalongkorn University in Thailand and Kellogg School of Management of
Northwestern University in the United States, and a Bachelor of Science degree
from Sun Yat-sen University in China.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BEFI7E 54 | Mr. Tang Liging

WERTBE Aged 60
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has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company in November
2021. He joined China Resources C'estbon Beverage (China) Company Limited
("CR C'estbon Beverage”) in October 1996 until October 2021. During the same
period, he served as the deputy general manager and the human resources director

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

of CR C’estbon Beverage, the finance director of China Resources Beverage
(Holdings) Company Limited, and the finance director of C'estbon Food & Beverage
(Shenzhen) Company Limited. Mr. Tang is familiar with fast-moving consumer
goods business and has over 25 years of experience in finance, accounting
and human resources. Mr. Tang holds an Executive MBA degree from Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics.

BUFRTES
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

>
HE
U
of
|
o
o
=
=
=]
=
)
=3
@
D
=)
<
@
=
=
o
=
o
@

EARZE% 4% | Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

WES T\ Aged 68

R=NANNFEZRERARAES - RE/TAERERBERAAF - PEALHE
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SRR

has been a Director of the Company since 1988. He was a Director and Chairman
of Sino Resources and Energy Holdings Limited, Sino Petrochem Development
Limited, Sino Mining Investments Limited and a Director of China & Overseas
Resources Limited. Mr. Houang obtained his Bachelor of Business Studies degree
from the Polytechnic of North Staffordshire, United Kingdom.
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TREFLEFEHN  2RHNEE  HFHAEEHE  ATHT
Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric FHKICPA, GBS, OBE, JP

WER T /B Aged 68
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has been a Director of the Company since March 2003. He is Honorary Chairman of
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and member of the Thirteenth National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Dr. Li was the Senior
Partner of Li, Tang, Chen & Co., Certified Public Accountants (Practising) and
former member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He holds
directorships in a number of listed companies including Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited, SmarTone Telecommunications Holdings Limited, Transport International
Holdings Limited and Wong's International Holdings Limited. Dr. Li was a Director
of Bison Finance Group Limited (formerly known as RoadShow Holdings Limited)
and Hang Seng Bank Limited.

BMEEBLTAZHHE 22HES  KFEEEHE  ATHL
Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses GBM, GBS, OBE, JP

WEL+ 5% Aged 72
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has been a Director of the Company since November 2005. Dr. Cheng is a
practicing solicitor and a consultant of Messrs. P.C. Woo & Co. after serving as
its senior partner from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng was a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong. He is the founder chairman of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors of which he is now the Honorary President and Chairman Emeritus.
Dr. Cheng currently holds directorships in K. Wah International Holdings Limited,
China Mobile Limited, Towngas Smart Energy Company Limited (formerly known
as Towngas China Company Limited), Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited,
Guangdong Investment Limited, Tian An China Investments Company Limited and
The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited, all being listed companies in
Hong Kong. He was a non-executive director of Kader Holdings Company Limited
and the chairman of the Insurance Authority.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PREBAEALHHE SRAES - ATHL |
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan GBmMm, GBS, JP

WERT+p% Aged 57
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has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He is the Executive
Director and President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (being a listed company in
Hong Kong) and the Executive Director and Chairman of Asia Insurance Company
Limited. He acts as an Advisor of Bangkok Bank (China) Company Limited. Apart from
the roles in the business community, Mr. Chan serves as a Hong Kong Deputy to The
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China and the Convenor of the
Non-official Members of the Executive Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He is a former
member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Chan is the Chairman
of Hong Kong Palace Museum Limited, the Hong Kong-Thailand Business Council and
Tai Kwun Culture & Arts Company Limited. He also serves as the Chairperson of The
Hong Kong Council of Social Service. In addition, Mr. Chan holds directorship in Chen
Hsong Holdings Limited, Yau Lee Holdings Limited and Cathay Pacific Airways Limited
(all being listed companies in Hong Kong) and Bumrungrad Hospital Public Company
Limited (being a listed company in Thailand).
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MOTERELRHEE  ATHL |
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon GBS, JP

WEL 1735 Aged 76

R-BZRF+ - ARZERARRAESE - FRBARBA=TFRE_ZZ
“HFEXENR BRE-NN=ZFENENHAZARBBEER  ERENSHE
BNEFIEEEERE - BEFRGHELER E@F  TABREASFERERMN
ERARAEERIFRFHNBRRR - BELEREERERARQ B RIBE B E
RBRARIRIBILIFAITES °

SRR

&

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He had been a career
civil servant for over 36 years before retiring from the civil service in 2002. Mr. Siu
rose to the rank of Secretary, Government Secretariat in 1993 and served a number
of high ranking government positions, namely the Secretary for Economic Services,
Secretary for Transport, Head of Central Policy Unit and eventually retired from
his last posting as Secretary for Planning, Environment & Lands. Mr. Siu was an

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly

Independent Non-executive Director of Television Broadcasts Limited and Transport
International Holdings Limited.
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For identification purposes only
EHERZ B

ZFZ 4 | Mr. Li i

WEFR+T/\pE Aged 58
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has been a Vice-President of the Company since December 202 1. He also acts as a
deputy general manager of China Resources Wine Holdings Co., Ltd.*, a subsidiary
of the Company. He joined the Group in 1993 as technician and manager of
technical department of Shenyang brewery, and served high ranking positions in
various subsidiaries of the Company, including but not limited to the Vice general
manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd., general manager
of its production center, assistant general manager of China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd., general manager of its production center,
assistant general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Investment
Co., Ltd. and general manager of its production center, general manager of its
production center security management department, and general manager of
its production center environment protection management department, etc.. He
has extensive experience in beer brewery. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Microbiology
Degree from Liaoning University.
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has been a Vice-President of the Company since December 202 1. He also acts as a

general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (Liaoning District) Company,

and deputy general manager of China Resources Wine Holdings Co., Ltd.*, both
are subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the Group in 2002 as manager of
finance department of China Resources Snow Breweries (Changchun) Co., Ltd.*,
and served high ranking positions in various subsidiaries of the Company, including
but not limited to deputy general manager and assistant general manager of China
Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd., general manager of China Resources
Snow Breweries (Tianjin District) Company, etc.. He has extensive experience in
marketing and financial management. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor of Accounting
Degree from Jilin College of Finance and Trade.

L %4 | Mr. Zeng Shenping
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has been a Vice-President of the Company since December 2021. He also acts as
deputy general manager of China Resources Wine Holdings Co., Ltd.*, a subsidiary

of the Company. He joined the Group in 2000 as manager of the brand center
of China Resources Snow Breweries (Anhui District) Company, and served high
ranking positions in various subsidiaries of the Company, including but not limited
to deputy general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd.,
assistant general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd.
and general manager of its marketing center, etc.. He has extensive experience in
marketing and investment & acquisition. Mr. Zeng holds an Executive Master of
Business Administration Degree from Renmin University of China.

* For identification purposes only
* EHERZ B
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MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY

The Board is committed to achieving excellence in corporate
governance and believes that good corporate governance leads to
the long-term success of the Group’s business. The Group values
its Code of Conduct, corporate policies and regulations, which
serves as the basis for its corporate governance. Compliance with
the national policies as well as the laws and regulations should
be the focus and goal in the business operation of the Group to
protect the Company’s interests. The Group will continuously
review its governance practices and keep on improving in
accordance with the latest regulatory requirements.

The Board believes that risk management is an integral part
of corporate governance. Effective and efficient corporate risk
management will facilitate the Group’s business development and
operation by setting the appropriate risk appetite, maintaining
acceptable risk level and more importantly, proactively responding
to risks. It therefore helps to protect shareholder value and
safeguard the Group's reputation. Through putting in place
proper risk management process over the Group’s business and
carrying out regular reviews and updates, the Group strives
to reduce the likelihood and the impact of risks before they
occur, and deal with problems effectively when they arise.
While the Group’s risk management is the responsibility of every
management team member and is embedded in the business
planning and daily operation of the Group’s business, the Group's
risk management process is based on a decentralized model
with a centralized monitoring system. The Group's strategy is
to maintain a streamlined risk management process to identify,
analyze and mitigate various risks in an efficient and effective
manner.

RISK STRATEGY AND APPETITE

The Group adheres to a robust and prudent operation strategy.
The Group believes that achieving strategic and business
objectives comes with moderate risks. The risks involved must
be consistent with the Group’s strategies and capabilities, be
fully identified and effectively managed, and will not violate
the Group’s core values and social responsibilities. The Group
must also avoid incidents such as serious violations of national
regulations, major quality or safety accidents, create adverse
social impacts, any damage to the Group and brand reputation,
and major financial losses or business interruptions. In this regard,
the Group will continue to pursue a balanced development of
efficiency, quality and scale, emphasizing conformity between
business development and risk-taking.

R E (28 ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Based on our risk tolerances and identified significant risks,
the Group’s management has adopted different strategies to
manage risks including risk reduction, transfer and avoidance.
In accordance with the strategies adopted, the effective risk
management measures will be formulated to analyze the key
causes of risk, establish appropriate risk monitoring indicators if
necessary, conduct continuous monitoring, and ensure the timely
detection of major risk events and adoption of effective risk
mitigation measures.

RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group's risk management structure is based on the
“three lines of defense” model, which clarifies the roles and
responsibilities of management, business units and functional
departments on risk management. The first line of defense
consists of business units and functional departments at all levels,
responsible for daily risk management, including participation
in risk assessment of the Group, development of risk mitigation
measures and monitoring procedures; the second line of
defense consists of risk management function, responsible for
organizing, promoting and coordinating the risk management,
and monitoring the Group’s major and potential risks; the third
line of defense consists of the Group’s internal audit function,
responsible for risk management supervision and inspection,
internal assurance activities, assessment of internal risk
management and monitoring.

RIREE BExg
ULTIMATE Board of Directors

RESPONSIBILITY

~

soEne NBEHBAEREREES
THE 3rd LINE 1 Internal Audit Function
—BH#R | AR EEmAE
THE 2nd LINE Risk Management Function
OF DEFENSE
F—EhE B ARER B MR

Busmess Units and Functional
Departments at All Levels

THE 1st LINE |
OF DEFENSE
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CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Risk monitoring: The Board of Directors continuously monitors
risk management and internal control systems and reviews the
effectiveness of internal control systems on a semi-annual basis
via the Audit Committee.

Reporting on regular and ad hoc basis: The management of
the Group reviews audit reports, internal controls and risk
management issues, and continuously assesses and updates major
risks faced by the Group and respective risk mitigation measures.
The Board of Directors oversees the management’s monitoring
activities via internal audit function and the Audit Committee, and
the effectiveness of the implemented monitoring measures.

BUSINESS UNIT
Step 1: Risk Identification

The Group’s risk assessment is conducted annually through a
top-down and bottom-up risk assessment process. By engaging
the relevant procedures, the Group’s risk management function
initiates the risk assessments at all levels of business units and
functional departments, identifies and estimates risks both at the
Group and business unit levels by evaluating corporate strategies,
sales, marketing, operations, productions and human resources,
incorporate risk management into our business planning. At
the end of each year, the Group’s business unit undertakes
a review of potential risks which falls within its business and
operation area by the means of expert interviews, management
team questionnaires, and analysis on the impact of changes
of the operating environment, with a view to performing risk
positioning, analysis and evaluation of their probability and
impact of risks. Identified risks are reported together with
the explanation of its nature and proposed risk management
strategies to the Group during the business plan review session
at the beginning of each year. In addition to the annual exercise,
our regular reporting system of the Group’s business unit also
facilitates ongoing risk identification and the reporting of risks.

Step 2: Risk Analysis, Evaluation and Mitigation

After identifying the risk, the designated risk owner is responsible
for analyzing the likelihood and potential impact of the risk event.
Risks of higher likelihood and potential impact will be given
priority. The risk owner then designs and implements appropriate
procedures and controls to mitigate the risk. In the design of
the action plan, the implementation cost will be considered at
the same time, and in the implementation process, the Group
emphasizes the balance between risk and benefit to ensure the
long-term stable development of the business.

R E (28 ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Step 3: Risk Monitoring and Performance Evaluation

After risk identification, analysis, evaluation and mitigation,
risk owners will establish risk monitoring indicators, where
appropriate, based on quantifiable and practicable principles,
to regularly monitor and give warnings of potential risks, and
take effective mitigation measures in a timely manner. At the
same time, evaluation reports are submitted to the Group by
the business units through the regular reporting mechanism.
To prevent recurrence of the same risks, preventive actions
and procedures to improve operational efficiency are also
incorporated into the risk management and internal control
systems. In addition, our internal audit function undertakes
independent reviews on risk management and internal control
systems, and our management is responsible for ensuring
appropriate actions which are taken to rectify any control
deficiencies highlighted in the audit reports within a reasonable
period of time.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group constantly faces a number of principal risks and
uncertainties in a highly competitive business environment
that need to be managed properly in order to avoid significant
impact on the Group’s business. Thorough risk assessment and
mitigation measures help ensure these risks are well managed and
governed effectively. In 2021, the Group continued to implement
premiumization initiatives and promoted the product structure
mix upgrades and construction of sales channels. Despite the
continued impacts of COVID-19, tight supply of production
materials and rising costs, the overall beer market sales volume
in 2021 remained stable as compared with 2020, the Group
achieved an increase in sales volume in sub-premium beer
segment and above with an increase in overall operating profit.

During the business planning process in 2021, the Group focused
on addressing the following principal risks:

SELLING EXPENSES CONTROL RISK

The Group formulates corresponding sales and marketing
strategies according to the market conditions. Poor execution of
sales and marketing activities may reduce the effectiveness of
sales and marketing campaigns, which may have unfavourable
impact on the product sales volume and income of the Group.
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Nevertheless, the Group has strictly controlled the risks of sales
and marketing activities, continued to enhance the management
and control of selling expense, carried out lean sales and
marketing and continuously improved the effectiveness of sales
and marketing campaigns based on the principles of regulations
and cost-effectiveness. The Group has regularly carried out
trainings to strengthen the compliance awareness of staff and
ensure the operation stays in compliance with existing laws and
regulations.

PRODUCTION MATERIALS SUPPLY RISK

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic prevention and control measures,
the international geopolitical crisis, national environmental
protection governance, exchange rate fluctuations, abnormal
climate change and other risk factors, the supply of major
production materials becomes tight or the prices have increased,
which affects production and operation activities or increases
production costs.

The Group closely monitors the market dynamics of foreign
and domestic raw materials and packaging materials, analyzes
and forecasts changes and future trends, replenishes stocks
reasonably at appropriate times and implements staggered peak
procurement, striving to control the increase in procurement
costs. Meanwhile, the Group actively expands its sources of
production, develops new channels, and strengthens co-operation
and management with suppliers.

INFORMATION SECURITY RISK

The risk of failure of some information system functions,
malfunction and loss of data due to cyberattacks, computer virus
spread and system vulnerabilities, may affect the normal conduct
of production and operation.

The Group actively carries out top-level design of information
technology, strictly implements all work in accordance with
the plan, strengthens the management of key information
projects to ensure the quality of the projects, at the same time
implements the security management system, ensures the safety
of information security, strengthens the security management
of information systems, and gradually advances the building of
disaster recovery system.

= (A% ) AR A F | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PUBLIC HEALTH INCIDENT RISKS

Facing with the continuous mutation of the virus, the increasing
challenges of prevention and control in foreign countries, as well
as the recurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic in the country, the
situation of prevention and control of the pandemic is still critical.
In the event of a public health emergency, both physical and
mental health and life safety of employees may be threatened, as
well as the normal production and operation of the corporate may
be affected.

While the Group is fully co-operating with the government
in the normalized control of the pandemic, the Group will
strengthen its internal emergency management, formulate and
implement emergency plans, strengthen the construction of
emergency management organizations and emergency rescue
teams, properly facilitate pandemic prevention and control with
production and operation activities, conduct regular training
on pandemic protection and enhance employees’ awareness of
prevention and control.

SAFETY PRODUCTION RISK

Natural disasters and emergency events could induce production
safety issues, which may cause personal injury and property
damage to the corporate.

The Group attaches great importance to production safety. To
minimize health and safety risks, the Group has undertaken
various measures including identification of the main relevant
responsible parties on production safety, strictly implementing
government pandemic prevention and control requirements,
carrying out staff training and cultural promotion, strengthening
organization and system construction, organizing emergency
drills, and initiating safety checks at facilities.

— T - —4&F &3 | Annual Report 2021

A

dnolg ay| 1noqy

B E

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

>
HE
U
of
|
o
o
=
=
=]
=
)
=3
@
D
=)
<
@
=
=
o
=
o
@

SRR

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly



46

EERHEEHE

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

AEERTRNRERBRRE - BRER
BEFERRN  NEBETEEEEER
- REBEXFERIES  BAR®
REZERMHNE - BREAEBTESD
&%K%%%%%'$%IE%KHE‘
RERE - SRR - AJER  RBIE
m&%ﬁ%?ﬂfﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
Bl REXBAREBRNEENRE L
X AREBIEMCRE £ EREEW
T MAREME LR EEEEEES
RENBIRER  YERKEEZER
RIRE(CR R E - BBOREE - BBE - B
RXEEELTPMERYEKRERMNHEEE
12 EREEFIPHRERE B4R
BEERE (L2FAEHABAKE )%%?1
TER8%  BAAREKRBEARES
&*ﬁﬁ%ﬁmEmKﬁ%%@*%“
KYMBRERSE  URRAKEH A #HE
BRANEAGE o

RE2ilE

AEE— BRI HDHEELSEEAGSE
% EIRKIKE - REHE RRERES
EEBGREELE RN_T=_—F A%
EEemiBdeETTEER @ SEEE
BRI SR - HEPL C T
ENERERNBENRN  #EBFEBHE
HeEMTHEE  BEAHEERHEBHE
BREERR  AETIREREANRE -
BAEEBRHRABE AL FRELK
BEMEERE REBEFER  KAEEH
EBRBBE380EM S EAREEEIZ &
FEBB20IE IR IZSTE T R B E - SEIAS
BZEMIZREZARBELRITE -

In addition to the commitment to driving business growth and
improving operational performance, the Group also actively fulfils
its corporate social responsibilities and upholds the philosophy
of “Brewing a Better Life” to bring more and better changes
to the public. Riding on its business strengths and extensive
business network, the Group is committed to contributing to
community care, environmental protection, energy conservation
and emission reduction, human resources, product and service
quality upgrade as well as supply chain management and others,
aiming to become a trusted and beloved beer enterprise. The
Group has published its independent “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” to inform the public of its performance
and various aspects in relevant areas, and voluntarily disclosed
additional information, for instance the impact of climate
change, the relevant targets of certain waste reduction, emission
reduction, occupational safety and health and waste recycling,
including to strive for maintaining downward trends on carbon
emission, consolidated energy consumption per unit, chemical
oxygen demand (discharged into natural water bodies) in medium
term, improving the utilization rate on recycle of biogas etc., the
management of water use in areas with scarce water resources as
well as the reuse of certain packaging materials to demonstrate
the Group's constant commitment to sustainability development.

COMMUNITY CARE

The Group has always been committed to promoting community
care and social welfare activities, with a key focus on the
community in the aspects of disaster relief, poverty alleviation,
education advancement and environmental protection etc.
In 2021, the Group took the initiative to compile an action
guide on social responsibility and encouraged all centres and
departments of its headquarters, regional companies, sales and
marketing centres and factories to organize social responsibility
projects and integrate into their business. The projects aim to
provide customers with consumption experience that exceeds
expectations, empower employees’ growth, enhance value
to partners, and promote the green and harmonious co-
development of the society and the environment. During the year
under review, the Group continued tracking more than 380 social
responsibility key indicators, of which more than 20 indicators
were related to community care, encouraging all units of the
Group to carry out community care activities in accordance with
the indicators.
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During the year under review, the Group carried out charitable
and public welfare activities in various places, such as making
donations for disaster relief, offering education sponsorship,
encouraging customers to make donations together with
encouraging employees to participate in charity events. In 2021,
the Group’s external donation exceeded RMB800,000, including
Zhejiang Regional Company’s donation to alleviate poverty in
specific regions, Guizhou Regional Company held the charity
event “Caring for Left-behind Children”. In response to the
recurring COVID-19 pandemic outbreak in late 2021, Jinshan
(Shaanxi and Shanxi) Regional Company immediately deployed
manpower and resources to support local governments and
communities in their efforts to combat the pandemic, and
donated beer, beverages, water, instant food and tents to anti-
pandemic workers from various regions, represented a total value
of more than RMB200,000.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to protecting the environment with a
focus on sustainable development. With a sound organizational
structure, the Group implements the responsibilities of
environmental protection as well as energy conservation and
emission reduction. The Group has attached great importance to
the management and control of environment, health and safety
("EHS"), taking a top-down approach to implement and assess
the business policies and guidelines on the environment. The
Group continuously enhanced the standards of environmental
protection and management for energy conservation and
emission reduction. In 2021, the Group proactively responded to
the government’s policies on carbon emission peak and carbon
neutrality by integrating green and low-carbon concepts into its
corporate development strategy officially.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, ENERGY
CONSERVATION AND EMISSION REDUCTION

The Group has been strictly adhered to the national or local
pollutant discharge standards and implemented internal control
benchmarks that are stricter than the national or local pollutant
discharge standards in order to steadily meet the emission target
and proactively reduce pollutant emission. During the year under
review, upholding the principle of “achieving high-level standards,
objectives and positions with detailed planning”, the Group
continued to benchmark itself against world-class enterprises, and
released the “14th Five-Year Plan” for EHS management, which
sets out the main objectives, missions and tasks during the “14th
Five-Year Plan” period.

The Group has established a sound management organization
and responsibility system for energy conservation and protection
of the surrounding ecological environment at three tiers: at the
headquarters, regional companies and local breweries. During
the year under review, the Group organized the signing of the
EHS Responsibility Letter at each level. The headquarters issued
and distributed the energy conservation and eco-environmental
protection targets to regional companies, factories and even
production units, ensuring all the persons in charge signed the
letter of accountability on EHS. Currently, 100% of the Group’s
employees on duty have signed the EHS Responsibility Letter.
During the year under review, the Group did not have any major
incident on environmental protection.

AEEREBFEAKBEERETHCE
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During the year under review, the Group formulated and
issued the “CRSB Waste Management System” to align with
the newly revised national law, the “Law on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste”, to
regulate solid waste management at source, collection, storage,
treatment and disposal. The Group also included the indicator
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of carbon emissions per unit product into its “14th Five-Year
Plan”, formulated and issued the “Carbon Emission Accounting
Measures” and carbon emission accounting template to set the
scope and standard of carbon emission accounting. The Group
implemented carbon emission accounting and auditing at each
unit and included the results in the annual EHS performance
assessment of each region. In 2021, the Group organized 18 sets
of professional trainings for more than 3,400 participants on the
topics of the “Law on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste”, typical cases of Central Inspection of
Ecological and Environmental Protection, solid waste management
system, ecological and environmental protection inspection
standards, publicity and implementation of carbon emission peak
and carbon neutrality, CDP carbon emission, etc.

During the year under review, the Group has formulated its 2021
environmental protection budget plan based on the major risks
incurred by energy conservation and emission reduction supervision
in 2020 and the policy direction of government supervision. By
the end of 2021, the Group has implemented 26 environmental
protection projects with investment costs close to RMB30 million,
mainly for upgrading the standard of the sewage treatment system,
the sewage biogas recovery and utilization project and the sludge
membrane filter press project. In terms of air pollutant emissions,
the Group achieved a year-on-year decrease of over 35% in sulphur
dioxide (5O,) emissions and a year-on-year decrease of over 20%
in nitrogen oxide (NO,) emissions, mainly by phasing out coal-fired
boilers to zero coal consumption and reducing consumption of
fossil fuels such as natural gas.

During the year under review, the Group voluntarily disclosed
more carbon emission related information by including emissions
from the loss of purchased CO, as raw material during the beer
production process as well as the methane emission generated
during the anaerobic treatment process of brewery wastewater
to the original statistical scope of greenhouse gas emissions. The
expansion of date collection reflected that the Group has attached
great importance to the climate impact of its business activities.
With a prudent attitude in assessing the impact, the Group strives
to achieve sustainable development by implementing appropriate
measures.

During the year under review, the Group implemented numerous
measures to address and reduce the production of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste. These included five levels of EHS
monitoring and inspection at headquarters, regional companies,
factories, production units and working teams to strictly evaluate
the implementation of the EHS system. In 2021, a total of more
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than 47,500 EHS problems were identified among all units and
99.9% of which has been rectified. In order to effectively control
the safety and environmental risks in the process of production
capacity optimization, the Group carried out the EHS compliance
inspection on capacity-optimized plants, evaluating the treatment
and disposal of solid waste, hazardous waste and liquid ammonia
with 59 types of various risks identified.

USE OF RESOURCES

During the year under review, the Group encouraged its factories to
conduct green factory evaluation and comprehensive benchmarking
in seven aspects: basic requirements of the production process,
infrastructure, management system, energy and resource input,
products, environmental emissions and performance. The Group
also promoted the concept of water-saving enterprises in its
factories and conducted self-assessment against national standards,
fostering water saving in its factories through three dimensions:
setting up basic requirements, management assessment indicators
and technical assessment indicators.

The Group continuously invested resources to develop innovative
energy saving technologies to improve the utilization efficiency
of water resources, including water-saving transformation
of packaging bottle washer, heat balance transformation of
packaging sterilization machine and team condensate water
recycling and comprehensive utilization of the whole plant,
etc. Besides, we also launched various measures for water
recycling, such as recycling of self-produced steam condensate
water, cooling recycled water from filling machine vacuum
pump, recycling of saccharified wort cooling water, recycling
of water from Clean in Place (CIP), recycling of reverse osmosis
(RO) concentrated water, reuse of serial water, etc. In addition,
the Group actively recovered biogas generated from anaerobic
digestion of sewage treatment and generated steam from
biogas boilers for production use, which acts as a renewable
energy source to reduce environmental pollution and energy
consumption.

R E (28 ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Besides, the Group has been focusing on the management of
the surrounding environment, in a view to reduce the impact
of the beer production process on the surrounding ecological
environment or environmentally sensitive areas. During the year
under review, the number of the Group’s plants discharging
effluent into natural water bodies has further decreased from 5 in
2020 to 2, with both chemical oxygen demand (COD) (discharged
into natural water bodies) emissions and ammonia nitrogen
emissions (discharged into natural water bodies) decreasing by
more than 30% year-on-year.

During the year under review, 3 of the Group's production plants
were awarded the “Hong Kong Green Awards” by the Hong Kong
Green Council. The Heilongjiang plant in Heiji (Heilongjiang and
Jilin) region won the “Environmental, Health and Safety Award
— Gold”. The Guangdong plant in Guangdong Region and the
Suining plant in Sichuan Region won “Green Management Award
- Silver” respectively. In addition, the Group actively organized
promotional events on the themes of “Environment Day”,
“National Energy Conservation Awareness Week” and “National
Low Carbon Day” to promote the concept of energy conservation
and environmental protection.

FONG [ONG GRETR MmADYS 1071

| S w—

China Resources Snow Breweries {5 Chuand
Co_ Ltd. Suining Branch

e Mot ey LA
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The Group has almost completed the reform of company-owned
vehicles and further expanded the scope of vehicle services on
third-party platforms during the year under review. By cancelling
the provision of vehicles for senior executives in production
plants, cancelling all the provision of vehicles in some regional
factories, and implementing the outsourcing vehicle provision
services, the Group saw a substantial decrease in company
vehicle usage. In addition, the Group actively promoted the
outsourcing of logistics forklift business in the production areas
while cancelling oil forklifts, advocated electric forklifts across
factory outsourcing units, and optimized planning of in-plant
logistics, thereby reducing diesel consumption by eliminating
unnecessary transportation. In 2021, the Group’s cumulative
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consumption of gasoline and diesel fuel decreased by more
than 50% and 30% year-on-year respectively. In terms of waste
recycling, the Group’s waste generated during beer production
process such as distiller’s grains and waste yeast, were fully
recycled. During the year under review, the recycle rate of dry
distiller’s grains and dry waste yeast remained 100%.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group's corporate vision is to become a trusted and beloved
beer enterprise. We have been adhering to the management
and operation principle of “people-oriented” over the years.
We regard our staff not only as an important asset for business
development, but also as a key stakeholder group to deliver
corporate vision. We not only safeguard the rights and interests
of staff in all aspects but also endeavour to offer them a safe,
healthy and comfortable working environment in order to
understand and fulfil their needs in work and life.

EMPLOYMENT POLICY, REMUNERATION AND BENEFIT

The Group strictly implements the national and local regulations
and policies concerning compensation and benefits, pays
various social insurance and housing provident funds for staff
in accordance with laws and regulations; provides labour
remuneration and overtime remuneration in full and on time, and
strictly abides by the minimum wage requirement.

The Group completed the optimization of the remuneration and
welfare system in 2020. On this basis, the Group established
a scientific and reasonable long-term mechanism for salary
increment in 2021 by considering the operating performance of
each unit, and also the key factors such as the value of employees’
positions, performance evaluation and professional ranks, and
implementing salaries adjustment after annual performance
review for employees in line with the corresponding adjustment
ratio in the market.

In addition to statutory benefits, the Group also provides employees
with meal benefits, transportation benefits and plateau work
allowances, etc., taking into account the business conditions and
situation of local offices, and continuously provides employees with
corporate pensions, annual medical check-ups and supplementary
commercial insurance (including accident, critical illness and life
insurance, etc.) to ensure the basic level of welfare protection
while enhancing the competitiveness of the welfare package and
employees’ satisfaction in remuneration and benefits.

The Group strictly implements national and local regulations and
policies on labour employment, wages and benefits, establishes
and improves the Group’s labour employment (recruitment and

R E (28 ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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allocation, attendance and leave, labour contract management),
compensation and benefits, career development, staff training and
culture practice system, and ensures employees with regulated
work environment, welfare policies, career development and
training programmes to promote continuous growth of employees,
create a simple corporate culture with integrity, and promote
continuous development of the organization.

The Group has consistently adopted policies to prevent child labour
or forced labour and abided by relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group. Meanwhile, the Group
has established a unified recruitment system, defined talent
standards, and strictly compliance with the national “Labour Law”
and the national “Labour Contract Law”, and clearly prohibits
the recruitment or employment of persons under the age of 18.
To ensure effective compliance with the above-mentioned
regulatory requirements and company regulations, the Group
conducts three-level employment inspection management at
the headquarters, regional and business units every year. In
addition, the Group strictly implements the policy “Standardized
Management System for Labour and Employment”, promptly
reports the occurrence of labour and employment disputes, and
follows up on improvement measures.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Staff growth is pivotal to the development of the Group’s business,
thus the Group has always adopted the development strategy of
“building a strong enterprise through talent” and has constantly
put an effort in providing employees with diverse training and
development opportunities. The Group’s strategy focuses on
the following key elements: “strategy undertaking, leaders
nurturing, resource building, platform operation and technology
empowerment” to carry out talent development work, while
continuing to broaden the career development path of employees
so that they can work and grow together with the Group.

During the year under review, the Group’s training coverage
rate for full-time employees continued to remain at 100%. The
Group continued to carry out online and offline employee training
programs, including “Three-Level Leaders” talent development
project that catered to general managers of regional companies,
sales and marketing centres, as well as regional sales; the “Two
Drive Wheels” talent nurturing program aiming at enhancing
the capabilities of middle management in premium catering and
nightlife channels; and the “Channel Magic Weapon” program
tailored for key channel marketing positions to ensure smooth
implementation and execution of premiumization strategies. The
Group's strategic business development workshop in central cities
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organized the general managers of 31 central city sales regions in
China in 2021 to output the business development solutions and
achievements of central cities around the pain points of central
city business development, improve the premium capability of
central city regions and help the central cities to win in premium
segment. At the end of 2021, the Groups’ average training hour
on the online platform per employee reached 29.8 hours, with a
total of around 27,000 employees logging onto the platform.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Group’s safety production management is deeply rooted
in its management philosophy that espouses a people-oriented
and safe development approach. It places employees’ health
and safety as the foremost duty of safety management, and
doggedly pursues “zero injury and zero accident”. The Group
has strictly observed the national laws and administrative
regulations on production safety and occupational health, and
has rigorously carried out its responsibility on safety production
and occupational health by building a comprehensive safety
production and occupational health management system
that possesses the characteristics of CRH and CRSB, and has
continuously modified, advanced and promoted the Group's
safety management standard. During the year under review, all
factories of the Group have passed the National Safe Production
Standard certification, with 13 factories and 1 factory having
obtained 1SO45001 certification and OHSAS18001 certification,
respectively. There was no production safety accident that caused
deaths of employees in the Group during the year under review.
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The Group's occupational safety production management always
follows the principle of improving the level of essential safety
production, regulating the safety condition of objects, human
safety behaviour and environmental safety conditions, constantly
improving them, and organizing occupational health and safety
work: organizing the signing of target responsibility letters at
each level, implementing occupational health and safety target
indicators and responsibilities to each position and employee,
and realizing full coverage of safety responsibilities. The
Group also organizes occupational health and safety activities,
continues to carry out activities of hazard sources and hazard
factor identification and behavioural safety observation with the
participation of all employees, focuses on process control, and
regulates the safety behaviour of employees; organizes safety
education and trainings to strengthen the safety awareness,
knowledge and skills of employees. The Group also innovates
safety inspection methods to investigate and rectify safety
hazards and promote the implementation of occupational
health and safety production through the implementation of
unexpected inspection and review of video monitoring. The Group
continuously improves, optimizes and modifies the occupational
health and safety management system. The Group carries out
occupational hazard identification, assessment and control,
to continuously improve occupational hazard protection and
facilitate modification of the workplace environment.

The Group values occupational health and safety education and
training. During the year under review, the employees at all levels
participated in safety education and training for more than 350,000
hours, and provided 195,000 hours of education and training to
relevant parties such as suppliers, sub-contractors and contractors;
more than 600 times of emergency drills with over 13,000
participants. The results are well recognised by the industry.

PRODUCT SAFETY AND SERVICE QUALITY

The Group puts high emphasis on its consumers and strives to
continuously exceed customers’ expectations on quality. The Group
has unremittingly enhanced its product quality and carries out
multi-level control on product quality: strictly control the product
factory according to national standards to guarantee basic quality.
In 2021, the Group achieved 100% pass rate in the ex-factory
quality test, while the National Safety Supervision and Inspection
implemented spot tests from 150 batches and the Group achieved
a pass rate of 100%. The Group continued to strengthen program
control, carry out special quality research, and promote linear
quality. During the year under review, total oxygen content of
the products was controlled below 40 parts per billion (40 ppb),
achieving the leading level in the industry.
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In addition, the Group continued to build and promote its
brand portfolio in 2021 by launching a number of new products
including “Li”, “Loéwen Fruit Beer” (#485 Rosé), the carbonated
beverage “Snow Xiao Pi Qi”, continuously implementing
technological innovation while developing unique products to
meet diversified and individualized consumer needs in order to
enhance satisfaction on customer experience.

In pursuit of manufacturing excellence, the Group established a
quality and food safety management system (“SnowMS-QFS”)
with characteristics of CRSB. The system is based on the Group’s
past 20 years’ experience of quality management, and is in line
with international system requirements such as FSSC22000, I1SO
and HACCP, completing full scale implementation of the system
to all factories. The system revised 98 documents covering raw
material standards, production processes and product standards,
of which 23 documents were newly developed and 75 documents
were revised, organized more than 10 training sessions for system
standards and internal auditors, and a total of 105 people were
qualified as internal auditors. Moreover, the Group passed a total of
95 international system certifications such as FSSC22000, I1SO and
HACCP.

To further promote high-quality development, the Group adheres
to quality control of the entire supply chain and continues to
build a supplier quality extension management work circle at the
material supply side to firmly establish the management objective
of "ensuring quality stability on incoming raw material” and
achieve safety and stability of incoming materials by conducting
random inspections and onsite quality check for food safety,
and implementing special measures for quality issues. In 2021,
the Group conducted food safety inspections on more than
230 batches of incoming materials such as malt and beer cans,
and all indicators were in compliance with national standards.
Furthermore, the Group performed on-site quality audits and
rectifications on more than 280 suppliers during the year under
review and conducted special research on beer bottle quality, which
effectively improved the safety and stability of material quality
and provided guarantees for product quality from the source. In
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order to improve process quality management level, the Group
organized a “Refined Brewing Process Training” for over 80 factory
quality managers in 2021, inviting external experts to improve the
theoretical and practical knowledge of quality managers in water
treatment, cleaning and disinfection, microbiological control, etc.

The Group adjusted the process quality evaluation indicators in
2021, focusing on process control consistency and compliance,
and completed process quality evaluation in nearly 40 factories
in the year, with over 1,500 improvements. The Group also
shared the highlights of management and control internally with
more than 60 items during the year under review. In order to
maintain quality monitor and control, the Group launched the
construction of “Snow Star” Good Laboratory Practice (SSGLP)
and Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) during
the year under review, standardized laboratory management in
accordance with 1ISO17025 standard requirements, improved
laboratory management, and continued to conduct internal and
external testing capability verification activities, covering the
verification of beer, malt, hops etc. An accumulated total of 68
subordinate laboratories and 21 supplier laboratories were verified
for improvement of inspection and testing capabilities. Currently,
the Group has a first-class team of beer tasters in China with a
total of 36 national-level judges, 5 of which are lifetime honorary
judges. In addition, the Group has established a three-tier team of
beer tasters at headquarters, regional and factory levels to achieve
sensory quality control of the entire production process of raw and
auxiliary materials, semi-finished products and finished products to
ensure that the sensory quality of products meets the standards.

Mtﬂmlﬂllnlﬁuzuz 'IEB

E' © a0 JEEY Basasl Wa@ideg B Tke B9 ..-.““ .... [

1£

N AEEASGFAEEEERAELEE
SRR SLIMERAREION% @ B
BEHEE  o#H TS ITHROBLERD
Al ABESE  REEXRIERSD -
METEINRBZTEZEH @ ALK
- FREBHTIA R LR B 2B E AR -

l-' o Ser

In addition, the Group organized a food safety emergency drill across
the Group with a 100% implementation rate in each factory. The
emergency drill covered a wide range of areas. It fully mobilized the
coordination of organizations and personnel in each factory, improved
the emergency response capability, strengthened the staff’s awareness
of food safety, and laid a solid foundation for the drill objectives of
strengthening the team and organizing the mechanism.
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In order to let consumers recognise the Group’s high-quality
development philosophy and collect real experience information
directly from consumers as a basis for the Group’s long-term
quality improvement, the Group organized 10 consumer tasting
events in 2021, inviting consumer representatives of different
ages, occupations and regions to participate. Aiming at achieving
strict monitoring of product quality, the Group performed
thorough monthly quality assessments by pulling out in total
1,407 batches of products from 136 sales cities and regions and
all subsidiary factories for quality evaluation during the year under
review. The holistic quality assessment and consumer appraisal
results underpin the Group’s product quality improvement and
new product research and development.

During the year under review, the Group was recognised by
a number of industry awards. Among them, the Group was
awarded “Outstanding Contribution Award in Science and
Technology Advancement of China Alcoholic Drinks” by China
Alcoholic Drinks Association at its forum of Special Award
for Science and Technology Advancement. Also, the Group’s
project of “Premium Diversified Product Innovation to Lead the
High-quality Development of the Beer Industry” was awarded the
“China Enterprise Brand Innovation Achievement Award 2021"
by the China Quality Association, and the project of “Research
and Application of Key Technologies for Beer Bottle Design and
Quality Assurance under Consumption Upgrade” was appraised
as “International Advanced Level” by the China Alcoholic Drinks
Association. In terms of technical research and development, a
number of improvement achievements such as “Improving the
TPO (Total Packaging Oxygen) qualification rate of fresh beer”
were awarded “Six Sigma Green Belt” and “Professional Level”
and “Improvement Level” of the QC Achievement Presentation
Competition by the China Quality Association. The Group’s Longli
plant in Guizhou Province was awarded the highest star rating of
“Five Star Site” by the China Quality Association, the first one in
the beer industry. In addition, the Group’s Ningbo plant in Zhejiang
Province was awarded the Ningbo Fenghua District Quality Award
and the Xiangxi plant in Hunan Province was awarded the Xiangxi
Autonomous Prefecture Governor’s Quality Award.
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In response to the impact that COVID-19 brought on the product
quality, the Group resolutely carried out regular prevention
and control of the pandemic and implemented inspection and
quarantine verification of imported materials and cold chain
transport products. At the same time, the Group conducted
effective daily monitoring of all key control points of food safety
and quality, and comprehensively investigates violations of laws
and regulations in each production and operation process from
the source to the end, focusing on adulteration and recycling and
reprocessing and other illegal acts to eliminate the hidden danger
of non-compliance.

In an effort to improve product quality, the Group continued
to promote the “Project of elimination of impure beer” and
implemented the “Factory General Manager Responsibility
System”, in which the factory general manager leads a team to
visit the factories to the front line, and controls the bottle source
quality, bottle cleaning quality, process control and equipment
working conditions, etc. At the same time, the Group continues
to improve customer satisfaction by eliminating the production
of impurity beer through measures such as stabilizing the quality
of bottle wash, synergizing the three major systems, eliminating
the use of hemp bags for recycle bottles, improving the quality
of bottle sources, and providing good product protection. In
addition, the Group clarified the responsible departments,
positions and authorities for handling consumer complaints,
properly handled reasonable consumer demands, continuously
optimized complaint channels, and strengthened the convenience
of complaint channels together with process perfection. The
Group followed up on various complaints and reasonable
demands, established a two-way feedback mechanism to enhance
consumer satisfaction and effectively improved quality work.
The Group has been sincerely communicating with consumers
to ensure that all complaints are always reasonably, promptly
and effectively handled, and to strengthen the supervision and
inspection of the results of complaint handling, and to review and
rectify the deficiencies during the process.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

In view of the tremendous changes in the domestic and foreign
market environments and the continued impact of the pandemic,
the prices of bulk raw materials increased significantly during the
year under review, resulting in an increase in uncontrollable cost
factors for suppliers. The Group promptly proposed and formulated
a production safety procurement plan for packaging materials such
as cans, bottle caps and new glass bottles for the procurement
of production materials. On the basis of improving supplier
management and its service standards, the Group strictly followed
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the new version of “CRSB Management Measures on Suppliers of
Productive Materials” to further mitigate food safety risks, ensuring
that purchased materials are in line with quality standards, as well
as to establish supply channels that are stable, controllable, safe
and able to support the long-term development of the Group, while
enhancing the strategic co-operation of whole industrial chain with
quality as a major focus.

In 2021, the Group implemented a supplier management system
featuring institutionalization, standardization and specialization,
based on eight core areas covering expansion resources,
preliminary screening, inspection and certification, catalogue
management, joint assessment, comprehensive evaluation,
hierarchical management as well as optimization and elimination.
During the year under review, the Group implemented dynamic
management of supplier catalogues with a total of approximately
4,800 suppliers. A total of 10 supplier site inspections and
certifications were conducted, with 26 suppliers for their first
certifications, 23 suppliers for their second certifications, 1
supplier for its third certification and 24 suppliers for on-site
certifications, and the number of improvement suggestions for
each supplier was about 4 to 66. In 2021, the Group continued
to conduct annual assessments on the co-operation process of
suppliers to ensure effective performance of the suppliers in terms
of seven indicators: quality, timeliness, accuracy, declined orders,
returned goods, violations and flawed products.

GOVERNANCE OF INTEGRITY

Honesty and trustworthiness, compliance with laws and
regulations and legal operations are the core principles
that the Group has always adhered to. The Group has been
unrelenting in executing the national laws and regulations
against bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
the “Constitution”, the “Supervision Law”, and the “Criminal
Procedure Law” of the People’s Republic of China. The Group
has also implemented the regulations and provisions pertaining
to commercial bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
under the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and “Anti-Unfair Competition Law”. Meanwhile,
the Group observes stringent implementation of the pertinent
regulations of CRH in its daily operation and management, such
as the “Centralized Management Measures for Letters and Visits
and Question Clues of China Resources Company Limited (Trial)”,
“Guidance for the Handling of Complaint Letters and Visits and
Discipline Execution and Examination of CRH"”, “Integrity Talk

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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System for CRH’s New Managers”, “CRH Provisional Regulations
for Staff Violation of Disciplines and Regulations”, “China
Resources Company Limited Guidelines for Supervision and
Work” and “Ten Directives of China Resources”. In addition to
strictly implementing the various systems and procedures of CRH,
the Group also resolutely implemented the related regulations
of CRSB, such as the “Implementation Rules for Monitoring
Work as well as Handling Letters and Visits to Disciplinary
Inspection (Supervision) Institutions of CRSB”, “Measures for
the Centralized Management of Letters and Visits (Trial)”,
“Measures for Employee Violation of Regulations and Discipline”,
“Implementation Rules for Conversations and Inquiries to
Managers of CRSB”. During the year under review, the Group
did not have any litigation cases or major breach related to
corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering.

The discipline inspection department of the Group continues to
maintain the high pressure momentum of resolutely punishing
corruption without wavering, handling letters and cases in strict
accordance with rules, discipline and law, always insisting that
power must go with responsibility, responsibility must be taken,
discipline must be pursued, and failure must be accountable.
At the same time, the Group extensively carries out integrity
education, works on preventive control, announces the rules
and regulations of the Group, and informs about typical cases
of disciplinary violations investigated and handled by the Central
Commission for Discipline Inspection, the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission, CRH and other
higher-level institutions, so as to take cases as a warning and
sound the alarm continuously.

Disciplinary commissions of the Group at all levels and the
inspection agencies continue to perform special inspections,
daily supervisions, general supervisions, patrol and monitoring.
Combining the effort of various functional departments of
the Group, financial inspections, special audits, and business
inspections were carried out to establish a healthy ecology that
prohibits and prevent corruption while strictly investigating and
punishing corruption. The joint forces persistently implement the
spirit of the “Eight Point Regulations” of the Central Government
and eliminate the “Four Malfeasances” with an aim to curb
corruption in a high pressure manner. In terms of selecting and
appointing talent, the Group has established stringent standards
to perform daily stewardship to prevent corruption from the
origins and remind through education.

In order to improve employees’ awareness of business ethics and
related laws and regulations, the Group launched business ethics,
anti-corruption and integrity-related trainings during the year
under review. A total of over 19,600 enrolments participated in a
total number of over 27,500 hours of training.
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Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors
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MAIJOR HIGHLIGHTS OF THE COMPANY'S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:

1. A balanced portfolio of Board members by age and length of
Board services. Besides, the directors draw a vast experience
and diversified knowledge across different disciplines,
including the areas of trading and commerce, accounting
and finance, legal, banking and civil services.
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2. Board committees are a vital part of the Board effectiveness.
To facilitate more professional advices of various areas in
the committees, the members of Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee are mainly
constituted by independent non-executive directors and
each committee is chaired by a different independent non-
executive director.

3. In 2021, due to COVID-19, the Group, in the presence of
management, arranged two online meetings on topics of
CRSB procurement management and CRSB key customers
platform for the Independent Non-executive Directors,
several Non-executive Directors, together with the Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer.
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It is the firm belief of the Company that a good and solid
corporate governance framework is essential to the successful
growth of the Company and the enhancement of shareholder
value. The Company is committed to attaining and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and adopts principles of
corporate governance emphasising a quality Board, accountability
to all stakeholders, open communication and fair disclosure.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

On 8 April 2005, the Company adopted the Corporate
Governance Practice Manual (“CG Manual”). The CG Manual,
which was revised on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010, 21
March 2012, 7 December 2015, 18 March 2016, 21 November
2018, 5 November 2021 and 1 January 2022, incorporates
almost all the Code Provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (”Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”) and includes the
implementation details for the Code Provisions and, where
appropriate, the Recommended Best Practices. The CG Manual
can be downloaded from the Company’s website and copies are
available on request to the Company Secretary.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions for the time
being in force as set out in the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2021, save and except the following:

In respect of Code Provisions A.2.1 to A.2.9 of the CG Code, since
the resignation of Mr. Chen Lang as the Chairman with effect
from 11 July 2019, the position of the Chairman has been vacant
and has not been filled up as at the date of this report. The Board
of the Company as a whole and its members have discharged the
duties under the aforementioned Code Provisions of the CG code
as appropriate. The Board and the Nomination Committee of the
Company will continuously review and discuss the adjustment to
the composition of the Board.
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In respect of Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all the Non-
executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a
fixed term. The Board does not believe in any arbitrary term of
office. The current arrangement will give the Company sufficient
flexibility to organize the composition of the Board to serve
the needs of the Group. Further, the Articles of Association of
the Company requires that one third of the directors (including
executive and non-executive directors) shall retire each year and
every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The directors to retire each year shall be
those appointed by the Board during the year and those who have
been longest in office since their election or re-election. A retiring
director is eligible for re-election.

In respect of Code Provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the Company
has not provided all members of the Board with monthly updates
to enable the Board as a whole and each director to discharge
their duties. However, the Company has based on business
situation, provided to the Board from time to time, updated
business information to enable the Board as a whole and each
director to discharge their duties. The Company considers that
such business information arising out of the ordinary business
provided to the Board from time to time instead of monthly
updates are sufficient for the Board to discharge its duties. In
the event there are any significant updates to be provided, the
Company will update all the Directors as early as practicable for
discussion and resolution.

In respect of Code Provision D.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company
did not have formal letters of appointment for directors. However,
all directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company. In addition, all directors are required to refer
to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties”
issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”,
and, if applicable, “Guide for Independent Non-executive
Directors” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in
performing their duties and responsibilities as directors of the
Company. Besides, the directors are required to comply with
the requirements under the Listing Rules, the responsibilities
under statute and common law, legal and other regulatory
requirements.
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In respect of Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the position of
the Chairman has been vacant at each of the general meeting of
the Company held on 29 March 2021 (the “GM") and the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 18 May 2021 (the
“AGM") and has not been filled up as at the date of this report.
Mr. Lai Po Sing, the former Executive Director of the Company
who took the chair of each of the GM and the AGM, together
with other members of the Board who attended the GM and the
AGM, were of sufficient calibre for answering questions at each of
the GM and the AGM.

In addition to meet the requirements of the Listing Rules, the
inclusion of the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual
Report is intended to keep our shareholders abreast of the
corporate governance practices of the Company and their
development throughout the reporting year and to invite our
shareholders’ views thereon.

THE BOARD

The Board represents shareholders in managing the Company'’s
affairs. The directors recognise their responsibilities to enhance
shareholder value and to conduct themselves in accordance with
their duty of care and integrity.

The major issues which are brought before the Board for their
decisions include:

1. direction of the operational strategies of the Group;

2. setting the policies relating to key business and financial
objectives of the Company;

3. monitoring the performance of the management;
4.  approval of material acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposal of assets or any significant capital expenditure of

the Group;

5. ensuring a prudent and effective risk management and
internal control systems;

6. review of the financial performance and results of the
Company; and

7. recommendation on final dividend and the declaration

of any interim or special dividends to shareholders of the
Company.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code, and in this
regard the duties of the Board shall include:

1.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and the senior
management;

3.  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in
accordance with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board considered the following
corporate governance matters:

o approval of the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company; and

o review of the results of the internal audit work on the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The financial statements for the
reporting period are prepared and presented to enable a clear
and balanced assessment of the financial position of the Group.
Regular management reports on the financial position and
prospects of the Group are reviewed by the Executive Committee
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the
performance of the Company. The Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. For the statement of the auditor about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements, please refer
to the section headed Independent Auditor’s Report from pages
114 to 120.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, and up to the
date of this report, there were the following changes to the
membership of the Board:

With effect from 5 November 2021:

Mr. Jian Yi has tendered his resignation as an Executive Director
and the Authorised Representative, Chairman of Finance
Committee, a member of the Executive Committee and the Share
Option General Committee of the Company in order to devote
more time to other business commitments.

Mr. Lai Po Sing has tendered his resignation as an Executive
Director, Chief Financial Officer, the Company Secretary, the
Authorized Representative and a member of the Executive
Committee, Nomination Committee, the Finance Committee, and
the Share Option General Committee of the Company in order to
devote more time to other business commitments.

Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu has tendered his resignation as a Non-
executive Director of the Company in order to devote more time
to other business commitments.

Mr. Wei Qiang has been appointed as an Executive Director, Chief
Financial Officer, Authorized Representative, and a member of the
Executive Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Finance
Committee, and the Share Option General Committee of the
Company.

Ms. Zhang Kaiyu has been appointed as a Non-executive Director
and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Tang Liging has been appointed as a Non-executive Director
and a member of the Finance Committee of the Company.

Mr. Hou Xiaohai, an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer, has been appointed as Chairman of the Finance
Committee and a member of the Share Option General
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Leung Wai Keung has been appointed as the Company
Secretary and the Authorized Representative of the Company.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 11 directors,
including two Executive Directors, four Non-executive Directors
and five Independent Non-executive Directors. The biographical
details of the directors are set out on pages 30 to 37 of this
report and can also be found on the Company’s website. The
relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships) if any, among members of the
Board are disclosed.

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company has received written confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors confirming his
independence from the Company, and considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

The experience and views of our Independent Non-executive
Directors are held in high regard and contribute to the effective
direction of the Group. Throughout the year of 2021, the
Company complied with the requirements under the Listing Rules
by maintaining the proportion of its independent non-executive
directors to at least one third of the total members of the Board.

The Company has put in place a tailored induction programme
for its newly appointed directors. Continuing development and
information are provided to the directors to keep them abreast
of the latest developments involving the Group’s business and
operations.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed
from time to time to ensure that the Board has a balanced
composition of skills and expertise appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Appointments
are first considered by the Nomination Committee. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put to
the full Board for decision.

All Directors (including executive and non-executive directors) are
not appointed for a fixed term. The Board would like to retain
sufficient flexibility to organise the composition of the Board
to serve the needs of the Group. Therefore, the Board is of the
view that it is not appropriate to specify the term of office of the
Directors. All directors are subject to re-election by shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting following their
appointment and at least once every three years on a rotation
basis. The Articles of Association of the Company require that
one-third of the directors (including executive and non-executive
directors) shall retire each year. The directors who are required
to retire each year shall be those appointed by the Board during
the year and those who have been longest in office since their
election or re-election. A retiring director is eligible for re-election.
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During the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, the
position of the Chairman has been vacant and has not been filled
up as at the date of this report. Mr. Hou Xiaohai held the position
of Chief Executive Officer for the aforesaid period. The respective
responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are fully set out in the CG Manual.

The Board of the Company as a whole and its members have
discharged the duties of the Chairman under the Code Provisions
of the CG code as appropriate. The Board and the Nomination
Committee of the Company will continuously review and discuss
the adjustment to the composition of the Board.

The position of the Chairman has been vacant at each of the
GM and the AGM and has not been filled up as at the date of
this report. Mr. Lai Po Sing, the former Executive Director of the
Company who took the chair of each of the GM and the AGM,
together with other members of the Board who attended each
of the GM and the AGM, were of sufficient calibre for answering
questions at each of the GM and the AGM.

The Chief Executive Officer and either the chairman or at least
one member of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee
and Nomination Committee attended the annual general meeting
to ensure effective communication with the shareholders of
the Company. Separate resolution was proposed at the annual
general meeting on each substantially separate issue, including
re-election of each retiring director and was put to vote at the
meeting by way of poll. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll
were explained at the meeting.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Between these regular
meetings, the Board meets to discuss and consider major issues
(whether or not required by the Listing Rules) and also on other
occasions when Board decisions are required. With respect to
regular meetings of the Board, directors usually receive at least
14 days prior written notice of the meeting and an agenda with
supporting Board papers no less than 3 days prior to the meeting.
With respect to other meetings called, directors are given as much
notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
The directors have full access to information on the Group and
independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by
the directors.
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EEeRN_T-_—FHAMI1XEZE(E  During the year of 2021, 11 meetings (including meetings by
HEEBAEmRAZER) KEEN_ZE_—4 way of circulation of written resolutions) were held by the
HEREAS EEF2e:3  EH%ZEE<® Board. The attendance of the directors at general meeting(s),
% FMEEeezNIEREE€S:  Board meeting(s), Audit Committee meeting(s), Compensation
HEE BN TR Committee meeting(s) and Nomination Committee meeting(s)
held in 2021 is set out in the table below:
BRAEAE FMZzRE ReZRE
REKE Annual General EE&Board EUEE®  Compensation  Nomination
General Meeting Meeting (EHHERY Audit Committee ~ Committee Committee
(BREREAE  (BEHEAY Meeting(s) (BRHREAE (SMEEAE (BHHEAR
Meeting Meeting attended/ Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
attended/ attended/ BT R %held) attended/ attended/ attended/
EfthBheld)  EfTRHheld) R S W @fTRBheld)  BffABheld)  FfTRBheld)
HTEE Executive Directors
bkl Mr. Jian Yi() o 071 M 03 3B
EZE%E Mr. Hou Xiaohai o i I3 3B
WEREED  Mr. LaiPoSing? 11 i BB 10
Barso Mr. Wei Qiang® TaR/ R/ m o TER/ TER/
N/A N/A N/A N/A
FHTEF Non-executive Directors
RpERE Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank N i 444 3B
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend n 17 a4 4L 33
BABEEEG M. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu® N i B3B38
FRTRLO Ms. Zhang Kaiyu® TER/ TNER/ n i TER/ TER/
N/A N/A N/A N/A
EFELED M Tang Liging® TaR/ R/ moon rER/
N/A N/A N/A
BAFEHTTES Independent Non-executive Directors
FAELE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh 1 1 4444 33 33 33 22
TRERL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric 1N 1 44 AL 33 33 33 202
PREET Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 11 i 4b 433 bIE; ElE!
BERRE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan N 1n 4444 33 33 33 0
BEta Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon N N 44 44 3B 33 0N
ZEC-SENMERE
Total number of meetings held in 2021 1 1 4 4 3 3 30 2
GEE
Notes:
R: 7 HIE & Regular Meeting

S: B8 Special Meeting
W:  Z[ERHZR Written Resolutions

(1) HBHIEERN—ZE=_—F+-ALBABRERALRANTES -

Mr. Jian Yi resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(2) REBEEN_Z_—F+ ALABEALARNTES -

Mr. Lai Po Sing resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(3) HRAREENR T —F+—ARARZERRRANTES °

Mr. Wei Qiang has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(4) HAREERER-ZF_—F+—HARHBERSANRRIERITES °

Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu resigned as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(5) RAFKIR-Z-—F+-ARAEZERRRRIFERTES -

Ms. Zhang Kaiyu has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(6) BABEENR—Z-_—F+ - ARREZERRRRERTESE -

Mr. Tang Liging has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(7)  FMEZEEERE  MAASBEFALT  —RUEEMRERTABE -
Among the Compensation Committee resolutions, two were passed by way of physical meeting and one was passed by way of written
resolutions.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and
professional development program for directors.

Each newly appointed director would receive an induction
package covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director of a listed company and the Company’s business and
governance policies. The Company also provides briefings and
other training to develop and refresh the directors’ knowledge
and skill.

All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company has sent reading materials to directors on
regulatory updates or information relevant to the Company or its
business.

In 2021, due to COVID-19, the Group, in the presence of
management, arranged two online meetings on topics of CRSB
procurement management and CRSB key customers platform for
the Independent Non-executive Directors, several Non-executive
Directors, together with the Executive Director and Chief Financial
Officer.
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ARRBEE2EESENFRNEXIEESE  The Company has received from all directors’ records of their
HEERZII L8 - BRAFEISEN TR :  continuous professional development trainings during the year.

Details of which are set out in below table:

RRERARZER

Type of Continuous Professional Development

ERE - HEGAE
B/SERER SikiE

HRHHE R RRARE
BlER SRERA ZEFEERNNEH
Receiving training, Reading

talks at seminar and/or  relevant to

DEIRHEH

regulatory
attending and/or giving updates or information
the Company

conference and/or forums or its business

B ITEE Executive Directors
BHFED Mr. Jian Yi® /
EE{RE Mr. Hou Xiaohai /
RERLE Mr. Lai Po Sing® / v/
b e Mr. Wei Qiang® v J
JEFfTESE Non-executive Directors
BOL Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank v/
Richard Raymond Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend v

Weissend st 4
mAREE LAY Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu® v
RAFRLLO Ms. Zhang Kaiyu® v v
EFE L Mr. Tang Liging® / v
BWIFEHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BAERAE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh v
TRE[LT Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric v v
BRI Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses v v/
RSB EE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan v v/
EMEL A Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon v v/
BfIaE -
Notes:

(1) MBRRER-ZT-_—F+ - ARABERLRRRAMTES -

Mr. Jian Yi resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(2) REBAANR-_FT-_—F+ - ARABERARAMTES -

Mr. Lai Po Sing resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(3) RREAR-ZT_—F+ - ARRABERERARRAMTES -

Mr. Wei Qiang has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(4) WmABELEN T —F+ - ARABERARAZERITESE -

Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu resigned as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(5) FRAFERIR T —F+ - ARREZERARAZENITESE -

Ms. Zhang Kaiyu has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(6) BMBEER-_ZT=_—F+—ARBREZERRRAENTES -

Mr. Tang Liging has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While the Board retains at all times full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company, certain responsibilities of the Board
are delegated as follows:

(a) Committees — various committees have been established
by the Board to administer certain specified functions
of the Company’s affairs. The main committees include:
the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Compensation Committee. The terms of reference of the
Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Compensation Committee which
set out, among other things, the duties, functions and
composition of these committees are set out in the CG
Manual and available on the Company’s website; and

(b) Chief Executive Officer — the day-to-day management of
the Company’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer who is accountable to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh (Independent Non-executive
Director)

Members: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan,
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (all are Independent
Non-executive Directors), Mr. Lai Po Sing*, Mr. Wei
Qiang* (all are Executive Directors) and Ms. Zhang
Kaiyu* (Non-executive Director)

# Resigned on 5 November 2021
* Appointed on 5 November 2021

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
performance, structure, size and composition of the Board and
to make recommendation after such review and to assess the
suitability and qualification of any proposed director candidate.
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put
forward for consideration and adoption, where appropriate, by
the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
setting out its duties and procedures were revised on 21 March
2012, 7 December 2015, 21 November 2018 and 5 November
2021, and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings. A summary of work done by the
Nomination Committee during the year include, among other
things:

o review the performance, structure, size and composition of
the Board.

o make recommendations on the appointment of Mr. Wei
Qiang as Executive Director, Ms. Zhang Kaiyu and Mr. Tang
Liging as Non-executive Directors to the Board.

The Board adopted the nomination policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of the directors, and ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company's
business.

Major terms of the nomination policy are disclosed as follows:

(1) The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited
to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length

of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in
respect of available time and relevant interest;

() Qualifications, including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s
business is involved in;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f)  Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring
to the Board; and

(g) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
retiring director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving
due consideration to the criteria including but not limited to:

(a)

(b)

The overall contribution and service of the retiring
director(s) to the Company, including but not limited
to the attendance of the meetings of the Board
and/or its committees and general meetings where
applicable, in addition to the level of participation and
performance on the Board and/or its committees; and

whether the retiring director(s) continue(s) to satisfy
the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
candidate(s) for the position(s) of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company by giving due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to
those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made from time to
time, in addition to the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a director in accordance with the
following procedures and process:

(a)

The Nomination Committee will, giving due
consideration to the current composition and size of
the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives
and experience at the outset to focus on the search
effort;

The Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party
agency firm and proposals from shareholders of the
Company with due consideration given to the Criteria;

The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third party reference checks;
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(5)

(6)

The Nomination Committee will consider a broad
range of candidates who are in and outside of the
Board'’s circle of contacts;

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

The Nomination Committee will provide the
relevant information of the selected candidate to
the Compensation Committee for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

The Nomination Committee will thereafter make
the recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment, and where a non-executive
director is considered, the Compensation Committee
will make the recommendation to the Board on the
proposed remuneration package;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to
be interviewed by the members of the Board who are
not the members of the Nomination Committee and
the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment as the case may be; and

All appointment of directors will be confirmed by
the filing of the consent to act as director of the
relevant director (or any other similar filings requiring
the relevant director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as director, as the case may be) to be
filed with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection,

appointment and reappointment of directors.

The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually,

in the Corporate Governance Report, on the composition
of the Board, and launch a formal process to monitor the
implementation of this Policy as appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to
review the nomination policy periodically to ensure that it
is transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The nomination policy is available on the website of the
Company.

The Board also adopted the diversity policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity at the
Board.

A summary of the diversity policy is disclosed as follows:

(1

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having diversity, including diversity on gender, age, cultural
and educational background or professional experience
at the Board in order to enhance the performance of
the Company. These benefits include (i) ensuring that
a range of different perspectives can be brought to the
table when reviewing and considering issues within the
Board; (ii) enabling the Company to connect effectively
with its stakeholders as appropriate; and (iii) supporting
the Company’s commitment to improve its corporate
governance practices.

With a view to achieving sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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(3) Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates may bring to the Board. The
Nomination Committee should set measurable objectives
periodically for implementing the diversity policy.

(4) The Nomination Committee will review the diversity policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the diversity
policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

(5) The Company aims to promote diversity not just at the Board
but also at the senior management level where appropriate
taking into account the Company’s own circumstances. The
Company welcomes diversity at the senior management
level, with a view to further contributing to the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

The diversity policy is available on the website of the Company.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (Independent Non-
executive Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric and
Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses (all are Independent Non-
executive Directors)

The duties of the Compensation Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of remuneration of directors and senior management,
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on remuneration and determining the specific
remuneration packages for all directors and senior management.
The terms of reference of the Compensation Committee setting
out its duties and procedures were revised on 21 March 2012, 7
December 2015 and 5 November 2021, and are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The remuneration of the directors and senior executives is
determined with reference to the performance and responsibilities
of the individual, the performance of the Group, prevailing market
conditions and remuneration benchmarks from comparable
companies. Directors and employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the performance of the Group and the
individual.
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During the year under review, the Compensation Committee held
two meetings and passed one written resolutions. A summary
of work done by the Compensation Committee during the year
include, among other things:

o determining the policy for the remuneration of Executive
Directors of the Company and making recommendations on
the Directors fees to the Board.

o approving the remuneration packages of Executive Directors
of the Company.

o conducting review of the incentive award to the Senior
Management of the subsidiary of the Company.

o approving the remuneration package of the proposed new
directors and making recommendations to the Board.

For the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the
Remuneration Committee adopted the model described in code
provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the financial
statements from pages 163 to 165.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration payable
to the Directors and the members of senior management fell

within the following bands:

Number of individuals

ARBEZZE AR®450,0007T
(B¥Z L =%%500,0007T)

AR #2,905,001tE AR%3,320,0007C
(7#3,500,001 L 2% #4,000,0007T)

AR#3,320,001 & AR%3,735,0007T
(7#4,000,001L28#4,500,0007T)

AR #4,150,001 . & AR #4,565,0007C
(7%5,000,0017c2/5#5,500,0007T )

AR #6,640,001tE AR¥7,055,0007C
(7#8,000,001 L 2% #8,500,0007T)

Remuneration bands AE®EH

RMB Nil to RMB450,000 9
(HK$Nil to HK$500,000)

RMB2,905,001 to RMB3,320,000 1
(HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000)

RMB3,320,001 to RMB3,735,000 1
(HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000)

RMB4,150,001 to RMB4,565,000 2
(HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000)

RMB6,640,001 to RMB7,055,000 1

(HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairman: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric (Independent Non-executive
Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses and
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan (all are Independent Non-
executive Directors)

One of the members of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. No member of this Committee is
a member or partner of the former or existing auditors of
the Company. The membership of the Audit Committee has
complied with the Listing Rules requirement that the majority
of its members must be independent and one of whom must
have appropriate professional qualification. The existing terms
of reference of the Audit Committee which were revised on 18
November 2010, are modeled on “A Guide for Effective Audit
Committee” issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and have also adopted the principles set out in the
CG Code for the time being in force. Pursuant to the amendments
to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the terms of reference of
the Audit Committee was further revised on 21 March 2012,
7 December 2015, 21 November 2018 and 5 November 2021,
and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The duties of the Audit Committee include considering and
making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors, review of the
Company’s financial information and oversight of the Company’s
financial report system and internal control procedures. During
the year under review, the Audit Committee met on three
occasions. The work of the Audit Committee in 2021 included
reviews of:

o the independent auditor’s report to the Audit Committee in
respect of 2020 audit;

. the 2020 annual report and annual results announcement;

o audit strategy memorandum in respect of the 2021 audit by
the independent auditor;

] connected party transactions;

. the 2021 interim report and interim results announcement;
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o the reports of internal audit activities; and

o staffing and qualifications of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee met with the
independent auditor on three occasions.

The Audit Committee has considered the performance and
independence of the independent auditor of the Company.
The Audit Committee concludes that the independence of the
independent auditor of the Company has not been compromised
by the non-audit services performed for the Group. The statement
by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 114 to 120. During the year under review, audit
fees paid and payable to the Company’s independent auditor
amount to approximately RMB11 million (2020: approximately
RMB10 million); fees related to non-audit services including tax
compliance and consulting service paid during the year under
review amount to approximately RMB4 million (2020: Nil).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The interests held by the directors in the Company’s securities
as at 31 December 2021 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report
on pages 91 to 94 of this report. On 8 April 2005, the Company
has adopted a Code of Ethics and Securities Transactions (“Code
of Ethics”) which incorporates the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Code of Ethics has
been amended, approved and reconfirmed by the Board on 6
April 2006, 4 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and further revised
on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010, 7 December 2015 and
5 November 2021 respectively. The prohibitions on securities
dealing and disclosure requirements in the Code of Ethics also
apply to specified individuals who include the Group’s senior
management and persons who are privy to inside information of
the Group. The Code of Ethics is on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry of all directors, all directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Code of Ethics during the year ended 31 December
2021.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board assumes overall responsibility to establish and
maintain sound systems in risk management, internal control
and governance to provide reasonable, though not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. The Board confirms that it is the overall responsibility
of the Board to establish and effectively implement the risk
management and internal control systems to ensure the smooth
operation of business, safeguard the Group’s assets and
shareholders’ interests as well as ensure the reliability of financial
statements.

OVERVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group adopts the control framework consistent with the
frameworks recommended by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission in the United States
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
as the standards in establishing risk management and
control systems among our Group companies. The Group's
risk management and internal control systems include five
key elements, namely the existence of an effective control
environment, risk management, communication and information
system, cost effective control activities and monitoring
mechanism. The specific implementation tasks of the Group’s
risk management and internal control are mainly shared by the
management and employees.

The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal controls. The
Group has established policies and procedures to communicate
management instructions to all employees, and monitor business
operations. The monitoring activities include approval and
verification, review, asset protection, and division of duties.
Our internal self-assessment monitoring process requires each
business unit to evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls,
formulate mitigation measures in a timely manner, and reduce the
recognised significant risks.
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MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group requires its business unit to identify and assess the risks
and impact at least once every year. The executive management
team of the business unit is accountable for the conduct and
performance of each operation in the business unit within the
agreed strategies and similarly the management of each operation
is accountable for its conduct and performance. Policies and
procedures are designed for safeguarding corporate assets,
maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring transactions
are executed in accordance with management authorisation.
Monthly management reports on the financial results and key
operation indicators are reviewed by the Executive Committee
of the Board. Regular meetings are held with the executive
management team of the business unit to review the actual
performance against budget.

Our internal audit function, reporting to the Audit Committee
and the Board respectively, is responsible for assessing the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, adopting
the risk-based internal audit method to determine whether
the Group’s major risks can be controlled by main monitoring
measures, formulating an impartial opinion on the effectiveness
and efficiency of the systems, and reporting its findings to
the Executive Committee and the Audit Committee. Follow-
up review will be conducted in due course to ensure that audit
recommendations are being properly implemented. The internal
audit function conducts independent reviews on the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems on an on-going basis.

Depending on the nature and risk exposure of the Group’s
business, the scope of work performed by the internal audit
function covers all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

Results of internal audit activities are reported to the Audit
Committee at least once semi-annually for the year ended 31
December 2021 and the corrective actions are taken by the
business unit. The Audit Committee will review whether the
Group's risk management and internal control systems (including
financial, operational and compliance control measures) are
adequate and effective, and consider the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications, and experience. The Board conducts regular
reviews of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems through the internal audit function and the Audit
Committee.

— T - —4&F &3 | Annual Report 2021

83

A

dnolg ay| 1noqy

B E

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

>
HE
U
of
|
o
o
=
=
=]
=
)
=3
@
D
=)
<
@
=
=
o
=
o
@

SRR

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly



84

BEREREMAREENAMERE - K
RETKZEEAIGEBERARTEENBRL
REZEZ ARG ETRAESEY)
BERTHNBEAZTREEARHES - AQ
AEAREGBETEREREFZRAE
ERERZEeRLNC(ARERRERE
5 BEEZEE BT RHEMMEBAL(NA
SNEBARAG e R N IE B TIEEK B ) AR
AP TN ERAREERKARTHEE

BEHBEE_ZT_—F+-_A=+—HI
FEMNNE  EFTERERZERMAE
[\ B 3R e R EBE AR I E RE A IR B A S
BHEERIRE LB EMAETE
BERMEABIEHAFE

g

I

Bx R4 F
AHRBRRFHIARERARRAS L
RHEZEZR

RIBE D AMEPIZE5661F - AR FIHEE
ERAERERRAS LRRNBREHER
RIEZL5%NARBRROBR - ER
BRBRAS  MEZAJRBRRAS -
ZER(BLAEFEFERRKRNE LK
EHEBH—RIEE 0 R(Ob)AIEE A HEZ
BRRE LR BB RLREZRRKRE
EBFEAVRBHI R o 52 E K (a) AR E]
AR (FRR AR EMPER - W &F
FRTESEGDAEFHEA(EL : ir@crb.
cn) ERARAF + F(b) BREHE th ok BEREY
ARFE - RIBABIGHIFES67R - ERA
RIBRBEDIFES6615KERKRRANGE -
BRI BN LR E P AR RR A B BB 1R /921
B BRBERAE - MxERAKEEAE
BRBERASHEMH L B HRM28H
MERTT

With respect to internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company shall assess
the circumstances under which inside information may arise from
time to time and disclose inside information as soon as reasonably
practicable in accordance with the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The Company conducts its
business affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure
of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission and imposes a strict prohibition on the unauthorised
use of confidential or inside information by directors, employees
and other relevant persons (such as external service providers and
project working team members).

Based on the assessment for the year ended 31 December 2021
for purpose of reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems, the Board and the Audit Committee
believe that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate, provide reasonable assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded and there is no significant area of
concerns that may affect shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the
directors are required to call a general meeting if the Company
has received requests to do so from members of the Company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
members having a right to vote at general meeting. Such requests
must (a) state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
the meeting. Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company in
hard copy form (by depositing at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by
email: ir@crb.cn); and (b) must be authenticated by the person
or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors must call a meeting within
21 days after the date on which they become subject to the
requirement under Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance and
such meeting must be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date of the notice convening the meeting.
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Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that
the Company must give notice of a resolution if it has received
requests that it do so from (a) the members of the Company
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate. Such requests (a)
may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing
at the registered office of the Company for the attention of
the Board) or in electronic form (by email: ir@crb.cn); (b) must
identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must
be received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the
annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (ii) if later,
the time at which notice is given of that meeting. Section 616
of the Companies Ordinance provides that the Company that is
required under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance to give
notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at the Company's
own expense to each member of the Company entitled to receive
notice of the annual general meeting (a) in the same manner as
the notice of the meeting; and (b) at the same time as, or as soon
as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the meeting.

PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Articles 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a director retiring at a meeting
shall, unless recommended by the directors, be appointed a
director at a general meeting unless at least seven days’ previous
notice in writing (to be lodged no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election
and no later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting)
shall have been given to the Company of the intention of any
member qualified to vote at the meeting to propose any person
other than a retiring director for election to the office of director
with notice executed by that person of his willingness to be
appointed.

Not less than 3 nor more than 28 days before the date appointed
for holding a general meeting notice shall be given to all who are
entitled to receive notice of the meeting of any person in respect
of whom notice has been duly given to the Company under Article
112.1 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

The aforesaid procedures are available on the website of the
Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The new Articles of Association of the Company was adopted on
25 May 2016 by special resolution at the annual general meeting
in order to ensure compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

There is no change to the Articles of Association of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and fair disclosure of information to its
shareholders. Accurate and fair disclosure is necessary for
shareholders to form their own judgment on the operation and
performance of the Group.

The Company has established a Shareholder’'s Communication
Policy and the said policy is available on the website of the
Company.

Based on this policy, legitimate questions arising from generally
disclosed information deserves a reasonable reply. The Investor
Relations Division is responsible for managing investor relations
and will respond to such shareholders’ and analysts’ enquiries.

The Company’s website provides shareholders, investors, existing
and prospective partners and counterparties with information on
the Company’s corporate governance practices. Copies of such
information can be obtained from the Company Secretary of the
Company upon written request.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations Division of
the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations Division — Board Office

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
Room 2301 & 2310, 23/F., China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: ir@crb.cn

Tel No.: 852-2360 9699

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar.

By order of the Board
HOU XIAOHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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EFEHRS
DIRECTORS" REPORT

The directors have the pleasure in presenting to the shareholders
their report and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has been principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate are shown on pages
197 to 201. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the
year by regional segments is set out in Note 6 to the financial
statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out on page 121
and shows the Group's profit for the year ended 31 December
2021.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends a final dividend of RMB0.302 per share
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMBO0.131 per
share) payable on or around 12 August 2022 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 27 June 2022. The final dividend, if approved, is to be payable
in cash in Hong Kong dollars which will be converted from RMB
at the average CNY Central Parity Rate announced by the People’s
Bank of China for the five business days prior to and including
the date of the Annual General Meeting (as defined in the below
section headed “Closure of Register of Members”). Together with
the interim dividend of RMBO0.264 per share, the total dividend for
2021 will amount to RMB0.566 per share (2020: RMBO0.259 per
share).

Shareholders shall have the option to elect to receive all or part
of the final dividend in RMB. Unless a permanent election on
dividend currency had been made by shareholders, shareholders
should complete the dividend currency election form (which
is expected to be despatched to the shareholders as soon as
practicable on 4 July 2022 after the record date for ascertaining
shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend (i.e. 27
June 2022)) for such election and return it to the share registrar
of the Company, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 22 July 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 15 June 2022 to Tuesday, 21 June 2022, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will
be registered. In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 21 June 2022 (the “Annual General
Meeting”), all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 14 June 2022 for registration.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, the proposed final dividend will be payable to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company after the close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
27 June 2022, and the register of members of the Company will
be closed on Monday, 27 June 2022, during which no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 24 June 2022 for registration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 is set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Risk
Management”, “Corporate Social Responsibility” and “Corporate
Governance Report” from pages 14 to 15, pages 20 to 23, pages
40 to 45, pages 46 to 61 and pages 62 to 86 respectively of this
Annual Report.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those having
significant impact on the Group. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and business unit from time to time. As far as
the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Company.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FIXED ASSETS

Movements in the fixed assets of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are
set out in Note 29 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB417,000.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hou Xiaohai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wei Qiang (Chief Financial Officer)
(Appointed on 5 November 2021)
Mr. Jian Yi
(Resigned on 5 November 2021)
Mr. Lai Po Sing
(Resigned on 5 November 2021)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend
Ms. Zhang Kaiyu

(Appointed on 5 November 2021)
Mr. Tang Liging

(Appointed on 5 November 2021)
Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu

(Resigned on 5 November 2021)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

In accordance with Article 110 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Hou Xiaohai, Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend, Dr. Li
Ka Cheung, Eric and Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses shall retire by rotation
at the Annual General Meeting and are eligible for re-election.

According to Article 115 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, each of Mr. Wei Qiang, Ms. Zhang Kaiyu and Mr. Tang
Liging was appointed by the Board to be a director, shall hold
office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting, and
shall then be eligible for re-election.
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EFCZRESH
BERERADAREETHERAES
EAEAARTAR—FRRNREECEE
FERR N T T AR IE Z RIS A 4T

EERXH. R GghcH

ARREFHHEAHBEERIEEARD
A EEBAR  EBARREGRFN
MEBRARMIY  BRFAEBIERFER
EARBFEECEARS. KHELAEH
b BERSRERAEEEAES -

EEZEHE
BEVEFENEREIOEEEITH -

MEBATES

REAREARRE AREEARANER
AESFENEEREREFNUERESH
RARRA B Buiwww.crbeer.com.hk Z [ 1% &
ERR-—DEERIAT -

BHEFZRMEX
ARRMBERAE  ARASERUK
BEH0  CHEHASEIERNENR
ERFlERRPEAFEEN A
A D R B B SR A R -

ARBERARBREMBAR ZEEA
BB EMRFRFEENEETNERNE
RBERR

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent company or the
subsidiaries of its parent company were a party and in which a
director of the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of directors are set out on pages 30 to 37.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors and alternate directors who have served on
the board of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report is available on the Company’s website
at www.crbeer.com.hk under “Investor Relations — Corporate
Governance”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him as such director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

R E (28 ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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EZE 2R | DIRECTORS” REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the directors
of the Company had any interest in a business, apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business, which would
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (“SFO"), which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions which
the directors and chief executive of the Company are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which are
required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:

(BYRAEAQFCBRTERRNIEE (A) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES AND
ROPERNES UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
ST
HE e BirEHE Aggregate
BN Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
rZE Sy} 1,018,000 0.03
Hou Xiaohai Long position
BROn 1 Sy} 149,498 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
FRF Sy} 271,817 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Long position

Wi

1. EARRRM T TR RBERRTR
—E-—F+-A=+—HEBTKH
BEWBEDL -

2. EXFE REAREEAESHES
AZEIF5E »

Notes:
1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the Company as at

31 December 2021.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

— T - —4&F &3 | Annual Report 2021

91

A

dnolg ay| 1noqy

B E

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

>
HE
U
of
|
o
o
=
=
=]
=
)
=3
@
D
=)
<
@
=
=
o
=
o
@

SRR

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly



92

ExEcEFHZ @

(C)REBEZECRTERREME (B)
B 1D h B R &

A H

CEATHNESHEARBEEE
ER(EHFEHAEHM)) B BHITE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at the same date, certain directors had interests in the
issued ordinary shares of associated corporations (within the

Rz meaning of the SFO):

() MR—EEEEzE—FEEEHE (i)  Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
BAT([EEEM )2 BITE corporation, China Resources Land Limited (“CR
BIR Land"):

HGESESLH
BeE ke BHhEE Aggregate
EFENS Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
£ e 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
BREF T 50,000 0.01
Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position
I aE - Notes:

1. B RRTY RAEBE R GK 2
FhEBBEMR _T-_—F+—
A=+—BEZTRHBHENE

poln Al

2. EXEREZ SRR ERAR

BEBAZFENFE °

KRR EE—ERERE (ii

=

AERAR(TEBHERERE])

ERTERR 2 ER

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
in shares of CR Land to the total issued shares of CR Land as at

31 December 2021.

All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in
his capacity as beneficial owner.

Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services
Limited (“CR Mixc"):

HEESESLL

we ke iR HE Aggregate

ESkE Long position/ Number of percentage of

Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)

g ) 4,157 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position

FHRHE Sy} 387 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Long position

MiEE :

1. BHRAPRHNEREREER
NERBEEREREER_-F
T+ RA=+—-HEETK

DR B AL °

2. EXEE EERSERENAR

BREBAZENFA °

Notes:

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
in shares of CR Mixc to the total issued shares of CR Mixc as at

31 December 2021.

All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in
his capacity as beneficial owner.
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(iii)

DIRECTORS’

EZE 2R | DIRECTORS” REPORT

INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS (Continued)

E’\ B AR B A — B R (iii)
BRERAR(TEERR ]S &

Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR

TEER s Gas"):
HiERE AL

we ke B8 H Aggregate
ESkH Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
B e 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
Bt aE - Notes:
1. AT R FS R ZE R R 48 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions

BEEERRER T _—F+=
A=t —REETKROAENE
DL e

N

EXFRE S e B R o
EREEAZHHIE -

i F'ﬁﬁﬂwﬁ&@—iﬁfﬁﬁﬁ“ (iv)

in shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of CR Gas as at
31 December 2021.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in
his capacity as beneficial owner.

Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated

J&”ﬁ_ AE([EHEN]BEE corporation, China Resources Power Holdings
TE AR 2 R Company Limited (“CR Power"):
HGESESLH

BHe ke BHhEE Aggregate
EENR Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
iy S 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
BEE - Notes:
1. BUHBMERNERENRNDR 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions

BHERENR_T-_—F+=
)5! THZEETRDAEDN
Sl @

2. EXFEBE s EREBHESN 2.
EnBBAZIHEE -

in shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of CR Power as
at 31 December 2021.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in
his capacity as beneficial owner.
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EFCESHEI ®
() RHEBEEERTERRKME
B3R 10 o BB B 1 A (80

(v) R—REEEEE—FBHKER
RERAR(TEEKRE])E %

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

(B) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(v) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Cement Holdings

TEBR R Limited (“CR Cement”):
RGBS

we ke B8 H Aggregate
EENE Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
& A 40,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
B5E - Notes:

1. BB AT R E B G 42
HFEEBKER-_BE-_—F+—
A=+ BEZTRHLEHENE

DL e

2. EXFEREzERERESRIA

RiAAAZ HHHE -
HAAABREHER
R-B_—F+-_H=+—8 " ﬁ?ixﬁﬁ

FBEHESRARI U TALTRAR
E’Jﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁl&ﬁqﬂ%&ﬁ/,ﬁETF<<E§%&HH
BIEHI) EXVHE—_RE =D HRAR T
FENECLHEARREFEN S LA
RS SOAR ¢

1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
in shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of CR Cement
as at 31 December 2021.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in
his capacity as beneficial owner.

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021, other than the interests and short
positions as disclosed above, the following persons have interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as they fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company:
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H
il
BEARLBRES2MEKRE @) SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS 3
(Continued) &
BEREHHRE =
BEHaNERHBE
Number of shares in
BeE ke which the interested GFREESL
Long position/ party is deemed to Percentage of -
FEESHER Name of interested party Short position have interests shareholding (%)
REERERAA([FEIZER])  China Resources Company Limited iE 1,684,077,366 51.91 w
(FrsE1) ("CRC") (Note 1) Long position 2
ZBROERDE([ZBRM ) China Resources Inc. (formerly known & 1,684,077,366 51.91 ;{é
(FzE1) as China Resources Co., Limited)  Long position
("CRI") (Note 1) =
CRC Bluesky Limited (Ff&£1) CRC Bluesky Limited (Note 1) e 1,684,077,366 51.91 @
Long position =
EB(EE)FRAA China Resources (Holdings) e 1,684,077,366 51.91 2
([EBEE ) (K1) Company Limited (“CRH") (Note 1) Long position
EHEE(ER)BRAF CRH (CRE) Limited (Note 1) iR 1,676,338,664 51.67
(FrsE1) Long position
EREIZERAA (M) China Resources Enterprise, Limited {2 1,676,338,664 51.67 2
(Note 1) Long position s
B
Heineken Holding N.V.(Fif3E1) Heineken Holding N.V. (Note 1) 19 1,676,338,664 51.67 .
Long position 5
Heineken N.V.(F{&1) Heineken N.V. (Note 1) iR 1,676,338,664 51.67 )
Long position E
ENSE(RE)BRAR (M)  CRH (Beer) Limited (Note 1) iR 1,676,338,664 51.67 2

Long position

EHEE(MB)ARAFAREEARAFD A
BEEFHAANDQA,676,338,664 &% 7,738,702
MRERM - EEEE()E)BER QA HEHE
X¥BMRAAFH60%E - I A Heineken
Brouwerijen B.V. 3 5 40% # 25 il 2 4 Al
XERAAREREE(ER)BERAANE
BEMBAR - EEHEE(EE)BERARRE
BERARYRENSEENERZERB A
7] o # M % B A& CRC Bluesky Limited /) & &
2 & Mf )& 2 "] + f CRC Bluesky Limited £5
EZERO2ERE - EHROHEPEREBRN
ERERZAWBAR - At - EHEE -
CRC Bluesky Limited + # 8 & {5 & = B & 8
WA B A LR AR R1,684,077,366 BR AR 15
A ¥ B # 2= ° Heineken Brouwerijen B.V. &
Heineken International B.V. M2 &M B A &)
Heineken International B.V.&Heineken N.V.Aj
2 & KB A A - il Heineken N.V. & Heineken
Holding N.V.&9 2 &K B A 7] o E Lt * Heineken
Brouwerijen B.V. * Heineken International B.V. -
Heineken N.V. & Heineken Holding N.V.#48 &7
ARAR]1,676,338,6640A% 7 A s o

Note:

CRH (Beer) Limited and Commotra Company Limited directly held
1,676,338,664 shares and 7,738,702 shares in the Company respectively.
CRH (Beer) Limited is owned as to 60% by China Resources Enterprise,
Limited and 40% by Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.. China Resources Enterprise,
Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH (CRE) Limited. CRH (CRE) Limited
and Commotra Company Limited are beneficially wholly-owned subsidiaries
of CRH. CRH is a beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRI. CRI is an ultimately beneficially
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC. Thus, CRH, CRC Bluesky Limited, CRI and
CRC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 1,684,077,366 shares
in the Company. Heineken Brouwerijen B.V. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Heineken International B.V. Heineken International B.V is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Heineken N.V., which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Heineken Holding N.V. Thus, Heineken Brouwerijen B.V., Heineken
International B.V., Heineken N.V. and Heineken Holding N.V. are deemed to
be interested in 1,676,338,664 shares in the Company.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with
connected persons which constituted “connected transactions”
or “continuing connected transactions” under the Listing Rules.
Details of those transactions which are subject to the reporting
requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are
summarised as follows:

() CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS
PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021

Framework Loan Agreements 2019

On 17 December 2019, the Company renewed the
Framework Loan Agreements in connection with the
intra-group lending arrangement with members of
group of CRI and CRH and their respective subsidiaries
(the “Framework Loan Agreements 2019") for a term
of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2022. CRI is the controlling shareholder of CRH,
which in turn holds a controlling interest in the
Company and thus CRI and CRH are both connected
persons of the Company as defined under the Listing
Rules. The connected transactions contemplated
under the Framework Loan Agreements 2019 will be
continuously carried out in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, thus constituting
continuing connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The annual lending cap for the maximum aggregate
amount which can be lent by the Group on any single
day (inclusive of interest received and anticipated to
be received rounded to the nearest million) under
both of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019 is
RMB2,100,000,000. Such maximum daily amount
is applicable for each day during the relevant year,
and such maximum daily amount is calculated on an
individual basis as outstanding at the end of each day
during the relevant year without aggregating with the
daily amount incurred on the days before.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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i
EXEH@® CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 3
() FEBERS (&) () CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS <
(Continued) S
(B)YER-—ZE—-hhEEEEFTH (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS
;;i ZE-NEHERBREIERD PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
ZN—_E-_—EBBRSEH AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC o
& 2 & mh B 15 AR B = HE () COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued) -
EIEEE 1 E WG A= For details, please refer to the announcement of the §
F+—A+EBAFTIEHDE - Company dated 17 December 2019. B
St

BE-_T-_—F+-A=1+—
Hiifmm$%lkTML

BEREIRN_—F——F+_A
:+ A28 (A )H &R

Information on all the above-mentioned lending made
by the Group during the year ended or balance as at
31 December 2021 (if any) were as follows:

—
o
o
=
w
=
o
)
=
=
=
@
%]

mT :
RZBZ-%
FflE +-R=1+-H
x& Interest (1]

BRA BRA Principal HRE  rateper Balance at

Lender Borrower amount Duration annum 31/12/2021

EREVRE(RE) EEEXEARAA AE®T  1,200,000,000 07/1212020 - 35% -

RERRAF China Resources RMB 12/01/2021 4
China Resources Snow  Vanguard Co., Ltd 3
Breweries (China) 5
Investment Co., Ltd.* -

S

ZESHME(TE) EERRRE ARET 400,000,000 09/12/2020-  3.915% - 2
REERAF BRAR RMB 25/01/2021 s
China Resources Snow  China Resource S
Breweries (China) Financial Holdings 3
Investment Co., Ltd.*  Co., Ltd.* 3

EREFWE(RE)  ERSHER AR®T  2,000,000,000 300042021~ 3.915% =
REARAR ARAH RVB 09/06/2021
China Resources Snow  China Resources Land
Breweries (China) Holdings Ltd.*

Investment Co., Ltd.*

ERSTME(RE)  ZRERER ARET 1000000000 291172021~ 350% ARM;L  1,000,000,000 %
REBRAF BEAE RMB 28/02/2022 RMB W
China Resources Snow  China Resources
Breweries (China) Pharmaceutical o
Investment Co., Ltd.*  Company Limited* =

ZREEWE(hE)  ZEBEER AREL  1,000,000,000 301172021 - 350% ARET  1,000,000,000 £
RERRAT BRAE RMB 28/02/2022 RMB 5
China Resources Snow  China Resources =
Breweries (China) Pharmaceutical
Investment Co., Ltd.* ~ Company Limited*

BE_ZE_—F+_A=+—

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate

Eﬁigm $%l$:s
— NEFIERE R WKE A F
B4 %EIE':,Z’J}\EMW,OOO,OOO
7u($ﬁ 497 % 21,000,000
JC) °©

amount of interest received by the Group under
Framework Loan Agreements 2019 was approximately
RMB17,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,000,000).
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() BEEBEERXS (&) () CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(B)ER=ZZBE-—NEEREFTH (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS

B CE- \EFEBEESEH
ER-T--EBBAERH
w2 T BB AR = B ()

—E-NFEBEA (ElpiE

RZZE—NE+—A=+nh
B - AQ& 55K EEIR
TRPABER AR ([FEBET] -
ZHROH2HBRAR) REH
FEREFRERA A ([ERE
FEEROGZMEBARR)
BB A EHZE - HIRHGA
BE-E—NF—AF—HE=F
——F+-_A=t+—HBItW=
BFE - Bt - EHRITEE
MASEBERES T ERREE
RITEREREBETLRER
AEBREES TERRBERE
m(I=ZZE—N\FEE A EH
Z)  HREBERGAAFA
EHBTREBHGSTEIMER
HBiB50% + IRE LR Al -
EHROTREBETHRBAR
FIMEEAL - —T— \FEH
BEERZE THWHEER S
RAEBRAER —MEKBRE
HRIFEET - ALEBK TR
AIIE AR RRFERERS -

AEBEEEBRTRALFRER
F ¥ AZFREHMNRA
BESTFAEBHRTNTFRE
F o REE TN A E AR
B E M SRR A BURIR -
BAER - FAREZ-F
—NFEBEAEHET RN E
B IRTT B (A 17 BAS IR AR SR 1T
EREMERBFRUFERD
R % ) & 5t 830 18 8 A8 A 153K
K fgtt - HERNETI2EHE
ARRITRAMOFNEHEME
BENXEE -

PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018

On 29 November 2018, the Company renewed
the Strategic Cooperation Agreements with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”, a
subsidiary of CRI) and China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”, a subsidiary of CRI) respectively
for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2021, pursuant to which CR Bank
has agreed to provide certain deposit and other
commercial banking services to the Group, and CR
Trust has agreed to provide certain financial services
and products to the Group (“Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2018"”). CRI holds more than 50%
of the registered capital of CR Bank and CR Trust
respectively and thus CR Bank and CR Trust are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The connected transactions contemplated under
the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018 will be
continuously carried out in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, thus constituting
continuing connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The Group may open deposit accounts with the CR
Bank and freely deposit funds into or withdraw funds
from the CR Bank deposit accounts. The Group may
also engage CR Bank in other deposit businesses
to deposit funds such as call deposits. Any deposit
made with CR Bank under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2018 will bear the same interest and be
on the same terms and conditions as would apply to
a similar deposit made by any other customer of the
bank, which rate(s) are determined with reference to
that published by the People’s Bank of China or such
other rates more preferential to the Company.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BMEXS @) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(1) EEEERS (&) () CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS
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RERY  REEERY - ¥
BHARSE BMERKEA
ETNENSRRBEREM °
REBEARRITHPERITR
BREEEEZEAXBERY
WEREN  BNSHEBER
- BE2RAPEEHERT
5 [ 28 & Bt AR 7% P R B &
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EFRHERERKERMNEX
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AEE R EAEBEEREED
TRBRBLER  BRETR
RESER BEEHE 57
BRI - BAEEE - RER
FIRTS - BUBRFURE R
BEAREHAERRY - B5
A GH IR 55 R B A5 5E R & B AR
%o NRBRTTRIRES EE

PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

The Group may use the commercial banking services
of CR Bank including but not limited to, credit
services, agency services, settlement services, cash
management services, financial consulting service,
wealth management products and other financial
services and products as agreed by the parties. Where
the People’s Bank of China or the China Banking
and Insurance Regulatory Commission of the PRC
provides for standard tariffs or charges in respect of
these services, such standard tariffs or charges will
apply. Reference will also be made to tariffs or charges
imposed or offered by other major commercial banks
on similar services in the same period. These services
will be provided on terms no less favourable than
terms available to other independent customers of CR
Bank engaging similar services.

The Group may use financial services and products
provided by CR Trust including, but not limited to,
cash management, asset management, custodian trust
loan services, equity cooperation, shares nominee
services, account receivable factoring services, buying
and resale consulting services, debenture underwriting
services and other trust and financial services.
Where the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS

PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the maximum
daily aggregate amount of outstanding deposits
placed by the Group with CR Bank was approximately
RMB602,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$
736,000,000), and the aggregate interest income
arising from such deposits was approximately
RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,000,000)

The proposed maximum daily amount of the financial
services and products provided by CR Bank and CR
Trust to the Group on an aggregated basis (for the
avoidance of doubt, excluding the daily deposit
amount placed by the Group with CR Bank) is
RMB1,200,000,000 for each of the three years ending
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did
not use any financial services and products provided
by CR Bank or CR Trust, nor incurred any fees and
commissions therefor.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 29 November 2018.

Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2021

On 19 November 2021, as the Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2018 were due to expire on 31
December 2021, the Company renewed the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements with CR Bank and CR Trust
respectively for a term of three years from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024 (“Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2021"). China Resources Inc. (being
the holding company of CRH, which in turn, is a
controlling shareholder of the Company) is directly
interested in approximately 70.28% and indirectly
interested in 51% of the registered capital of CR Bank
and CR Trust respectively, CR Bank and CR Trust are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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53 10T CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
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(Continued)
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(F)ERZE-NEFELERWH (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS
B \EEBRAER PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
B B —FEBRASEH AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
EZ2EHMUEHEBZTHEGE COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND —
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STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

The Group may open deposit accounts with the CR
Bank and freely deposit funds into or withdraw funds
from the CR Bank deposit accounts. The Group may
also engage CR Bank in other deposit businesses to
deposit funds such as call deposits. Any deposit made
with CR Bank under these arrangements will bear the
same interest and be on the same terms and conditions
as would apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customer of the bank, which rate(s) are determined
with reference to that published by the People’s Bank
of China or such other rates more preferential to the
Company.

Other than deposit businesses, the Group may use
the commercial banking services of CR Bank including
but not limited to, credit services, agency services,
settlement services, cash management services,
financial consulting service, other financial services
and products as agreed by the parties. Where the
People’s Bank of China or the China Banking and
Insurance Regulatory Commission of the PRC provides
for standard tariffs or charges in respect of these
services, such standard tariffs or charges will apply.
Reference will also be made to tariffs or charges
imposed or offered by other major commercial banks
on similar services in the same period. These services
will be provided on terms no less favourable than
terms available to, other independent customers of CR
Bank engaging similar services.

The Group may use financial services and products
provided by CR Trust including, but not limited to, cash
management, asset management, equity cooperation,
consulting services, debenture underwriting services
and other trust and financial services. Where the China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission of the
PRC provides for standard tariffs or charges in respect
of these services, such standard tariffs or charges will
apply. Reference will also be made to tariffs or charges
imposed or offered by other major trust companies on
similar services in the same period. These services will
be provided on terms no less favourable than terms
available to other independent customers of CR Trust
engaging similar services.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS

(N

(B)

PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

The proposed maximum daily deposit amount,
inclusive of interest payable which may be placed by
the Group with CR Bank for the term of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2021 is RMB1,400,000,000
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024.

The proposed maximum daily amount of financial
services and products provided by CR Bank and CR
Trust to the Group on an aggregated basis (for the
avoidance of doubt, excluding the daily deposit
amount placed by the Group with CR Bank) for the
term of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2021 is
RMB1,400,000,000 for each of the three years ending
31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 19 November 2021.

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
2020

On 3 December 2020, the Company renewed
the beer supply framework agreement with CRH,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply
beer products to CRH Group for three years
commencing from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2023 ("Beer Supply Framework Agreement 2020").
The Group agreed to supply its beer products to
CRH Group from time to time for the purposes of
retail and distribution of the same by CRH Group.
The transactions shall be conducted on normal
commercial terms and the terms, as a whole, shall
be no more favorable than those terms offered to
independent third party retailers and distributors of
the Group in relation to the supply of beer products
of similar nature and quality. The price of the supply
of beer products shall be determined by reference
to the prevailing market price for transactions of
similar nature and subject to the internal control
measures. It is estimated that the maximum amount

R (22 A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(N

(B)

(@

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
2020 (Continued)

of purchases to be made by CRH Group under the
Beer Supply Framework Agreement 2020 will not
exceed RMB358,000,000, RMB366,000,000 and
RMB374,000,000 respectively for the three years
ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 as set
out in the announcement issued by the Company on
3 December 2020. As CRH is the indirect controlling
shareholder of the Company and thus a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the Beer Supply
Framework Agreement 2020 and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate
amount of purchases made by CRH Group from the
Group under the Beer Supply Framework Agreement
2020 was approximately RMB33,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$39,000,000).

LEASING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 19 August 2020, the Company entered into
the Framework Agreement with CRH to govern
the leases for a period from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022 (“Leasing Framework Agreement”).
The CRH Group (as landlord) may, from time to
time, lease premises in the PRC and Hong Kong,
predominantly offices, to the Group (as tenant) for
its daily operations. The Group shall determine the
rent payable for each of the leases after arm’s length
negotiations with the CRH Group based on normal
commercial principles with reference to market rent
and other factors such as floor area, location and
the type of premises being leased to ensure the rent
payable under each of the leases does not exceed the
rent payable by or to be charged by independent third
parties in respect of the same or similar premises.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(N

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(C©) LEASING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
(Continued)

The proposed annual caps for the total value of right-
of-use assets related to the leases which has been or to
be entered into in the three years ending 31 December
2020, 2021 and 2022 will be RMB121,000,000,
RMB94,000,000 and RMB94,000,000, respectively.

As CRH is the intermediate holding company of the
Company, CRH is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The connected transactions
contemplated under the Leasing Framework
Agreement will be continuously carried out in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
thus constituting continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 19 August 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total
value of right-of-use assets related to the leases
which has been entered into by the Group under the
Leasing Framework Agreement was approximately
RMB13,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,000,000.

The aforementioned continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Framework Loan Agreements
2019, Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018, Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2021, the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement 2020 and Leasing Framework Agreement
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules and are therefore subject to annual
review by the Independent Non-executive Directors and the
auditor of the Company.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740, Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group on pages 96 to 104 of this Annual Report in
accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(D

(1)

(a)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

on normal commercial terms or better; and

in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(A) THE JV AGREEMENT, THE RELOCATION

COMPENSATION AGREEMENT AND THE
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT

On 22 January 2021, in order to upgrade several
parcels of land located at Shenzhen owned by
the Group (“Land”) from general industrial use to
general industrial and emerging industrial uses and
develop the Land, the Company through its wholly-
owned subsidiaries (including China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (“CR Snow
Investment”) and China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Co., Ltd. (“CR Snow"), entered into the
following agreements with the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CR Land (including Shenzhen Runtou
Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Runtou”) and
China Resources Land Urban Operation Management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“CR Land Shenzhen”)): (1) the
JV Agreement; (2) the Relocation Compensation
Agreement and (3) the Construction Agreement
(collectively, the “Agreements”).

— T - —4&F &3 | Annual Report 2021

A

dnolg ay| 1noqy

B E

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

>
HE
U
of
|
o
o
=
=
=]
=
)
=3
@
D
=)
<
@
=
=
o
=
o
@

SRR

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly

105



106

RREXH &)
(1) BEXRSZ (&)
(R)REGHEWHE  HBWHED

ZRRERBSE (&)

REREAEHZ  EHEE
BE R ARYTH & AR A K
YHARERARIMEESER
BERAB(TEERRA DA HE
EARBS00B8T - R -F
TFWMHAZTRBEKRMYTA
BRAR - EESIERERR
YERDRITEARKSOEE
TEREANZETRERT
ZBHE - RIBREBBE WS -
BERBBAZEETIREMN
WBZMIR - WEREBELEHL
R [7) 2 Y1l T BR S BR &8 & b 2R
B2 oo BN MORGE L AT
EEBEEER - XRRINBET
MERAERPI B T B AL X R AE —
MIXLFHFRITERE -

RZBE-_—FEHF - REK
BAEWBER LA E AR MIE
BEREBEHEHBTMEER AT
ER R ORI TH BT B
BERK - RIBRBRBERZ
AEBB#EERSAREL,6508
BILHVIRHEESDS - R
MERKEERBEARK15933
BEL ASBERENEER
ENEEREEBHARKE
15,7758 8 T3 5 #930.29%
Fist BRIEEE - MRZSWE
MERKREBERNARK15,617
BEL AARSEREMNEE
BRI IEEREERRARK
15,7758 & L3 5 #930.29%
st S ERE - HEBREY
¥HERB(HREEWXmE
LEBl A EES - B ==
“EHFPIRRET » FREE
EHBEREZAEREEA
AIWEIE —FHE - ERZEK
MEEARHZEZMEE - HE
THTFELELEMBEMNOE
AR, 7558 B oA A& BE,
E-T-_—F+-A=1+—H
HFEZHEEEBERPER
FREEHRN AR BHREMTEL
EMsZF=—+=—R -

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(Il) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(A) THE JV AGREEMENT, THE RELOCATION

COMPENSATION AGREEMENT AND THE
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT (Continued)

According to the JV Agreement, each of CR Snow
Investment and Shenzhen Runtou committed to inject
capital of RMB500 million to the joint venture to be
established, namely Shenzhen Runxue Industrial Co.,
Ltd* (RUITHEEEZEXABR AR, the “JV"). Upon the
formation of the JV on 26 April 2021, each of CR Snow
Investment and Shenzhen Runtou injected RMB50
million and therefore owned 50% equity interest
of the JV respectively. The JV is responsible for the
demolition of the existing building and relocation of
the Land, as well as applying to Shenzhen government
together with CR Snow for land modification of
the Land pursuant to the Relocation Compensation
Agreement. The land modification involves the
de-registration of the title certificate of the Land and
modification of the Land for general industrial and
emerging industrial uses with the relevant authority of
Shenzhen government.

The formation of JV pursuant to the JV Agreement and
disposal of Land to the JV pursuant to the Relocation
Compensation Agreement were completed after
obtaining the approval from Shenzhen government
in the first half of 2021. According to the Relocation
Compensation Agreement, the Group would be
entitled to a preliminary amount of compensation
of RMB4,650 million. If the final selling prices of the
properties exceeds RMB15,933 million, the Group
will be entitled to an extra consideration equal to
30.29% based on the excess of the final selling price
and RMB15,775 million. If the final selling prices of
the properties are below RMB15,617 million, the final
consideration will be reduced by an amount equal to
30.29% on the difference of RMB15,775 million and
the final selling price. The consideration will be settled
by installments based on the proportion of the floor
areas of properties sold to the total saleable floor areas
of properties. The completion date of the construction
is expected to be beginning of 2025 and the first
settlement payment of consideration is expected to
be received by CR Snow from the JV in 2026. Due to
the completion of the disposal of the Land to the JV,
profit on disposal of land to a joint venture, which
amounted to approximately RMB1,755 million, had
been recognised as other income and gains in the
Group's consolidated profit and loss account for the
year ended 31 December 2021. Further details are set
out in Note 7 and Note 22 to the financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(I) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(A) THE JV AGREEMENT, THE RELOCATION
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COMPENSATION AGREEMENT AND THE
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT (Continued)

Once the Land has been upgraded for general
industrial and emerging industrial uses, CR Snow will
be granted part of the Land (“Snow Brewery Land”)
while the JV will be granted with another part of the
Land (“JV Land”). CR Snow will use the Snow Brewery
Land as the headquarters, R&D centre, craft brewery
and employees’ dormitories of CR Snow, as well as for
the construction of the beer museum pursuant to the
Construction Agreement. CR Snow will appoint CR
Land Shenzhen as the project manager on its behalf
in relation to the construction and development of
the Snow Brewery Land (excluding the craft brewery)
(“Project”) pursuant to the Construction Agreement.
The service fees charged by CR Land Shenzhen
thereunder shall be 3% of the total construction of the
Project. Pursuant to the Construction Agreement, CR
Land Shenzhen has provided CR Snow with a letter of
performance guarantee with a maximum guarantee
amount of RMB30 million. The validity of such letter
has commenced from the date of such letter of 2 June
2021 until 10 May 2024.

The JV will use the JV Land as a complex consisting of
offices, commercial properties, factories, recreational
facilities, supermarkets, restaurants and bars etc.,
which will be subject to sale and leasing. According
to the JV Agreement, the profits/losses after taxation
in respect of the JV shall be shared by Shenzhen
Runtou and CR Snow Investment in proportion to
their equity interest in the JV. The JV will not become
a subsidiary of the Company upon its establishment
and its financial results will not be consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had injected
approximately RMB500 million as capital contribution
into the JV and provided financial assistance amounted
to approximately RMB250 million in the form of
shareholder loan to the JV. Further details are set out
in Note 20A and Note 32 to the financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(Il) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(A) THE JV AGREEMENT, THE RELOCATION

COMPENSATION AGREEMENT AND THE
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT (Continued)

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of
both the Group and the group of CR Land (“CR Land
Group”), CR Land Group is an associate of a connected
person of the Group under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute connected
transactions of the Group under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules, the
transactions contemplated under the Agreements shall
be aggregated given (i) the Agreements are or will be
entered into by the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company and the wholly-owned subsidiaries of CR
Land; (ii) the transactions thereunder will be entered
into within a 12-month period; (iii) the transactions
involve the construction and development of the
Land. As the applicable percentage ratios stipulated
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the
transactions contemplated under the Agreements,
on an aggregated basis, are more than 5% but less
than 25%, the transactions thereunder constitute
discloseable and connected transactions, which are
subject to annual reporting, announcement and the
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company published on 22 January 2021 and the
circular of the Company published on 8 March 2021.
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BMEXS @ CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) =
(1) BEXRSZ (&) (I CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 2
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On 26 April 2021, CR Snow Investment, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered
into a partnership agreement with Zhuhai Henggin
Runchuang Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* (AR BEEHEI K ELEZ(BERE®),
"Henggin Runchuang"), Shenzhen Bohui Asset
Management Company Limited* G HiEE & &=
EI®EAEMR DA, "Shenzhen Bohui") and Shenzhen
Feihongzhuxin Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* ORI R EELEEFERELEZ(BERE®),
"Feihongzhuxin") (the "Partnership Agreement") in
relation to the establishment of the partnership i.e.
Runhui Investment (Shenzhen) Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* (EZRE(ORINTEE(BR A #)) (the
"Partnership"). The total capital contribution by all
partners to the Partnership shall be RMB500 million
of which CR Snow Breweries Investment, Henggin
Runchuang, Shenzhen Bohui and Feihongzhuxin
shall contribute RMB150 million, RMB50 million,
RMB100,000 and RMB299.9 million respectively.
The Partnership will principally be investing in
the following underlying assets: (1) inefficient
assets of CR Snow Investment, including but not
limited to the land use rights and/or buildings and
facilities located on the land of factories which
have suspended operations due to adjustments in
production capacity; and/or (2) such other inefficient
assets of CR Snow Investment as the Risk Control
Committee may approve. The term of the Partnership
is Seven (7) years from the date the business license
of the Partnership is issued (subject to extension or
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(I) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(B) ESTABLISHMENT OF A PARTNERSHIP
(Continued)

CRH is a controlling shareholder of the Company and
thus a connected person of the Company. As Henggin
Runchuang is an indirect subsidiary of CRH, it is an
associate of CRH and thus a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the Partnership Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder (i.e.
the establishment of the Partnership) constitute a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As all of the applicable
percentage ratios as defined under Rule 14.07 of the
Listing Rules in respect of the Partnership Agreement
exceed 0.1% but are all less than 5%, the transactions
contemplated thereunder (i.e. the establishment of
the Partnership) are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement set
out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 April 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, CR Snow
Investment, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has paid the capital contribution of
RMB102,000,000 under the Partnership Agreement.
Further details are set out in Note 20A to the financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of material related party
transactions made during the year, which included the abovesaid
connected transactions of the Company, is disclosed in Note 32
to the financial statements. Save for the transactions disclosed
above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed in
Note 32 to the financial statements constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction that is subject to,
among other things, reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. To the extent that the Group’s related party
transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the
Company had complied with the relevant requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2021 are set out in Note 34 to the financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries of its parent company, or its parent
company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the respective percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers and
the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the Group’'s total value of
purchases and total turnover.

AUDITOR

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 May
2020, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers retrieved as the auditor
of the Company and Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was
appointed as the new auditor of the Company.

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible offer themselves for re-

appointment.

*  For identification purposes only

On behalf of the Board
HOU XIAOHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte
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To the Members of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 121 to 201, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit
and loss account, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key audit matter
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Impairment assessment of goodwill
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We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance of goodwill to the Group's total assets and
the significant degree of judgement and assumptions
made by the group management in determining the
value in use of the cash-generating unit (“CGU").

R_ZT_—F+_A=+—H  BEERANBHE
M%@E;ﬁi? HEMDHEXE  EEXARR
92505 BT ZEE - HEEREECZTRIME S
REXRNSRELEN - BIEESMBI|RME L/
BRENREARK31B4AET  TRARK4HE
LRAEARKES 202887 - ERERBLEER
E%F@ﬁ%mm@ﬁémﬁ B RO R YR Bl & BB A

As at 31 December 2021 the Group had goodwill
of RMB9,250 million which arose from acquisitions
of businesses that are engaged in the manufacture,
sales and distribution of beer products in previous
years. The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated
to the relevant CGUs in various regional segments
including eastern region of RMB3,184 million, central
region of RMB824 million and southern region of
RMB5,242 million as disclosed in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. Management
conducted an impairment assessment by comparing
the recoverable amounts of the CGUs which is
estimated based on value in use calculation, with
their carrying amounts.

EREEREER a%
IHARKIRSREVIRE - B
B2 (R R AN I E%TA%%E%WHE$&+AH
BNRFRPBEE 2 ROBAIEREMFTEE -
The value in use calculation requires the management
of the group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGUs, which includes key
assumptions and judgement on cash flow forecasts,
including revenue growth rate beyond the five years’
financial budget and the discount rates as disclosed
in notes 3A and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Rz BSEEEREERNEAEEGE  BE_T
——%+=A _+ HIFFEARERRE

Based on the impairment assessment performed by
management, no impairment has been recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

em

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB RAHEAREN HHNRTEE
Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:

s T Emlﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ§
o - B SEERERRNRSAERA
ﬁ@ﬂﬁ%iﬁ% :

o Obtaining an understanding of the key controls
of the Group over the impairment assessment
process on goodwill including the preparation
of cash flow forecasts and related significant
assumptions;

s HERGRET NW”Uﬁ%%ﬁiﬁﬁéﬁ
Bes R WHTERE BEREEEEHE

mﬁﬁﬁﬁ%?

o Assessing whether the principles and integrity
of the cash flow forecast is in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards and
comparing the forecast with the budgets
approved by the Board of Directors;

e MAFEMERXGRL - FHRENASHE
Eﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ'uﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%

o Comparing the actual results for the current
year with the management’s cash flow
projections prepared in the previous year, on
a sample basis, to evaluate the reliability of
management’s budgeting process;

s ZBEAMHEEZIR  BBRKEMTEREE
THE - FHEERRBRKANTEXRNSEMN

o Engaging our internal valuation specialist to
analyse the reasonableness of the discount rate
adopted by the management by comparing to
the economic and industry data;

e KEFHMBEE 7 RNET WAL REEN
BAHSMAMGFHFAFERBRIETL
B AME A FRMERE 2 RO TEGFRAE R
EMEENL &

o Assessing the reasonableness of the expected
revenue growth rates beyond the five
years' financial budget by comparing to
relevant market researches and the financial
performance of competitors; and

o HERBRBRETHRMUSN  BEIFHUK
BE 7 ROFEA WA R R EE - LAFFE
HYBRE  VAERAFEETHERS -

o Performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions including expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five years’ financial
budget and discount rate to evaluate the
magnitude of their impacts and assess whether
impairment provision would have been
required.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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Key audit matter

EERERERERENRREFG
Impairment assessment of fixed assets and
right-of-use assets

ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%@%ﬁ1ﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%wm
BEEREAEAE([HAEE]) ) 5
FFE  AREBRGEREERS G RE
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B REER Y RERABMAMERR -
We identified the impairment assessment of fixed
assets and right-of-use assets based on value in
use calculation as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balances to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant
degree of judgement and assumptions made by the
group management in determining the value in use
of the cash-generating unit (“CGU").

%é%ﬁﬁ%%?+ﬂﬁ+tﬁﬁ?
F+= el = ;x@mliﬁﬁ
EE@E—E@EG,\%AEMW 096 A &L (
E@ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%iﬁh)°*ﬁ HiE
BEE ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁim%iiumT@W
B EELT TRER S °
As disclosed in notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had fixed assets
and right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB17,096 million (including those
under loss-marking CGUs) as at 31 December 2021.
Management conducted an impairment assessment
by estimating the recoverable amounts of the
relevant CGUs based on value in use calculation.

EREEGRESER SSEEREMAEGRERS
MEEBMNARRIBESTR /E;‘:F'@?Eiﬁfmu;fﬁ I
R EREAAE - BERFHMBEE 2 ENTEFTI
ABRRITER -

The value in use calculation requires the management
of the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGUs, which includes key
assumptions and judgement on cash flow forecasts,
including expected revenue growth rate beyond the
five years’ financial budget and the discount rates.

REBEBEFGNER BEBEERERBEEEREE
BERYIR B T A B T FERR R B R 1B o

Based on the result of the impairment assessment,
there was no impairment loss recognised in respect
of the fixed assets and right-of-use assets for those
loss making CGUs.

_|_
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMEREREEENEREEGRENRENHNIE
FrE45 -
Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of fixed assets and right-of-use assets
included:

. TR BEBERAERETGBROME
o4l B BEEESEEENASRER
AMAEREXEE  FEAS AR

RAzEEETH A AR LA - BiEE

Eﬂiﬁigﬁl‘ﬁt/ﬁ’ﬁﬁ S HEITERER

o Obtaining an understanding of the key controls
of the Group over the impairment assessment
process on fixed assets and right-of-use assets
including the preparation of cash flow forecasts
and related significant assumptions;

O FEESREFRANRE H:D;'E |EIEE?kA$E
Be el TREAR BEETEELE
RITEEHEITLLE

o Assessing whether the principles and integrity
of the cash flow forecast is in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards and
comparing the forecast with the budgets
approved by the Board of Directors;

s HAFEMBERXEAR -FHENFASRE
Eﬂﬁﬁ%%m@'uﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ%

o Comparing the actual results for the current
year with the management’s cash flow
projections prepared in the previous year, on
a sample basis, to evaluate the reliability of
management’s budgeting process;

e HOFHUBET Zém%ﬁWAﬁE+ﬁﬁ
SMRNBGFHFAFEHERBETLER
FHEZERAWA R RSN

o Assessing the reasonableness of the expected
revenue growth rates beyond the five years’
financial budget by comparing to market
researches and the financial performance of
competitors;

. %h%ﬁi LA 78 AT 2 BB 1T E BRI
Hg—'— ’
o Testing the discount rate by comparing to the
economic and industry data; and

o  HERERRETERELN a%ﬂﬁ%%%
BE 2 ROFAFRAEREMITEER - LAFFE
ﬁé%ﬁr W 2D H EETRINRE R

o Performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions including expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five years’ financial
budget and discount rate to evaluate the
magnitude of their impacts and assess whether
additional impairment provision would have
been required.

B 227 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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EFRAEBRRGEMBRERRK
EHRE

BERREFAARRBEBGMAENE
M ERBY B REEL) REB(AREK
FREEEMTBNEAMEHRE - X
ERBREGEAMBRERNOEE TN FEH
RIRFE S iR T G B B AR SRR AL P 35
MWAEEFHIEE

ERBEAVBHRRE  EFAEN
ff BERERELLENREN  LEERS
MTHBEEFBEEELEFEROEE - URE
ARBEKEREFER KRIEFEE
# BEREBRJEFLEE  KBIEHMD
ERMEBERAER -

AEEREEE ESENUKRIERE -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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ﬁﬁ%%% EX-ERERRAFER
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REREGAVBHRREAERBESNK
WMRAEHEEERE - BB HERER
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ERB(EEEFNEL) ETEFNBRE
oRMERTERHE  RETEXRER
RRRERE o TAITT
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ﬁLmHMmﬂi%ﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁg
B E K 8 AR R 1) L

o THREEFTABAABES - AKRE

HEEMBREF  EENLIEY &
SEARMEFNEREERRER -

o HEEEMHRASIHEENREER
ER AR AR EN AR -

=8 E (R BR AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

| China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Yiu Chung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 2
[ i
—E-—5 —E-TF z
2021 2020 s
B =E AER®EET ARKBE&ETT
Notes RMB million RMB million
B Turnover 6 33,387 31,448 -
HEMA Cost of sales (20,313) (19,373)
EH Gross profit 13,074 12,075
H o Uy A R Wz Other income and gains 7 3,543 1,687 o~
HEMDHER Selling and distribution expenses (6,743) (6,123) =
TR R EH M E A Administrative and other expenses (3,619) (4,419) ;E
FEE & & 5 R = A A Share of results of joint ventures
E45 and an associate 20 21) = =
B BB AN Finance costs 8 (19) (211) =
B 756 A A Profit before taxation 6,215 3,009 s
FHIE Taxation 13 (1,625) (915) &
FEFERF Profit for the year 9 4,590 2,094
SER : Attributable to: -
VNN 4] Shareholders of the Company 4,587 2,094
FE1E Il AR R fe 2 Non-controlling interests 3 =
4,590 2,094 o
e
sRER Earnings per share 15 3
AR Basic RMB1.41 RMBO.65 "
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

—E-—%F —ZEZFF
2021 2020
AER®EET ARYX¥BE&ETT
RMB miillion RMB million
EXEERF Profit for the year 4,590 2,094
HM2E(ZH) K : Other comprehensive (expenses)/
income:
rEESHEREZEHEA : Item that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
et EERE 255K Exchange differences on translation of
FEEZERER functional currency to presentation
currency (693) (1,426)
BERWESEFEEZEAE : Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
EINETS 2 ERER Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations 600 1,441
AR BESEBEZEHE A Fair value adjustment on financial assets
Hitiza MamemEEZ at fair value through other
NABEHAE comprehensive income 2 (1)
602 1,440
EEFEHM2E(ZH) Other comprehensive (expense)/
& (BRRE) income for the year, net of tax (91) 14
EEERHKEEE Total comprehensive income for the
year 4,499 2,108
FER : Attributable to:
RAFIRRER Shareholders of the Company 4,496 2,108
FEPE I AR R A Non-controlling interests 3 -
4,499 2,108

= (A% ) AR A F | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited




HEEERRR
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

—E-—%F —TTF
2021 2020
B = AR®EHET AREBRET
Notes RMB million RMB million
EREEE Non-current assets
BT EE Fixed assets 16 13,717 14,414
FREEE Right-of-use assets 17 3,379 3,367
LR Goodwill 18 9,250 9,326
HihEpEE Other intangible assets 19 255 320
NELhEREENT 72 Interests in joint ventures and
an associate 20 1,381 -
UAREBETEHHEZ8E A Financial assets at fair value through
HEMZEaRamNemEE other comprehensive income 21 - 7
A AREEFEEEZEHT A Financial assets at fair value through
SHERNTREE profit or loss 22 3,613 =
T IR Prepayments 23 175 106
BT IBEE Deferred taxation assets 27 3,368 2,858
EEBIRITER Pledged bank deposits 18 =
35,156 30,398
RENEE Current assets
78 Stocks 24 6,458 6,014
B 5 N H b ek 28 Trade and other receivables 25 3,436 2,378
AREFIE Taxation recoverable 625 371
BIRIRR T Pledged bank deposits 2 76
HENIREEED Cash and cash equivalents 5,376 4,538
15,897 13,377
mEAE Current liabilities
B 5 NEMENFIE Trade and other payables 26 (21,007) (19,327)
HEAE Lease liabilities (71) (83)
FESFIE Taxation payable (92) (162)
(21,170) (19,572)
mEAERE Net current liabilities (5,273) (6,195)
HEERTHER Total assets less current liabilities 29,883 24,203

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021

A

dnolg ay| ynoqy

B E

s1apjoyaleys ing o]

Sa8%d

3JUBUIBNOY alEJDdJUj

&
e
<
of
|
=
=
M
=
@,
o
w
b
o
=
@
3
@
=
=4
@

123



124

8% —TTF
2021 2020
B 5k AR®EHET AREBET
Notes RMB miillion RMB million

ERBRE Non-current liabilities
HEaE Lease liabilities (60) (117)
FELEFRIBAE Deferred taxation liabilities 27 (1,955) (788)
HEMIERBa s Other non-current liabilities 28 (3,379) (2,024)
(5,394) (2,929)
24,489 21,274

BE R G&iE Capital and reserves

& Zx Share capital 29 14,090 14,090
G Reserves 10,342 7,127

FAFIBRREGES Equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company 24,432 21,217
JEREFIERER Non-controlling interests 57 57
HEs Total equity 24,489 21,274

{® %8 HOU XIAOHAI

R E (8% ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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HAERERER

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

—E_—Ff —TTF
2021 2020
B & ARBEHET AREBRET
Notes RMB miillion RMB million
BEIDCRaRE Cash flows from operating
activities
KEmMGBzRS Cash generated from operations 30A 6,270 5,628
BERAEBFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid () ()
2 5t A B (A 3 AT 15 Chinese Mainland income tax paid (1,637) (1,455)
IR R B A P SRR Chinese Mainland income tax
refunded 364 309
BEITDZHRERABRE Net cash from operating activities 4,995 4,480
RETBHCRASRE Cash flows from investing
activities
HEBTEEMSHKIEA Proceeds from disposal of fixed
assets 226 384
HESREEMSHIEA Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets 7 =
B E Interest received 245 136
B BT BN Receipt of government grants 489 1,065
Wl g T & 2 B & B i S Repayment of loan to fellow
NGINEE subsidiaries 3,600 2,000
BT ARSENE AR Loan to fellow subsidiaries
g% (4,000) (3,600)
BTEEEEENR Loan to a joint venture (250) =
BABEEEE Purchase of fixed assets (1,471) (1,047)
REBERETE Investments in joint ventures (602) =
REtERENER Investment in an associate (650) =
FHUE BRI E Placement of short-term bank
deposits (400) -
W B HIRRITAETE Withdrawal of pledged bank
deposits 74 _
FRE IR TET Placement of pledged bank
deposits (18) (8)
REZDERAZRES Net cash used in investing
activities (2,750) (1,070)

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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—E_—Ff —TTF
2021 2020
B 5k AR®EHET AREBRET
Notes RMB miillion RMB million
MEFITHZRLRE Cash flows from financing
activities
BARL S Dividends paid 14 (1,281) (561)
BTSRRI FEE Dividends paid to non-controlling
%R 7 f% 8 shareholders of subsidiaries 14 (3) -
2 A Interest paid (6) (56)
HENRKZAE D Principal elements of lease
payments 30B (76) (54)
RERITREMEE Proceeds from bank and other
F{S 508 loans 308 - 1,469
BRBTREMEE Repayment of bank and other loans 308 - (1,995)
MEIBERAZERE Net cash used in financing
activities (1,366) (1,197)
BHERBSSEIEM Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents 879 2,213
fE R 7 o & Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes (41) (15)
RN—A—BzHR&KIHE&EE Cash and cash equivalents as
at 1 January 4,538 2,340
R+-A=+—HZHER Cash and cash equivalents as
HesE at 31 December 5,376 4,538
ReRBeSFEHERZIW Analysis of the balances of
cash and cash equivalents
e RBITET Cash and bank balances 4,776 3,538
HAbsRITF 5K Other deposits with banks 600 1,000
5,376 4,538

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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%
BE-Z-—F1+-A=1+—HI¥E | For the year ended 31 December 2021
it i
kR#g E
Non- ana
FORRREGRE controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
k* {EERE ER R REEn
Share  Valuation ~ Exchange Retained L
capital reserve reserve profits Total §
AEWERT ARWEER ARWEET ARKEERT AEWEAR ARWERT ARWEER §
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million ;ﬁ
R-E-—F—f—H Asat 1 January 2021 14,090 2 (2332) 9,457 1,217 57 21,274
Exza Exchange diferences - - (%3 - (®) - (®3) -
RABEGHEAEREA Fair value adjustment on >
EAkEneREE  financal assets at fair 3
AR BEER value through other S
comprehensive income - 2 - - 2 - 2
RHENA(EEFSELEE Release of valuation reserve
HARMEANREREE  upondisposal of —
BEMEN HERE financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income - (0] - 4 - - - ;r;
TERET Profit for the year - - - 4,587 4,587 3 4,590 I
op
REE2E(TH) /Wi %E%E  Total comprehensive
(expenses)/income g
for the year - )] (93) 4,591 4,49 3 4,499 2
HEBEARS : Transactions with owners; g
RE(HEtm) Dividends (Note 14) - - - (1,281) (1,281) (3) (1,284) g
RZBZ—F+ZA=F—H Asat31 December 2021 14,09 - (2,425) 12,767 2,432 51 24,489 h
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EZi

Non- s
FRTRREER controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
R AR EXds  REEN
Share Valuation Exchange Retained il
capital reserve reserve profits Total
AREBET ARKBBEET ARYBET ARMEER ARWEETL ARKEET ARKEET
RMB million ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million
R-Z-ZF-f-H Asat 1 January 2020 14,090 3 (2,347) 7924 19,670 57 19,727
ExzZ Exchange differences - - 15 - 15 - 15
DAL B E EESH A Fair value adjustment
AiralErSREE o financial assets at
LA EERR fair value through other
comprehensive income - (1) - - (1) - (1)
KEERT Profit for the year - - - 2,004 2,094 = 2,004
REERE(RH)/RE2%E Total comprehensive
(expenses)/income
for the year - (1) 15 2,094 2,108 - 2,108
BEEARS : Transactions with owners:
RE(METm) Dividends (Note 14) - - - (561) (561) - (561)
RZE-ZEF-A=F-H Asat31 December 2020 14,090 2 2332) 9,457 0,217 57 21,274

R (£ A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



HEMBRS M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-TZ=-—F+=-A=1+—HILFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

—RER

RAR T —HERESFEMKLZ £
BRAR  EROHREBBERSFT
BRABI([BRFT]) LT - EERA
IRIEIR A B A R B R b AK 37§ R
EEHERAR([FEER]) - AR
AIFEM SR I B B A Mo Ak
ERBBEFEEE2REBANE
3B ARB B ET B EBE 265 EH
KJE231#£2301&2310F °

ARRWMEEEREE (B -
AREENPAMRERETEREHE
R EEEY - HBEERAAR
%o REDINEZ BN RERENT
2 UFEHFHMRRASERANRK
B GEMBEHRIUARETAR
LIDE T

AEBIERFELE  HERDHE
BEmM - ARBZEBXBRARE
2 c EXEMBARZEBTIEN
MisE=—1g -

HE-ZT-—4F+-_HA=+—HIHF
EMRETERE DR ERBE S S5
MAg([EBgtMAg]) B
ERMBHEEL ([ BBT B ®ELE
Al DRE - BR T X EB ST
REFRIFERRIN - AR A TSRS TR IE
BARANEARE - BAKABRTEE
R E MRS M FTHOEHENAD
hBEBER -

AN - AP BHRERE ETHRAIR
FEARURPIRERNERNESEA -

1.

GENERAL

The Company is a public company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The directors regard the ultimate holding
company to be China Resources Company Limited (“CRC"),
a company established in the Chinese Mainland. The address
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are changed from 39/F, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong to Room 2301 &
2310, 23/F., China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"). The Group’s revenues and cash flows are primarily
generated from beer operation in China of which the
functional currency is RMB. In order to reduce the impact of
foreign exchange movements on reported results so as to
better reflect the underlying performance of the Group, the
consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB").

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are detailed in Note 34.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™). Except as specified in the principal accounting
policies as set out in Note 2, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include

applicable disclosures required by the Listing Rules and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021

[GEA L

dnolg ay| ynoqy

B E

s1apjoyaleys ing o]

Sa8%xd

3JUBUIBNOY alEJDdJGj

&
i
krl
Of
u
s
=
3
=
=3
o
w
@
oo
=
@
3
@
=
=
w

129



130

— B E

ZREAKEMBELER - ELMA
HIARRNEERER - URAKER
ERNRTRERE - BEEMREA
SEERHNERETIHNEEM
A WHAIRRN R REEELT
£ o

RAFE  AEEBEIRAATHE
BEEAGRM  R_F—_—F—
A—BEANGHA HUBERERNE
MR E LR ZEFT

ERMBRELED165  COVID-1948F

SCHEY) HERH
BAMBREENEIS - FREEYE
BRGENEN . -FER

BB BIREERETR
BB SREEREAR
REEUHRE LA
165 (BRI A)

o - REBER T BEREERE
EelRMEBERSEANRELZRS
([FEE R —FXAEMY
BIZRE  HEBNEEFEAZR
FEREFATLEZHEEBETRA N
BN F LA o

RESREARTNERUAKENY
BRRMKIEBEERTE -

REEEMBMEENZETHAE
BANF R RBEFET B KK
BR/SAZREAMEREAHNE
UIARBREATE -

GENERAL (Continued)

Taking into account the gearing ratio, historical and
expected future cash flows from operations and unutilised
available banking facilities of the Group, management
expected the Group has adequate resources to meet its
liabilities and commitment as and when they fall due and to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:
Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 — Phase 2
and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June
2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include
as "estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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HE-TZ=-—F+=-A=1+—HILFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

—WEE 1. GENERAL (Continued) -
AEEWARIRARAZEE BMAE The Group has not early applied the following new standard,
REMAFT AR - IH B 2R RIEZRA amendments to existing standards and framework that have
{&5T ° been issued but are not yet effective.
BAUBRLERZ175 RS REEET HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related w
Amendments® 3%
BRNBREENDIN(BTR)  HAERIRR Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual 2
Framework? il
ERNBREENZ0SRAAET REEEERENA Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between B
ERIZ 28R (BT X) RELRZENE and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint =
EHERFA Venture* <
EEuHaEENZ6R(BT4) ZEZ-55A=TA Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions §
Z1EEICOVID-1948 beyond 30 June 2021' 5
BuRgER -
BESHENZ 15 (BTTE) BEABARD AL Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
HRARREES or Non-current and related —
(Z22%%)2 amendments to Hong Kong
REET Interpretation 5 (2020)?
EEENZ B RAAURASE  SHHRER Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Disclosure of Accounting Policies? N
EHIERREE% (BHA) Practice Statement 2 ?%ﬁ
BEETERZ8% (1K) i AR Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? aft
BEGHENZ12%(TE) HE-RAEANAE Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and o
REEREY Liabilities arising from a Single =
BT Transaction? -
BASHENS 1655571 nE - BERRE-B Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - =
EREAIN Proceeds before Intended Use? =
SR N
BECHENETH(ETE) BEAN-BAAH Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
fpi A2 Contract?
BAMEREEL (BTE) ERNBRLEN Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
BHE(ZE-N\% 2018-2020?
EIRCTE)
-
BisE - Notes: E
oF
1. RZZE-—FMA—AKZ2EFRBZF 1. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2021. -_..-.
SRR - ]
2. RZZZZF—-—A—HizERRZF 2. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022. g
FEEAR AR - =
3. RZZ_=F—A AR ZEBFRBZF 3. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023. g
IR - ]
4. REFEE 2Bz &R FERRE 4. Effective for annual period beginning on or after a date to be <
AR o determined.
ZEN BB SRS ER R EE]TEE These new and amendments to HKFRSs are not expected to
TEHEA SRR EHEANNERS have a material impact on the entity in the current or future
PAKNA] B RRAZ GiEKE R Z o reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include
the financial statements of the Company and of all its
direct and indirect subsidiaries. The results of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate. All material intra-group
transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Prior to 1 January 2010, increases in interests in existing
subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the
acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For
decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration
received and the carrying amount of the share of net assets
disposed of was recognised in the consolidated profit and
loss account.

From 1 January 2010 onward, changes in the Group’s
ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
involve a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.
When control of subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, the Group derecognises all
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their
carrying amount. Any retained interest in the former
subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date the
control is lost, with the gain or loss arising recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. The
Group retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts
recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities
during the measurement period, based on new information
obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date. The measurement period ends on
twelves months from the date of the acquisition.

B (3R R%) A @) | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases. In the Company’s balance
sheet, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary prior to 1
January 2010 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary on or after 1 January 2010
represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the previously held
equity interest in the acquiree over the net fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting date and
whenever there is an indication that the cash generating
unit to which the goodwill relates may be impaired. Such
goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. An impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account and is not reversed in a
subsequent period. On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Prior to 1 January 2010, a discount on acquisition arising on
an acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary
at the date of acquisition over the cost of acquisition. Gain
on bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed over the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the previously held equity
interest in the acquiree. Discount on acquisition or gain on
bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is
recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



FEEHE@®

BERRURAEEENER  BE
RABBEMESGTARZ SR WG
BRAK - (FEHEDZRENEE
RA R B EDENM MR TIIZER
SERAERZRABREENS -8
SHRRARE - RIFHEDE  RBER
AHAZELEZRENMIRKARER
BEERRKARER  WRERE
RAKERGZBERRIALEDEE
MiEm R EMEE WA TAFE -
BakHEt2E KSR BEQ
A/ RELENEFEEESHTEA
B BREZSEHERASERAN
PrERERHIRES - EAKEEN
ZBERRREELRNBRBELA
SENZBERRREELENER
(BREE LA ANEERZHE R
ARAEEERREFR G0 NEMR
RH#D)N  ARERIEERERE
HZE—FER - - ERAEEEEL
ARKEERET  AERKRBERA]
FALEEIMNFAZBERAT &
HE—FHERER -

REERRINEGEERZRETIBR
RETKRRBERAHAEREER
EILETAARR o WREREE ARk
BEMREIRER RERABHA
SERBIEZEIRE T Z A #AIEE M
BEZARBEFEZEHBARER
REE - U ARKREZKREE - &
SEFEZABNEERBEN AR
EBEFEBHREKNATD - £EH
AHATE - B RMR B R RN R
MEERR ©

HE T —F+=-A=+—HLFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

B=x

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of an associate and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net
assets of the associate/joint venture other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021

[GEA L

dnolg ay| ynoqy

B E

s1apjoyaleys ing o]

ES)

m
i3

3JUBUIBNOY alEJDdJGj

s
S
S
5
Of
|
—
=
I
=
=)
5
w
&
@
3
@
=
@

135



136

FEEHE@®

AEEHEREERBEBERBER
LRAIHAELEMERD AL LT
B WEFEEBER REZZHE
HE(BEAR)SREE-—EELIR
B G ERFE36H BB HATK
Bl %8 (B AEEM A R EER D
ERAzEBBDE) BIREEFELENA
FEITRERIH o E0 2 MR ZBER
Breskz2INEE(BERE)
BREERREZ B - HEEZ
A EEEEROT  BEBEZE
e RRE L EA 365
R -

HARBHBERRREEATE

KNBELRERLRIEHIEE - B
ABRFIEH ERIRE T 2 Al
PREA MBS IMERIER » WIRIBEE
B BREENFIRCEBE - A&
BRENBEARRGEDFR I ES
HAZREEaREREE - AAKE
ERNZERAAEEFEREES
MZ AR BEKESNINSHERRZ
DNREE NBERRHAELEL
REEREAREE R LERE
RAEHAEDEZREERZFER
AARBEMZEZRFABEE LS8
ERAIAERR 2B o IS - K
KBS ST HE b 2 YA B RZ B
LBRBHACELRERZAETEA
fr BREEZBERARALELE
BERHERREERABMBELER
[l o At - e E ARREERE
SR E R E A 2w WA R 2 Wk =k
BiE - enhERREESAERE
FoEEER c AREEREE
DHERBBEARREELERE
WakEEARERERT ) EERS
(EREFH D BRHE)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to
fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss
the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to
the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that
are not related to the Group.

Classification and measurement of financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- financial assets carried at amortised cost;
- financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"); and

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL").

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.
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FESHBE @ 2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(R eMEEN D BERFTE (&) (a) Classification and measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i) EHITA (i) Debt instruments
BEYHEIANEREEBERIAN Classification is driven by the Group’s business model for
EBEERARBEILANSARESRE managing the debt instrument and the debt instrument’s
R o contractual cash flow characteristics.
EBTANEREFERRNAKZEE Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
BZEEMNEBEAUARZEERNR the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
ShREFH  AEBRBEEIAES A the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
U= =55 : measurement categories into which the Group classifies its

debt instruments:
LB ARGTEN M EE Financial assets carried at amortised cost
HRBEUNKREERERENE Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
E WRERBEREERERELS flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
MAS B ZA - A% & E AR AR of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
AR - ZECREENTEKRANE Interest income from these financial assets is included in
BRAEROEETE - sAEMA o &R1E other income using the effective interest rate method. Any
HRREENFSHBBREETAE gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
= o profit or loss.
UAREBEFEEESEHT AR Financial assets at FVOCI
fLFEE RENEmEE
AR EEFEREZEFH T AEME Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows

Alhzs  HREREBRX A LLUKEL and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
HeneakhHEENESREE  NEZ flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
BEMNRESREERREARNES M E measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
B BIZBEERESEAUARE taken through other comprehensive income, except for the
Bt BEEFHF A EMmEEE Uz - recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income
BIRER S iELk - F B WA K IE and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised
HAEFELE AN BREEE in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
M AEMEE N - ZESH the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
BEKRIFERE » 2Rt AEMES comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or
W 2B BA N ERES loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included
FiBE o ZES B ENF B A in other income using the effective interest rate method.
RERNZEFE - sTAHEMBA -
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at FVPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL are initially measured at fair value.
At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at FVPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in the consolidated
profit and loss account in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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(c)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group). Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach in measuring expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9. Management considers the debtors do not contain
a significant financing component. Thus, the impairment
provision recognised during the year was equal to the
lifetime expected losses.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of other receivable have occurred since
initial recognition, the impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.
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2.

(d)

(a)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in the consolidated
profit and loss account.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the valuation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

Construction in progress

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production or administrative purposes, are carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy.

No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time when construction work is
complete and the costs of construction are transferred to
the appropriate category of fixed assets when available for
use.
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(b)

()

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other property, plant and equipment

Fixed assets other than construction in progress are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is
provided to write off the cost of the assets over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight line method.
The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Buildings held for own use
- Leasehold improvements

20 to 40 years

3 to 10 years or over the
unexpired term of lease,
whichever is shorter

5 to 25 years

3 to 10 years

5 to 6 years

- Plant and machinery
- Furniture and equipment
- Motor vehicles

Impairment of fixed assets

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external
sources of information are considered to assess whether
there is any indication that fixed assets are impaired. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss
is recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. A CGU
is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or group of assets. Such impairment losses are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of fixed assets (Continued)

The calculation of recoverable amounts are using cash flow
forecast projections based on financial budgets approved
by management, cash flows covering five-year period are
extrapolated using the key assumptions including expected
revenue growth rates and a discount rate. A reasonably
possible change in a key assumption would not cause the
recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount of the
respective CGU.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the assets is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of
impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to the consolidated profit and loss account in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item
of fixed asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased
assets are available for the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component and are accounted for by
applying other applicable standards.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from leases are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
determined, the lessees’ incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in
a similar economic environment with similar terms and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

- the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liabilities;

- any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

- any initial direct costs; and

— restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The impairment of right-of-use assets is same as the
impairment of fixed assets stated in Note 2F(c).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

- the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

- the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

At initial recognition, other intangible assets acquired
separately and from business combinations are recognised
at cost and at fair value respectively. After initial recognition,
other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are stated
at cost and are amortised on the straight line method over
their useful lives with amortisation commences when the
asset is available for use. The estimated useful lives of other
intangible assets with finite useful lives are as follows:

Brand names 10 to 20 years
Trademarks rights 7.5 years
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(i)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable
amounts. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are
assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. Where impairment exists, an impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated profit and loss account
to reduce the assets to their recoverable amount. Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the assets is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount. Such reversal of impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.

The impairment of other intangible assets is same as the
impairment of fixed assets stated in Note 2F(c).

Current taxation

The current taxation charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements, with limited exceptions. Deferred
taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred
taxation is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled.
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(i)

(iii)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

Deferred taxation liability is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred taxation liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities. For leasing
transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Offsetting

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current taxation assets
against current taxation liabilities and when the deferred
taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxation levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Stocks which comprise raw materials, consumables and
packing materials, work-in-progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost (Include those costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of finished goods. Purchase
rebates are deducted in determining the cost of purchase)
and net realisable value.

Cost of work-in-progress and finished goods comprise direct
materials, direct labour cost and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Costs of inventories are determined on the weighted
average method. Net realisable value is determined as the
estimated net selling price less all further costs of production
and the related costs of marketing, selling and distribution.

Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income over the periods necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the
fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the consolidated profit and loss account over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset.

Revenue is recognised based on the price specified in the
contract, net of the estimated volume rebates, allowances,
discounts, etc. Sales of goods (i.e. beer products are
recognised when the control of the goods is transferred to
the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods may
transfer over time or at a point in time.

For sales contracts which the control of the goods is

transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when
the control of the goods is transferred to the customer.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Control of the goods is transferred over time if one of the
following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs; or

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
goods.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant.

Upon entering into a contract with a customer with the
scope of HKFRS 15, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes performance
obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. Contract assets are
recognised if the measure of the remaining rights exceeds
the measure of the remaining performance obligations.
Conversely, contract liabilities are recognised if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs are accounted for on the accrual basis and
charged to the consolidated profit and loss account in the
year incurred, except for costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of that assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Fees paid for the arrangement of syndicated loan facilities
and debt securities are deferred, and are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in the
period in which they arise, except for exchange differences
arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date, and their income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
Group's exchange reserve. Such exchange differences are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in the
period which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the exchange reserve.

B (3R R%) A @) | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2C. The Group conducted an impairment review
by comparing the recoverable amounts of the goodwill,
estimated based on value in use calculation, with their
carrying amounts. The key assumptions and judgements
adopted by management in the relevant discounted cash
flow forecasts included discount rates and expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five-year projection period.
Details of the key assumptions are disclosed in Note 18. In
performing this impairment review, the Group estimated the
present value of future cash flows of the CGUs based on the
conditions as at 31 December 2021.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

According to the accounting policies stated in Notes 2F(c)
and 2G, if impairment indicators exist on the CGUs to which
the assets belong, management conducted an impairment
review by estimating the recoverable amounts of the
relevant CGUs, using the higher of value in use calculation
and fair value less costs of disposal. The key assumptions
and judgements adopted by management in the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts included discount rates
and revenue growth rates beyond the five-year projection
period, etc. In performing this impairment review, the Group
estimated the present value of future cash flows of the
CGUs based on the conditions as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss amounting to RMB3,611 million are
measured at level 3 fair value measurement with fair value
being determined based on significant unobservable inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques
and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could result in material adjustments
to the fair value of these instruments. See Note 22 for
further disclosures.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables and bank
balances.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk to
trade and other receivables as its customer bases are widely
spread across diverse geographical locations in China. The
Group has policies in place to ensure that open account
customers are financially viable and with an appropriate
credit history. To minimise its credit risk exposure, credit
evaluations are performed for the determination and
approval of credit limits granted and other monitoring
procedures are implemented to ensure that follow-up
actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
regular reviews on aging and recoverability are performed
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group’s exposure to trade and
other receivables is set out in Note 25.

In respect of bank deposits, the Group has procedures and
policies in place to ensure they are made to counterparties
with good credit rating.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of adequate committed
credit facilities to fund capital, prospective investment
opportunities, debt servicing obligations and dividend
payments. Management also closely monitors the Group's
rolling forecast and actual cash flows and maturity profiles
of financial liabilities.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Taking into account the gearing ratio, historical and
expected future cash flows from operations and unutilised
available banking facilities of the Group, management
expected the Group has adequate resources to meet its
liabilities and commitment as and when they fall due and to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The following table details the outstanding contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s lease
liabilities and trade and other payables (excluding contract
liabilities) which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.

R-F RZE EHESES
-5 -4 BEZH BALE RRREER FEE
Total
contractual
Within Between 1 Between 2 Over5 undiscounted Carrying
Tyear  and2years to 5 years years cash flow Amount
AEREET ABREERT ABWEER ARWEER ARWEET ARREER
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
ZEZ-% 2021
k] Fixed rate interest bearing
HERE Lease liabilities (72) (31) (22) (25) (150) (131)
itk Non-interest bearing
B R EMERTE Trade and other payables (14,134) - - - (14,134) (14,134)
ot k- 32 2020
BEfEHE Fixed rate interest bearing
HERE Lease liabilities (85) (54) (47) (29) (215) (200)
itk Non-interest bearing
GV Trade and other payables (11,876) - - - (11,876) (11,876)

AEEAZHRDERRTEFIEE
BEBMNAABENREAR - A%
R S B BN R IR IT R TF B RE Y
ReREMNERR - BFEHNEE
B AREBAEXEE FEFEE
BHRFERES - WEHETRA -

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to pledged bank deposits and lease liabilities. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances. To cover interest rate
risk, the Group maintains the loan portfolio in a preferred
fixed/floating interest rate mix and review regularly.

R (£ A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
balance sheet date to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the

T e functional currency of the entity to which they relate.
2% b e 3
2021 2020

BE fiff EE a8
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
AEWEER ARWEET ARBBEETL AREBET
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR Renminbi 232 2,660 300 2,370
e US Dollars 111 - 205 -

TRALARE L BETRETIE
SRHAREENTE  RRBETLILE
TTHBBEXGIZZE - PEHR
EoImERENINEENE IR

B EREARER  URBRSMEE
5% RE - HARBRBTRE

TLRZIES % - ¥ A S E 1R 45 E £ 4
FEMERNZE -

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
strengthening in Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and
US Dollars, assuming the pegged rate between Hong Kong
dollar and US dollar would be unaffected. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. For a
5% weakening of Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and
US Dollars, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit or loss.

—ZE_—F§ —EZFF

2021 2020

AR®EET ARYKBE&ETT

RMB million RMB million

BB BN H & Effect on profit after tax (124) (105)

b DT TR B R LB E RRER BT
T RERBERT > MSEXTE
BEE - mf@l‘wuﬁlﬁt 7FEFI\FH{/E
2E  TRERHERERR RN EED
FEA

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on
a hypothetical situation. In reality, market exchange rates
would not change in isolation. In management’s opinion,
the analysis is used for reference purpose and should not be
considered a projection of the future profits or losses.
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SEZEEREAKA RS RERNIREH
Rk - BB S - BT
NEEHRITEEXERRAERSE
TR HRBEAEEEL T -

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital,
reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital, and will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the raise of bank loans
or the redemption of existing debt.

BExXxmRomEdE TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
—E_—%F ZEFF
2021 2020
ARSEHET AREFETT
RMB million RMB million

BEEHAERETIIER Turnover comprises
ZBA : revenue from:

HEE M Sales of goods 33,387 31,448

= (A% ) AR A F | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
ARES/
RE FE HE Ha &t
Eastern Central Southern Corporate/
region region region Elimination Total
AE%EET ARWERT AEREERT ARWEET AEWEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
#E_E_-%£1+_RH For the year ended
=+-HLEE 31 December 2021
ERE TURNOVER'
HOMEE External sales 16,599 7,913 8,875 - 33,387
PEEHEE Inter-segment sales 617 498 188 (1,303) -
At Total 17,216 8,411 9,063 (1303) 33,387
ABRE Segment result? 3,395 1,187 1,467 6,049
KENBHATATTE  Unallocated corporate expenses (58)
MEBA Interest income 243
B HA Finance costs (19)
RiRaasH Profit before taxation 6,215
Gy} Taxation (1,625)
FEERT Profit for the year 4,590
RZE=-§ As at 31 December 2021
+ZA=+-H
BE ASSETS
AHEE Segment assets 28,313 7,545 10,979 46,837
EREHEEE Deferred taxation assets 3,368
RERE Taxation recoverable 625
RERBRLARYEE  Unallocated corporate assets 223
GREEAE Consolidated total assets 51,053
-1 LIABILITIES
PHEE Segment liabilities 13,628 5,921 4,948 24,497
e A Taxation payable 92
BEREEE Deferred taxation liabilities 1,955
FESEHNFRTERE  Unallocated corporate liabilities 2
GRAREE Consolidated total liabilities 26,564
g OTHER INFORMATION
REFRBEE Additions to non-current assets® 901 392 373 5 1,671
HEREH Depreciation and amortisation 867 390 381 3 1,641
ERAEEEER Impairment loss recognised
FEREER for fixed assets and stocks 323 197 182 - 702
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N. ERGRABEHE 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
INGTE A
RE HE HE E3f REt
Eastern Central Southern Corporate/
region region region Elimination Total
AREBRET ARKEERT AREEER AREKEER AREEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
#E-2-25+ZR For the year ended
=+-HLEE 31 December 2020
EXE TURNOVER!
HoNEE External sales 15,785 7497 8,166 - 31,448
PEREHE Inter-segment sales 584 390 186 (1,160) -
CEl Total 16,369 7,887 8,352 (1,160) 31,448
AMRR Segment result? 1134 757 1,312 3,203
FESBONFELTE  Unallocated corporate expenses (124)
FEMA Interest income 141
BHRA Finance costs (1)
RiaasH Profit before taxation 3,009
HE Taxation (915)
TEERT Profit for the year 2,094
AN_EZBfE As at 31 December 2020
+ZA=+-H
RE ASSETS
PHEE Segment assets 20,574 8,206 11,692 40,472
ELHEEE Deferred taxation assets 2,858
RERIE Taxation recoverable 371
REDBHARATEE  Unallocated corporate assets 74
GogENE Consolidated total assets 43,775
=1 LIABILITIES
NHEE Segment liabilties 11,31 5,501 4,767 21,499
ERHE Taxation payable 16
BENEER Deferred taxation liabilities 788
AEHBHAALETEE  Unallocated corporate liabilities 5
HRAREE Consolidated total liabilities 22,501
RAtEH OTHER INFORMATION
REERHERE Additions to non-current assets? 528 357 102 24 1,011
hERER Depreciation and amortisation 943 416 379 8 1,746
ERAETEERFSHE Impairment loss recognised
BB for fixed assets and stocks 420 390 159 - 969
Bt Notes:
1. M%%ﬂt%“ﬁ@éuu HEWEX —RE 1. Turnover represents sales of beer products and was recognised at a

R -REBEE_Z=_—FR-_ZT=_TF
+:ﬂ£+*5¢¢§'ﬁgﬁéﬁﬁ
BAREEHEMATEI0% ©

2. D EBEB R AR A BMA

BIRRI BT ©

BTSN R

3. REFRBDEERTEEEERERE

R g R (FE AR )

point in time. There was no customer contributing over 10% of total
turnover of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2021 and

2020.

2. Segment result represents earnings before interest income, finance

costs and taxation.

3. Additions to non-current assets included fixed assets and right-of-use

assets.

B 227 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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t. Ettlr A R U & 7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS -
—2—-% —BFF h
2021 2020
AR¥BEET ARKEBET
RMB million RMB million -
HMKEABETHINSEIE : Other income includes the
following: §
B WA Interest income 243 141 =3
B B SR 7 B Government grants recognised 437 473 =
HEBEEEMSHRA Profit on disposal of fixed assets 50 = “
HETHTALPEREBE  Profit on disposal of land to a =
AME=+=) joint venture (Note 22) 1,755 - §
LERFEARN TR Profit on disposal of interests in =1
FFr 15 A leasehold land held for own use 52 53 =
BEEYREE Sales of scrapped materials 249 208 g
WREE A BA Bottles usage income 542 567
. _________________________J
IN. MBEF 8. FINANCE COSTS
>
—2_—-% —BFF i
2021 2020 B
AER¥BET ARKEBE&ET -
RMB million RMB million =
BITERREMERTE Interests on bank loans and é
other loans - 50 3
HERERNE Interests on lease liabilities 6 6 =
B Financing charges 24 5 -
FER (W), A Net exchange (gain)/loss (11) 150
19 211
.4
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h. xFERT

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

—BZ—F —ZE_TF
2021 2020
ARRBEET AREKEBERT
RMB million RMB million
XEERFISHMEETH Profit for the year has been
#I8 : arrived at after charging:
ZEEN B & Auditors’ remuneration
— Bz - Audit services 11 10
—EEZRTE — Non-audit services 4 -
B TRRA Staff costs
(BHREEFS) (including directors’ emoluments) 5,692 5,607
e Depreciation
—BEEETEE — Owned fixed assets 1,422 1,489
—ERAEEE — Right-of-use assets 154 193
H b &g Amortisation of other intangible
assets 65 64
BRI EEE Impairment loss recognised on
—BEREEEE — Owned fixed assets 300 574
-FE - Stocks 402 395
AARBEFEBEZS) Change in fair value of financial
STAEHIBEMEREE  assets at fair value through
(ffsEE=+=) profit or loss (Note 22) 29 =
HEBTEEEMSER Loss on disposal of fixed assets - 42
BEEmak A Cost of goods sold 20,313 19,373
BRI ERTH ERE M E R Expense relating to short-term leases 83 91
.4
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HE-TZ=-—F+=-A=1+—HILFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021
EEzEIRES 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS Z
EEM= DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS g
—E_—F T -TF
2021 2020
ARBBEER AREBET
RMB million RMB million
we Fees 2.05 1.62 .
- YN AN Basic salaries and allowances 3.10 3.53 =
ANESHERK Provident fund contributions 0.18 0.21 a2
TEAT Bonus' 9.54 10.63
14.87 15.99 -
L =
e 0T £
Fees Other Emoluments @
E55d
Ral  OESHE “E-Ff —
Basic Provident A
Salaries and Fund TEAT! ait 2020
Allowances Contributions Bonus ' Total Total ;r;
Z32-% 2021 ARWEET ARWEET ARWEET ARMEET ARWEER ARYEER iﬂ}g
EEk4 Name of director RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
=2 Hou Xiaohai - 179 0.08 486 6.73 847 g
e Wei Qiang’ - 0.88 0.08 2.38 334 - §
by Lai Ni Hium, Frank 0.10 - - - 0.10 0.11 g
Richard Raymond Weissend® Richard Raymond Weissend® 0.10 - - - 0.10 0.06 5
REF Zhang Kaiyu?? - - - - - - =
i Tang Liging’ 0.02 - - - 0.02 -
BAE Houang Tai Ninh 037 - - - 037 028
B Li Ka Cheung, Eric 0.37 - - - 0.37 0.28
g8% Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0.36 - - - 0.36 0.28
RER Bernard Charnwut Chan 0.36 - - - 0.36 0.28 -
E 053 Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 037 - - - 037 0.8 I~
5 Jian YiP 2 0.7 + 127 134 251 o
FEES Lai Po Sing? 2 036 0.02 1.03 141 339 =
BAEES Tuen-Muk Lai Shu?® 2 - - - - - S
Rudolf Gilsbert Servaas Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas g
van den Brink’ van den Brink® - - - - - 0.05 =
At Total 205 310 0.18 9.54 1487 - 3
“E-EE 2020 1.62 353 0.21 10.63 - 15.99 =

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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EFcHEARER 3

1. BIBEAT2EMEFRZEERE - @
AL THERREBET SR ERTE

B o
2. AEREZEHEEASERAL
3. EEHEmTREFERAE -

4, RBEE-_ZE-—F+-A=+—HIF
B ERKRLEEREAEESBEES
FRERNER - Mesiflas B
FREME(ZZE=F &) - 88 A
REEFRBNBE=FRUEKEHEY
R(ZZE_TF : &) - REATIRE
= HZGMEARBRARERNE
o BEERFEMRG(Z BT
/) PITESZHMINRBESFERAR
AIRAEBENEEFIRMEZ RBEMN
ERITEERBILIFATESZFHHD
REEIERARBIEFMRMEZ KRBT
B o

5. Richard Raymond Weissend % 4 7 —
TE_ZTFEXNAZFTAABEZEMmMM.
Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink%t
ERZTEZTFRNAZFNABE -

6. BER-_T_—F+—ARBHEE-
7. EER_T-_—F+—ARABEEEZEE-

8. S FIERN ARH10,0007T °

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Notes:

7.

8.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics
during both years.

Director fee for the year had been waived by respective directors.
The director’s emoluments were borne by CRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no retirement benefits,
payments or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any
payable (2020: Nil). No consideration was provided to or receivable
by third parties for making available directors’ services (2020: Nil).
There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the
directors, their controlled body corporate and connected entities
(2020: Nil). The emoluments of executive directors were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The emoluments of non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors were for their services as the
directors of the Company.

Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend was appointed on 26 June 2020 and
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink was resigned on 26 June
2020.

Directors resigned on 5 November 2021.

Directors appointed on 5 November 2021.

Amounts less than RMB10,000.

A EEHER 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HILHF During the year ended 31 December 2021, the five highest
B heGmyEEBE —RE=R paid employees included one (2020: one) director, details
(ZZ2ZZF: —R)  REMeF of whose remunerations are set out in Note 10. The details
BENRMET - RO (22 =% of the remunerations paid to the other four (2020: four)
F O &S HESME N 2B highest paid employees are as follows:

SHEBOT ¢
—EBZ—F —E_TF
2021 2020
ARBEET AREKBET
RMB million RMB million
HANFH & KER Basic salaries and allowances 3.43 3.56
NE2HK Provident fund contributions 0.33 0.34
1EAT Bonus 20.36 16.25
24.12 20.15

R (£ A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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NFTHEE

HE-TZ=-—F+=-A=1+—HILFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

11.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

The emoluments of these four (2020: four) highest paid
individuals were within the following band:

A8
No. of person
—E—F —E-FFE
2021 2020
AR#4,150,001 TE RMB4,150,001 to RMB4,565,000
AR #4,565,0007C (HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000)
(785,000,001
7B #5,500,0007T) - 2
AR #4,565,001 TE RMB4,565,001 to RMB4,980,000
AR#4,980,0007T (HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000)
(785,500,001 T2
75 #6,000,0007T) - 1
AR #4,980,001 TE RMB4,980,001 to RMB5,395,000
AR #5,395,0007TC (HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000)
(786,000,001 7T
7B #6,500,0007T) - 1
AR#5 810,001 TE RMB5,810,001 to RMB6,225,000
AR #6,225,0007T (HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000)
(7 #7,000,001 TE
75 #7,500,0007T) 4 =

. RELRS

AEEREZARETELBERSHE
ZEBEFRING B - ZEFFFEIZE
EREAKEEESHER  YHBYL
ERZESHE - HABEDHREEES
HEAFEZBTEAMLE - MR
BTEEZA 2 EMDLUERAIA A
RS E 2 1R -

RZZT=——F HEZEREESHRAY
TE R L FURIRET £ 18 T & RD2 UL
BR(ZZE=ZF : &) - Al TN
I EEE) A EDS AR - REERDE
WA AT B R B FOKFE(ZE =
T E) o

HREBmRIIBRASBNESEHEE
PRESZHEFIAMEFEHPHRAR
B1BETT -

12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all Hong Kong employees.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
amount of contributions is based on a specified percentage
of the basic salary of employees and any forfeited
contributions in respect of unvested benefits of staff leavers
are used to reduce the Group’s contributions.

In 2021, no forfeited contributions under defined
contribution retirement schemes available to all Hong
Kong employees (2020: Nil). Accordingly, no forfeited
contribution was utilised during the year, and there was
no forfeited contribution available to reduce level of
contributions (2020: Nil).

The total cost charged to consolidated profit and loss
account in respect of Group contributions to staff provident
fund in Hong Kong amounted is less than RMB1 million for
both years.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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2.

RELRE®®

AEEERBERNBHEEHBER AL
BRI BREENBREIRRIKE
METEIMWKE - AEEAMZAEIX
METERER D LLER - ERRE
MER - AEBEEILFENE—F
EREEXMEFEM-RK -

R=F=—%  ERERRNENE
BAT U REMRMBER(— T
) o Bl ERLRDAERF
R - RAERIEH T AR
BEHRIATF(ZT-TE 1) -

A Eai Ay B A R IR I AR A
BHomRPHBRMARKANE AR
S56EBIT(ZE_FF : ARK106

e —

BETT) °

12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND (Continued)

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.

In 2021, no forfeited contributions under state-managed
retirement benefit schemes (2020: Nil). Accordingly, no
forfeited contribution was utilised during the year, and there
was no forfeited contribution available to reduce level of
contributions (2020: Nil).

The total cost charged to the consolidated profit and loss
account in respect of the above-mentioned schemes in the
Chinese Mainland amounted to approximately RMB556
million (2020: RMB106 million).

. R\ 13. TAXATION

—2-—%F —EEF
2021 2020
AR®EET ARY¥BETT
RMB million RMB million

AR E Ay i B S 3R Chinese Mainland income tax
REZTIE Current taxation 955 1,101
TEIEDIE Deferred taxation 670 (186)
1,625 915

BENERIDBIBEARFE 2 T ER
Ba MR E16.5% (ZTZFF -
16.5%)5T & °

o B A b BT B A Bl Z BT {S B TR IR H
B B T 75 0% ) R 1 R R AR s A1) B
B-HEzE—_T-_—F+_-_A=+—H
IEFEMBEAMGHER25% (=
T 1 25%) °

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Chinese Mainland income tax has been provided for based
on the estimated assessable profits in accordance with
the relevant tax laws applicable to the subsidiaries in the
Chinese Mainland. The applicable principal income tax rate
for the year ended 31 December 2021 is 25% (2020: 25%).

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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tZ. BRI @) 13. TAXATION (Continued) R
A — L EE AR - BIERE B AL The effective tax rate is higher than the domestic rates S
JBERR - SRE S TE R AR 2R & SR B A mentioned above as there were withholding tax on -
SN AN GERNRBWER R AD undistributed profits and tax losses arising from certain
FEZIBHER - AEBNAE BT loss-making subsidiaries, including breweries which were
KR EERKRE - KEEBRBER determined to be closed down, of which no deferred tax o
TR A 2 FIE A RN REER A A assets were recognised as the realisation of the related tax
BERRETE ZEmBEN - 15 benefit through the future taxable profits is not probable. "
PN The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation differs ¥

from the theoretical amount that would arise using the §
domestic rates applicable to the country concerned as B
follows: °
—E_—-§ S %
2021 2020 z
AERERT  ARMEST =
RMB million RMB million
BR A5 A A Profit before taxation 6,215 3,009 -
NEBBERBEAHRERTE2FIE  Tax calculated at the domestic rates
applicable in the country concerned 1,554 752
A 0Bk 2 X Expenses not deductible for R
taxation purposes 20 88 mﬁ
EREMAAHEAZGHEZR  Utilisation of previously unrecognised o
temporary difference (287) (282) o
REBRZBBAREREER Tax losses and temporary difference %
not recognised 54 243 s
EEDRBE 2B Under provision on taxation in %
previous year 59 7 -
KO WFE 2 BHATEH Withholding tax on undistributed
profits 225 107
AT Taxation charge 1,625 915
.4
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TH BR2 14. DIVIDENDS

—E_—-§ —ECTE
2021 2020
AER¥EET AREEHET
RMB million RMB million
—E-—FEHEIRERHIRES 2021 interim dividend paid of RMB0.264
i B s A R #50.2647T per ordinary share (2020: RMB0.128)
—T-FTF ARK0.1287T) 856 415
“E - —FRRIRERIRES 2021 proposed final dividend of
% mAE AR #0.3027T RMBO0.302 per ordinary share (2020:
—ZT-ZF: A\R¥0.1317t) RMBO0.131) 980 425
1,836 840
.4

BZE

ERARARZE_ZF=A=-+MWARTHNZ
FL EEREAHRESREBRARYE
03027 (=Z=ZTF : AR%0.1317%) - K
BRETNRANARBITEEEEREENTA
R E - ZEREWERRE MBIRE R
BREEE - NEELREWHREMRIAD
AENHEREBREEBIE S _SFEMNARE
BRER-Z-Z—FEMNTHRE  BEAAR
B1281BEL(ZE2FF : ARKS61BE
T BEZE-NAFENRERSER=-Z=-F
FEMPHBRE) R TRARIHEFIREESAR
WIEET -

Note:

At the meeting held on 24 March 2022, the directors proposed final
dividend of RMB0.302 (2020: RMBO0.131) per ordinary share. This proposed
dividend, which is calculated on the Company’s number of ordinary shares
as at the date of the board meeting, is not recognised as a liability in these
consolidated financial statements. The total dividends paid by the Company,
including the final dividend for the year 2020 and the interim dividend for the
year 2021, amounted to RMB1,281 million (2020: the final dividend for the
year 2019 and the interim dividend for the year 2020, amounted to RMB561
million) and RMB3 million paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
are reflected in the current year consolidated financial statements.

R (£ A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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ti. SERRH 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE -
—EB-—-F - k33 h
2021 2020
AR®%EERT AREBET -
RMB million RMB million
ERIREAREF THRE T3 The calculation of the basic
B E earnings per share is based on §
the following data: ?E'i
);]i
27 Earnings
BUAtEERERBFMMAAT  Profit attributable to shareholders of =
PR SR FE (i A the Company for the purposes of §
calculating basic earnings per share 4,587 2,094 =
L4 =
—EB-—5 —E-EF
2021 2020
BRinEAE Number of shares
RGBS RERRBFH Weighted average number of ordinary
TR R T shares for the purpose of calculating .
basic earnings per share 3,244,176,905 3,244,176,905 mf}
. ____________________J o)
—BZ-% —TTF g
2021 2020 s
AR%T ARETT g
RMB RMB =
SEREXRT Basic earnings per share 1.41 0.65 <
. ______________________J
B EFEE I EIRITEIN BT No separate diluted earnings per share information has
LB MW ERBLENNFGRESR been presented as there were no potential ordinary shares
Mz B# o outstanding issue for both years.
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e

Bl E & & 16. FIXED ASSETS
e BERRG
Other property, plant and equipment
HRRF
Buildings ERIR BRRE
held for  Construction Plant and Hfh &t
ownuse inprogress  machinery Others Total
ARERET AR%EET ARERET AREEET ARKREER
RMB million ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million
ﬂt Cost
RZEZFE-A-A t 1 January 2020 10,688 639 20,039 1,056 32422
AE Additions 36 819 10 20 885
te Disposals (555) = (1,461) (144) (2,160)
BNOE Reclassifications 163 (854) 560 82 (49)
EHEE Exchange difference 25 (5) 71 1 92
RZF-FFTA=T-A At 31 December 2020 10357 59 19,219 1015 31,190
NE Additions 1 1,131 4 5 1141
e Disposals (153) - (1,395) (131) (1,679)
BHNE Reclassifications 130 (940) 715 39 (56)
EREE Exchange difference 12 2 30 1 45
W-EZ-F+ZA=1-A At 31 December 2021 10347 792 18,573 99 30,641
iiHﬁE&ﬁE Accumulated depreciation and impairment
R-ZZE-H-A 1 January 2020 4843 2 11,018 741 16,604
TEERE Charge for the year 377 - 1,026 86 1,489
HERM Written back on disposals (403) 2 (1,385) (133) (1,923)
ERRLRAER Impairment loss recognised 276 - 291 7 574
BHNE Reclassifications 0)] - (83) 36 (49)
[ HEE Exchange difference 2 - 54 - 81
RZEZEF+-A=1-H At 31 December 2020 5118 - 10,921 737 16,776
ZWJ;?)%% Charge for the year 367 - 984 n 1422
HERE Written back on disposals (142) - (1,296) (121) (1,559)
BB AR Impairment loss recognised 101 - 190 9 300
EFAE Reclassifications (29) = (28) ! (56)
EiEE Exchange difference 12 - 29 - 4
R=E--%+-A=t+-H At 31 December 2021 5427 - 10,800 697 16,924
BEBE Net book values
R-E-—F+-A=+-H At 31 December 2021 4,920 792 71,773 232 13,717
RZE-Z5+-A=1-H At 31 December 2020 5239 599 8,298 218 14,414

RER - Bz

BRE . REBEBRE

During the year, as a result of efficiency enhancement,

MRAETEREREREERRFNE
E - R AKERNERBHEBIEFET
fa] AT RE Ui [0 & | 25 14 e SRR (BB 1R /%
ARBEI0EET(ZFT_FF: A
R¥ESTABE L) - 2 FEEM AT
Bl & B8R E 2 7 B E R & RANE
=,

BZER)ERA

certain breweries were determined to be closed down
and certain aged assets were determined as obsolete.
Consequently, the Group has recognised an impairment
loss of RMB300 million (2020: RMB574 million), after
considering any possible benefit receivable during the
disposal process. The recoverable amounts of these assets
are based on their fair value less costs of disposal.

M &) | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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tt. ERHEEE 17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS -
—E-—F —ETTF h
2021 2020
ARBBEER AREBET -
RMB million RMB million
HIEE B e Interests in leasehold land held for
own use 3,238 3,174 “;;
BgF Buildings 103 134 =3
Hfth Others 38 59 =
3,379 3,367
—E-—% —moTF =
2021 2020 g
AR®BEET AREBEBET e
RMB million RMB million
EHESENRE Depreciation charge of o
right-of-use assets
BFEB ATl Interests in leasehold land held for
own use 88 90 B
¥ Buildings 60 85 (6
Hib Others 6 18 Bt
154 193 o
.4 =
HE—_FE-—F#+_A=+—HItF Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended g
EHENEREEE B ARSIl 31 December 2021 were RMB530 million (2020: RMB126 %
BT(ZZ=ZF : AR¥12688 million). ©
JT) °
TE - FRNEEABNEEAEE The total cash outflow for both lease liabilities and short-
M e HEEAEARE1658 B IT term leases during the year ended 31 December 2021
—ETFE: ARBIS1HEETT) ° was RMB165 million (2020: RMB151 million). The Group @
NEETFHEIRE « HENHRER regularly entered into short-term leases for motor vehicles, W
EEMNEHHEE NZE-_—Fh= machinery and equipment and warehouses. As at 31 If
ET-FTFE+-—A=+—H  ESHEES December 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases =
MAESHE FHENSEREEE AT is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the g
HEMNSEESMASHEL - short-term lease expense disclosed above. s

—=Z = —4& &% | Annual Report 2021 1M
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tt.

T\

ERERE @
BREBARANEEEE 2 ERER
S - MEWH T IEA 2L - HE
BEETRRAFEEERER -

AEEHERRFIEFE AN T
& BFREMENER - EETR
HMENHEARBE /1 E35FH
& 7 HARR e

RS (R R R bk H A
B B BE R T F R
o

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group leases various interests in leasehold land held for
own use, buildings and others. Rental contracts for buildings
and others are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 35
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

me 18. GOODWILL
ARBEEET
RMB million
)% 3 Cost
R-_E_ZEF—H—H As at 1 January 2020 9,422
bE 5, A= 5E Exchange difference (96)
RZE-_ZEF+_HA=+—H As at 31 December 2020
E—_ZE-_—F—H—H and 1 January 2021 9,326
bE 5 A= 5E Exchange difference (76)
R-—TBE-_—F+-_HA=+—H As at 31 December 2021 9,250
RE{E Carrying values
R—ZE-_—F+—-_H=+—H As at 31 December 2021 9,250
R-E-_TFE+—-_F=+—H As at 31 December 2020 9,326

R (£ A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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18. GOODWILL (Continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the
cash generating units (“CGU"), each of which represent
the operating segments identified by the Group for the
purpose of segment reporting in geographical perspective.
A segment level summary of the goodwill allocation is
presented below:

—E-—F —ETTF
2021 2020
AERBBEER AREBET
RMB million RMB million
) Eastern region 3,184 3,201
el Central region 824 883
i [& Southern region 5,242 5,242
9,250 9,326

.4

CGUZ AT Yt Bl & & T % F B EE T
HAETE - 25 B ARARES
BEEBBzAFHMBAEEMEL
ZHEABRERE  ERAFHES
MEFANT AT TR AL KX
T8 1% (—ZZE—FTF : 85%) ZHifk
FHELEZESKBRESIHREE - FiAl
FPERNII%NEN104%(—E-F
F:10.3%E10.6%) @M °

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
based on a value in use calculation. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period, cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the key
assumptions including expected revenue growth rates stated
below and a post-tax discount rate of 8.1% (2020: 8.5%)
per annum. Pre-tax discount rates are ranged from 9.9% to
10.4% (2020: 10.3% to 10.6%) per annum.

BHAIFHMBERAEZ
Retlt A B R =
Expected revenue growth rate
beyondthe five years’
financial budget

(%)
—ZT_—F —E-THF
2021 2020
R[E Eastern region 2% 2%
ol Central region 2%-3% 2%-3%
7 & Southern region 2%-3% 2%-3%
./

TEBRRKNAEEZEH BT SENT
CGUR AT Bl ¢ R E RN ER®E
g o

A reasonably possible change in a key assumption would
not cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying
amount of the respective CGU.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

[k mRERE
Brand  Trademarks &t
names rights Total
AREBET ARKBERL ARKBER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
573 Cost
W-Z-F4—f—H At 1 January 2020 469 308 777
EHER Exchange difference 4 = 4
MNZZE-ZF+-A=+—H  At31 December 2020 and
k=ZZ2-—%—H—H 1 January 2021 473 308 781
BE K =% Exchange difference 1 = 1
R-E-_—F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 474 308 782
ZHEBRRE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
RZZ-T5—H—H At 1 January 2020 365 28 393
AEEEH Charge for the year 24 40 64
[EH =28 Exchange difference 4 - 4
WR-ZZE-ZE+-FA=+—H At 31 December 2020 and
k=Z=——%—A—H 1 January 2021 393 68 461
AEEEH Charge for the year 24 41 65
E)%%%E Exchange difference 1 - 1
R=ZE=-—F+=-A=+—H  At31 December 2021 418 109 527
RERE Net book values
NZE-_—%+=-F=+—H At 31 December 2021 56 199 255
RZZ-ZTE+-A=+—H At 31 December 2020 80 240 320

ENGEFENE N mEETBEX
B ZARMRPNEREREERTE
REE B FIRG TARREER 2
RERER  HRREBHIZT SFH
HEHERSRAEREETTHE -

RN E (2 f% ) B BR A Al | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited

The trademarks rights for the exclusive use of the Heineken®
brand owned by the Heineken Group at a favourable term
for certain period in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau
were recognised at its fair value at the date of acquisition
and are subsequently amortised on straight line over their

estimated useful live of 7.5 years according to licensing

agreement.



A

HE-TZ=-—F+=-A=1+—HILFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

T REEBELERBEBATIZIE 20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN
2 ASSOCIATE

dnolg ay| ynoqy

—E-—%¥ o
2021
AE®EERT
RMB million §
Ra & hEZIREKAR Cost of investment in joint ventures 602 ?;?‘;
W HE T TALMDEME%HM  Elimination of profit of disposal of land o
(fEE=+=) to a joint venture (Note 22) (500)
R EBEEE R EE S Share of post-acquisition losses and total s
comprehensive expenses (2) o
100 s
" =
BRITEAN SR EAHER Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material: -
—E-—%
2021 EN
ARBEET 6
RMB million o
BRI TEAXNELENEZAEHER Aggregate information of joint ventures that =
are not individually material =
rEEEGERE The Group's share of loss () =
AEBEEEEMPE X H The Group's share of other comprehensive &
expense -
AEEEGEES LB The Group's share of total comprehensive
expense (2)
"
WHEAEAERNRSE X HRY There are no material contingent liabilities relating to the
EEARAREE o Group's interests in the joint ventures.
HIEFE—E-—F+=-_A=+—8 " % As at 31 December 2021, there is no joint venture material
AEEMEURERESERE - to the Group.
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(i)

(iii)

—

ARITHESEXERABR(RIES))

AAFIBBEZETFRAR(BEERS
(R REGRAR([EBHSER
Bl))BREHSHBERAR([ERE
) WEEFRARIBHENR=-F
Z—F—AZ+ZHRIAINBEE -
HAWE2 -BHE-_Z=-_—4&+_-A8
=+—B REXAXK/ARKES0ESE
JL e BREBESIEREMERE MR
YIESHE50% KA MR RE K
SEHFRINBSETLRZES - HKF
BEENERENBENEERRFTEE
F—HBREE - RYBEEHFBHRW T
34

BERECRIDEE(BERER)

R-ZB-_—FmWA-+x8 ' AAF2
BNBARERSERBRERKER
SHERECE(ARAER)  FYImE
BEEEBEERAARFIIREEER
BrE(ARER)MKILIEBREE
HERE(RINCE(BREE)) (1
ZERENDITVEEHRE KR=_T=—
FT+ZRA=T—HOREREFARBARYE
1028 BT o BEREFIBHMAMI T34 ©

BRE B) AR B AV BUBR 1L B IS NS EOR K T
REBRZENEZREAMAEKEN—HE
oAl AREUBERERERRAR
i

BECEIURRENZ SRR BBER
RAFE °

20.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Notes:

0)

(if)

(iii)

Shenzhen Runxue Industrial Co., Ltd* (“Shenzhen Runxue”)

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries (including China
Resources Snow Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd (“CR Snow
Investment”)) entered into several agreements with the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of China Resources Land Limited (“CR Land”) on 22
January 2021 to setup Shenzhen Runxue. See details in Note 22. The
investment cost as at 31 December 2021 was amounted to RMB500
million. The Group exercise joint control over Shenzhen Runxue as
CR Snow Investment and CR Land have 50% ownership and voting
right over Shenzhen Runxue and the strategic financial and operating
decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of
both parties. Particular of Shenzhen Runxue are detailed in Note 34.

Runhui Investment (Shenzhen) Enterprise (Limited Partnership)

On 26 April 2021, CR Snow Breweries Investment, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Partnership Agreement
with Zhuhai Henggin Runchuang Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)*, Shenzhen Bohui Asset Management Company
Limited* and Shenzhen Feihongzhuxin Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* in relation to the establishment of the Partnership
— Runhui Investment (Shenzhen) Enterprise (Limited Partnership)*
(“Runhui Investment”). The investment cost as at 31 December 2021
was amounted to RMB102 million. Particular of Runhui Investment are
detailed in Note 34.

The strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity
require the unanimous consent of all members within the risk control
committees. Therefore, the Group exercise joint control over Runhui
Investment.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

* English names are for identification only.

R E (8% ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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20.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

On 27 October 2021, CRE Beverage Trading Limited
("CREBT"), one of the subsidiary of the Company completed
the capital injection of a 40% equity interests of Shandong
Jingzhi Baijiu Co., Ltd (“Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu”), an
independent third party. The Company has the power to
exercise significant influence over Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu
as the Company has 40% voting rights in the board. Since
the completion of the injection, the interest in Shandong
Jingzhi Baijiu is recognised as interest in an associate and
accounted for using equity method. As at 31 December
2021, the Group injected RMB650 million to the associate,
the remaining RMB650 million capital contribution payable
are included in other payable and disclosed in Note 26. As
at 31 December 2021, there is no associate material to the
Group.

2021

AR®BEERT
RMB million

R— B QR RE R A
FEIEW B R EE R 2E X

Cost of investment in an associate
Share of post-acquisition loss and total

1,300

comprehensive expense (19)

1,281

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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BEAHEAKERNEEARERNE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN

ASSOCIATE (Continued)

There are no material contingent liabilities relating to the

RKAEE Group's interests in the associate.

H-ZE_—%F
+B=+tHE
+=BA=+—H

From
27 October 2021
to 31 December
2021
AR®EET
RMB million
Yo g Revenue 72
ANERE R Loss for the period (43)
HEh2mEY H Other comprehensive expense for the period -
2EX H B Total comprehensive expense for the period (43)
ey
BB AR 2R Reconciliation of summarised financial information:
—E-—f
+=A=+—H
31 December
2021
ARBEHET
RMB million
WRSZHBEEEFE Net assets of Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu 1,265
REBEHEE ARG Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 40%
AEFEGLESSBBANEEFE The Group’s share of net assets of
Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu 506
EES Goodwill 387
JESHE Capital to be injected 650
ET‘J‘HJ‘E%’K”"JF‘EU.I%%EE{}@E’\] Effect of share of net assets of Shandong
EEFENZE Jingzhi Baijiu for capital to be injected (260)
H b Other adjustments (2)
AEERILRSZHEEZREREE Carrying amount of the Group'’s interest in
Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu 1,281
ey
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

AHMMGESKENEMEE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
- e 3 —EFF
2021 2020
AR¥EET AREBFETT
RMB million RMB million

R A AR Listed equity shares in Chinese
NAEE Mainland, at fair value - 7

EHERBERENRIABERRESR
BMARBEESR 2EMERERE
E‘ o

LU St (R E &8 B XX S B B

The fair values of investment in listed equity shares are
determined under Level 1 fair value hierarchy with reference
to quoted market bid prices.

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

AEHMREHEMEE PROFIT OR LOSS
—E_—f —ZEZFEF
2021 2020
ARBEERT ARBEET
RMB million RMB million
FEM T (B Consideration receivable 3,611 -
HEih @& E Other financial assets 2 -
3,613 -

ARrBEBEEE2ENBAR (BT
EHESERB(FE)REERAA
(TEREREREDR=_F=_—F—A
“t-HEFHEMARQA(EHE
B )22 EMBRRRR T AT
& (DREBERZ - QmEMEDR
& MOOKERBAR -

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries CR
Snow Investment entered into the following agreements
with the wholly-owned subsidiaries of CR Land on 22
January 2021: (1) the joint venture agreement (“JV
Agreement”); (2) the Relocation Compensation Agreement;
and (3) the Construction Agreement.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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HLUAARREFELRSEE

AEHRENE2MEE @)
RIFRE G iz - ERSERERER
AT EREABR AR (EHEN
ZEBEWB AR ([ERIEE]) AHE
BRIEEDFEEARKS00E 8
TL e RIRESEMZ=RABRINITE - I
CE - —FMA -+ SNEKY TR
JEE - FHFELREERIERS
AEEARBSOEBETUYRFAEESD
ZATFRIEE 2 IR - BREBERBR
Btz RIBEEEFEREFHER
B E R BEZSEFRRNRE
EREREE(PE) AR AR (FEH
ERRECEENBRAR) ([EHS
EDBHEEN ([ ]) - WhE
ESIE LR AR BUF B & T2
B oo THBUES R BGE T AT A R
EZ50 - WRRIIBATHEBEIPIER
B E— R TERETER

FEHE-ZT-_—F+=-A=+H IR
BIRE A BB DRYESEE
RBHERZRFYES HE it -
WEORYTH R AT HEER TEA o ARIBER
BHEHRE AEEREREEBAR
#4,650E BILWE(E - MEWMHER
RRSHIEERBRAARK15,933
BET 0 ASEWERE(E A5
EEREBRSHHEEEBEARE
15,7758 B L E D H30.29% FTar 15
HERE - IMRZYWENTRSHES
BEENMAREI15617EBE T @ BIAK
SRR B EE SRR EER S
EEERARKI5 77588 LD
#930.29% FTat 1S B BEE R > - ¥ (B
BIREYEEEmE(hAREEYER
BEEPIDBEES N - Bt =E A F
MTRET  EPHEEEFEN
TN EIE AR M (E -

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

According to the JV Agreement, each of CR Snow
Investment and Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Co., Ltd.
(RINTEEZBBERAR) (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CR Land) (“Shenzhen Runtou”) committed to capital
injection of RMB500 million to Shenzhen Runxue. Upon
the formation of Shenzhen Runxue after the execution
of the JV Agreement on 26 April 2021, each of CR Snow
Investment and Shenzhen Runtou injected RMB50 million
and therefore owned 50% equity interest of Shenzhen
Runxue respectively. Shenzhen Runxue is primarily engaged
in the development and management of real estate and it is
responsible for the demolition of the existing building and
relocation of several parcels of land (the “Land”) owned
by China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. (&
HEERH (FE) ARAF) (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CR Snow Investment) (“CR Snow”), as well as applying
to Shenzhen government together with CR Snow for
land modification of the Land pursuant to the Relocation
Compensation Agreement. The land modification involves
the de-registration of the title certificate of the Land and
modification of the Land for general industrial and emerging
industrial uses with the relevant authority of Shenzhen
government.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the formation
of Shenzhen Runxue pursuant to the JV Agreement and
disposal of Land to Shenzhen Runxue pursuant to the
Relocation Compensation Agreement have been completed
after the approval obtained from the Shenzhen government.
According to the Relocation Compensation Agreement, the
Group would be entitled to a consideration of RMB4,650
million when the properties are constructed and sold by
Shenzhen Runxue under the Construction Agreement.
If the final tax-included selling prices of the properties
exceeds RMB15,933 million, the Group will be entitled to
an extra consideration equal to 30.29% on the excess of
the final tax-included selling price and RMB15,775 million.
If the final tax-included selling prices of the properties are
below RMB15,617 million, the final consideration will be
reduced by an amount equal to 30.29% on the difference of
RMB15,775 million and the final tax-included selling price.
The consideration will be settled by installment based on the
proportion of the floor areas of properties sold to the total
saleable floor areas of properties. The completion date of
the construction is expected to be beginning of 2025 and
the first installment of consideration receivable is expected
to be received from Shenzhen Runxue by CR Snow in 2026.

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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AR EBEHEELREEEE  22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

AEHRZHNEMNEE (@)

THFEREEHR  R_F—_—FAh
AZ+RBTEREIHEE - RETK
20 BURBINHERBB/ARARE
BFfEREZEHFTAEHBESNER
BE UREBERAESREFFTENE=
BAfBEFE - AREKRHEERS

EREHREN T —EABKE - assets at FVPL was classified as non-current assets as the -
NARnEBEGTEEEZSHT AL HIE amounts were expected to be received 12 months after B
ENEREENDEAERIDEE - & the end of reporting period. On completion date, the B
EXKER  HENAABEARA fair value of consideration is measured at approximately »
RH¥%3,64088T - BE THHRE RMB3,640 million. The carrying amount of disposed =
BEHAEAREI30BE T BEL Land was approximately RMB130 million and therefore a %
MELETHARKISI0BETLHE gain on disposal of right-of-use assets of approximately =
TFEER S W= E R ELERN RMB3,510 million arose and related deferred tax liabilities %
BHEBENARKSISEEIL - BE of approximately RMB878 million had been recognised.
FREEEWZ50% (FER50% &k 50% gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (after 50%
R5B)HAREE, 7558 8L RIELE elimination of downstream transaction) of approximately o
FriSTEELNARKLIZI0HEETT ° RMB1,755 million and deferred tax assets of approximately
RMB439 million had been recognised.
>
e

HEEKE - ERSHEREFMEIE
%5 Bl EEIE S E AT A EE A
ARBEASORETL - HEZS=_—F
+—A=+—H BREEIALEE
HAEANRE3GITEET - EAFTA
BaMArBEEEOARK29H
BT

AEBHEREOHBAREK1,7558
ErBAREASEERYIEEHH
WERRNARESOOBET - HE—
T —F+-A=+—H CHERE
EW AKX AREE,255F BTt st A
RABEABRNEMIERBAR -

DA BB THAR IR B AN ER (8] 36 8 B Hgp i
B EXGHEMBBRITAIELMGE
ER - AABEDERERSRBIE
EE EPQREENRAZEST
HARMALEMIZR HE - LRZR
BORBEBRNE=F -

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The disposal of Land is completed on 26 May 2021 upon
the de-registration of the title of the Land. On completion
date, the consideration to be received was recognised
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") and measured at level 3 fair value measurement
based on discount cash flow method. The financial

Subsequent to the completion of the disposal, each of
CR Snow Investment and Shenzhen Runtou injected
the remaining committed capital of RMB450 million to
Shenzhen Runxue. As at 31 December 2021, the fair value
of consideration is measured at approximately RMB3,611
million. Accordingly, the fair value loss of approximately
RMB29 million was recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

The elimination of the Group’s share of gain on disposal
of approximately RMB1,755 million exceed the investment
cost of RMB500 million by the Group in Shenzhen Runxue.
Deferred income of approximately RMB1,255 million have
been recognised and included in other non-current liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021.

The fair value is arrived at based on a valuation carried out
by Cushman & Wakefield, an independent professional
valuer not connected to the Group. The fair value was
determined based on discount cash flow method, by
discounting the estimated consideration received in the
future to present value as at 31 December 2021, where
estimated consideration received is measured with
references to comparable market transaction price per
square meter on market transaction price and considered as
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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AEHRZHNEMNEE @)

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

BATAERBAE - Significant unobservable inputs:
—E-—f
2021
BEFATERXSE Market transaction price per square meter RMB27,000 to
RMB39,000
TR IR & Pre-tax discount rate 6.5%

BBFEAST I RMIERZERIE N
HEREBRENA AL EBE
b &ZW* o B E@BILM T
BRTHERPESREITHEE DN °
EFEEMESTENERT @ WS
FHAKEEENSY% 0 BRAREND
AEBEBEGMARKISAEETT - &
FTEEMEBETENERT @ WEF
FABRTER FETRES% @ EIR
BERNARBEREBRDARKIS4EE
TL o BEFERAMBAITREE e E
BERRENAREBETERD K
2R - EIRE BB, R AT AT
PTEIR R 0.5% EITHHIED AT o %ﬂﬁu
IR RIED0.5% (HMBETE) G
ﬁﬁéuﬁzﬂﬁrﬂﬁﬂfcﬁ@ﬁzQ/\EM
8S5HEIT ° AP IR E TF£0.5% (K
HMmEENE) KERKEENRRE
EEMARBSIEETT °

F=MARBEMAENHE

An increase in the market transaction price per square meter
used in isolation would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the consideration receivable, and vice
versa. The management performed the sensitivity analysis
by increase/decrease the market transaction price by 5%.
A 5% increase in the market transaction price per square
meter (holding all other variables constant) would increase
the fair value of the consideration receivable by RMB154
million. A 5% decrease in the market transaction price per
square meter (holding all other variables constant) would
decrease the fair value of the consideration receivable by
RMB154 million. An increase in the pre-tax discount rate
used in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the consideration receivable, and vice
versa. The management performed the sensitivity analysis
by increase/decrease the pre-tax discount rate by 0.5%. A
0.5% increase in the pre-tax discount rate (holding all other
variables constant) would decrease the fair value of the
consideration receivable by RMB85 million. A 0.5% decrease
in pre-tax discount rate (holding all other variables constant)
would increase the fair value of the consideration receivable
by RMB87 million.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements:

2021

AR¥®BET
RMB million

——F&RHA=-+H
R AR EEEE

—-=
—=
i

;a

\

As at 26 May 2021 3,640
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss (29)

EZ-—®+=-—HA=+—H

As at 31 December 2021 3,611

t)ABR A& | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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St RIEA 23. PREPAYMENTS -
- Jad 3 —ETTF
2021 2020
AR®BET AREBEET -
RMB million RMB million
BEBTEEZR & NE Deposit payment for purchase of
fixed assets 175 106 §
- N 41 E;
HEER 24. STOCKS 2
—e--% -2-%4 =
2021 2020 =
AR¥BET AREEETT =
RMB million RMB million e
FE R Raw materials 817 682
S#em R BEME Consumables and packing materials 4,028 4,037 -
£ 8 Work-in-progress 273 260
URK Finished goods 1,340 1,035
ﬂv Rl *F*r;
m
op
HEESREMBRRIE 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—B-—F —E-TF i
2021 2020 §
AR®BET ARBEBEET -
RMB million RMB million
EWE=FE SRR Trade receivables from third parties 150 217
R ARISEENT B AR  Trade receivables from fellow
B G RN subsidiaries 19 19
B EEEEEG Less: allowance for credit losses (37) (40)
132 196 9
A Y [2] 22 (B Fi Value-added tax recoverable 154 157 o
TR IR Prepayments 200 135 =
FE [ HE & A R FIE Prepayments made to an associate 88 - §
BEfE® Deposits paid 24 22 e
H th e U 7008 Other receivables 177 263 g
EHRIRITIE TR Short-term bank deposits (Note (i)) 3
(BR3EG)) 400 - &
BUEEhER Amounts due from a joint venture
(B 3E(Gi)) (Note (ii)) 250 -
WS ATIEENBAT  Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
I8 (B 3 Gi)) (Note (iii)) 2,01 1,605
3,436 2,378
"
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HIBRSHREMBRZRER @

BEE

(i) BHRITERZEREN RN F1.85%

£3.5% °

(i) M=ZT=—F+—ANB REBEEZF
JHEETERGE - ZERRER
- IREFNKL275% 1 B RBRHRE B
EE—FNEERNE -

(i) FEUCEA BB E A R RIR A EE
o BEFIE3 5% 8 RBRRE B L
B —FAEER TR -

AEB-—RETEFPUTZEER

(F) BRI 3
(2) Z+EA+REREK

REERREZAH2INERE=
FTRBRREENBARESHERLZ
BRI DTN

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The short-term bank deposits carry interest rates ranging from 1.85%
to 3.5% per annum.

(i) On 8 November 2021, the Group entered into the loan agreement
with Shenzhen Runxue. The loan was unsecured, bear interest at
4.275% per annum and repayable within one year from the reporting
date.

(iii) Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries were unsecured, bear interest
at 3.5% per annum and repayable within one year from the reporting
date.

The Group normally trades with its customers under the
following credit terms:

(@) cash upon delivery; or
(b) open credit from 30 to 90 days

The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables from
third parties and fellow subsidiaries as at the balance sheet
date by invoice date:

—ZT-—F —ETTF
2021 2020
AR®EBET ARBEBRET
RMB million RMB million

AEE The Group
0-30K 0-30 days 39 43
31-60K 31-60 days 16 28
61-90K 61-90 days 12 11
>90k >90 days 65 114
132 196

B 5 RUWGR 2 BB R A H B
BEEXTGERHESEKREENNERP
ZIEEFHE  WRFERFREBES
JE W R IR RE 1 2 A E £ B FHE 3

%go

Hib Y RIB 2 BETIR121E AT
HEERRX2HNABEREERESR
B AYBVIHIAERGHBAEXN
EERBIEM -

Impairment assessment on trade receivables is using the
expected loss rates which are based on credit assessments
on each aging category of customers and adjusted for
forward-looking information affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the trade receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since the initial recognition.

R (£ A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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I BSREMEBIKGIE G 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 3
BIEEIBEEIT 2 REBRNE Based on the assessments performed by management, the S
HAWE S RHEMERFIBEAREE fair value of the Group’s trade and other receivables at -
EHERmEMRS - balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding

carrying amount.

.
—Ee-—F T -TF =
2021 2020 “
ARBEET AREEER =
RMB million RMB million §
m—H—H As at 1 January 40 46 g
EHERZRERE Impairment losses recognised 4 6 =
FaklwEl M ce%  Amounts written off as uncollectible (7) (12) <
Wn+=—A=+—8H As at 31 December 37 40
.4 o
IR REMEMNRIE 26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
>
e
—E-—F —TTF m
2021 2020 -
ARREET AREBET =
RMB million RMB million E
ERNE=FESENX Trade payables to third parties 3,100 2,332 %
ENERAREBENEBAR  Trade payables to fellow subsidiaries =
B HEX 8 5 &
3,108 2,337
A RAaE M) Contract liabilities (Note (i) 6,873 7,451
JEIREH Accruals 3,050 2,986
B Uiz & (M) Deposit received (Note (i) 5,064 4,676
H b A5 3R Other payables 2,235 1,842 -
EAAEE B E=T) Capital contribution payable (Note 20) 650 = b
FET AR A R R IE Amounts due to holding companies o
(B &) ) (Note (iii)) 5 26 -
FENEFATIEENEBAT  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries g
HRIA (i) (Note (iii)) 22 9 =
21,007 19,327 g
.4 3
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R BRREMEMSRT @ 26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

B & Notes:

(i) BEARKSICEEL(ZZE_TF : A (i) Included receipt in advance on sales of RMB896 million (2020:
EMSME%%)E’]E% SMRAEBRA RMB864 million) and liabilities on promotional schemes of RMB5,977
RESI7TEETL(ZE_ZTF : ARK million (2020: RMB6,587 million). Contract liabilities are classified as
6,587 BB L) EiETEIBE - ARA current liabilities because the Group expects to settle them within 12
BRBEARDARE  AALAEEES months after the end of the reporting period. During the year ended
EREHREN12EARNEEZARS - 31 December 2021, revenue recognised that was included in the
REBEE-_Z-_—F+_-_A=+—HItF contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year amounting to
B EEZHNBRABSTAEVNARE RMB7,451 million (2020: RMB7,427 million).

BHREF - RARK7451BEL(ZF
—TF: AR¥TQIEET) °

(i) RETEZARESELMABEMBHE W (ii) Amounts mainly included deposits received for consumables and
Re e packing materials.

(iiy FEERARRERGATEENBA (i)~ Amounts due to holding companies and fellow subsidiaries were

AIREAEER - REREREE - unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

REBE QIR EQEZNNENEZE S The following is an aging analysis of trade payables as at the

IR BRIR DA T - balance sheet date by invoice date:

—E_—§ ZEZFF
2021 2020
ARBEET ARKBETT
RMB million RMB million

0-30K 0-30 days 3,076 2,290

31-60K 31-60 days 7 11

61-90K 61-90 days 2 10

>90K >90 days 23 26

3,108 2,337
——
REBREEANE S REMENK The fair value of the Group’s trade and other payables as at

BRrEEEEREERS -

HEOE R (A AR

balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding
carrying amount.
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—ttRERIE 27. DEFERRED TAXATION g
UTAEEGEEEEBBRIPERZ The components of deferred taxation assets recognised in S
RIER IR & E AR RN F A2 & the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during -
g : the year are as follows:

ERtigtH
RELRMARA #E RRRAMERER

it | Elimination of profit on disposal  Impairment, provision and At ]
Tax losses of land to ajoint venture  other temporary differences Total %
C§T-F | CRCRE C§C-F | CECRE CRC-F | CRCERE C§C-f RO i

202 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 20 2020
ABYEER AREAET ABWEET AREEET ARWEET AREEET ARREET ARKEER =
RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million ;
ftiEgE Deferred tatation assets §
il At 1 January 88 50 - - 2710 248 2,858 253 5
ERaEaRTA Credited to consoldated proft -

and loss account 1 38 439 - 64 288 510 36

RtZA=1-A At 31 December % 8 139 - 283 210 3368 2858 o

NN Gaaaaaaaae _ Gaaaaaaamw ___ Gaaaaaaa—w
EERBEEN AN BN ES T Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses B>
AREARKRERRBANERG LR - & carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related "
RIEEREAERER R _—F tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. o
TZA=1T—H ' AEBERER 2T At 31 December 2021, the Group has unrecognised tax o
BEEEARKE2,008BET(Z2= losses of RMB2,008 million (2020: RMB2,817 million) and =
T AR¥2,817887T) LKA deductible temporary differences of RMB577 million (2020: i
TR EmARKST7TEEL(ZE RMB 1,457 million) which are uncertain as to whether they =
ZTF : AR¥1,457EETT) © MA can be utilised to set off against future taxable income. Out =
& [E R REHEE 7] 4 B FH 5% Lt ZX0E B oK of these amounts, the unrecognised tax loss of RMB1,608 -

REFERTIRAL Y - ZLSHEBE million (2020: RMB2,548 million) will expire within 5 years.

RAFANE R K ER 2 MG EIEE
AR1,608AET(ZZE_FF : A
R#E) SA8EBETT) ©
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SR ERIE (&)
LWTREEGFEEEERBERTERZ
R IE B EAK D RN ERNE
&) :

27. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The components of deferred taxation liabilities recognised in
the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during
the year are as follows:

HELHF
RELE XPENAZ
Frigi&# RARRR
MERAHRE Profiton  Withholding
Accelerated disposal of tax on
tax land to a undistributed &t
depreciation joint venture profits Total
ARBBET ARKBET ARKRERL ARBBER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
WZE-TF—F—RA  At1January 2020 462 - 216 678
TiRABRR R Charged to consolidated profit
and loss account 33 - 107 140
[E &= Exchange rate adjustment 9) = 1) (30)
R-ZE-ZF+—-R At 31 December 2020 and
=+—8k 1 January 2021
—T-—%—-H—H 486 = 302 788
A BRRNE Charged to consolidated profit
and loss account 77 878 225 1,180
I SR K Exchange rate adjustment (1) - (12) (13)
RZZE-_—F+=-A At 31 December 2021
=+—H 562 878 515 1,955

RIFHEARKMBER - RIEMS
MEHTENBARE —TTN\F—
HA—BERBROFBMEMREM
B o IEFERLIA AR 5 Bl A B FEEHE
Al TE R KR E MR A E & LR IETR
o

Under the Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has been provided for undistributed profits to the
extent that declarations of dividends are anticipated in the
foreseeable future.

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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28. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

—E_—F —ETTF
2021 2020
ARREET AREBHEERT
RMB million RMB million
I I #64 BY Government grant 1,784 1,657
PR AE S 75 Deferred income 1,255 =
EAh Others 340 367
3,379 2,024

.4

R-E-_—F+-_fA=+—H H
FnBAEREEERARLERER
BB ARE1, 7848 E T(ZZ2 =
T AR¥1,657887T) ° BN
B BRI AR LT BT
BEERTEEENMA -

R-ZEBE-_—F+=-_A=+—8 &
HIERBABRFEEC KRS ARE
1,258 8L ' IASEREENTH
KEEBAAEBERIBSNEE
BRA - FRWE=+=-

As at 31 December 2021, other non-current liabilities
included government grants of RMB1,784 million (2020:
RMB1,657 million) recognised as deferred revenue. The
government grants mainly represent subsidies granted by
PRC governmental authorities towards the purchases of
fixed assets.

As at 31 December 2021, other non-current liabilities
included deferred income of RMB1,255 million representing
the deferred income arising from the elimination of the
Group’s share of gain on disposal exceed the investment
cost by the Group in Shenzhen Runxue. See detailed in Note
22.

St BEF 29. SHARE CAPITAL
—Z--5 “TCEE
2021 2020
@B [if=| BHEE HfE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
BEE ARWEET BElRk ARERER
million ~ RMB million million RMB million
BREIRBTRA Issued and fully paid
®—A—H As at 1 January 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090
W+—B=+—H As at 31 December 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090

— T - —4&F 3 | Annual Report 2021
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT
kS 3 —EEF
2021 2020
AR¥EET ARKBET
RMB million RMB million
B 5 A A Profit before taxation 6,215 3,009
PHEE Adjustments for:
FIEN (W), BB Net exchange(gain)/loss (12) 143
MEHA Interest income (243) (141)
F B H Interest expenses 6 56
HEBEEEF Net (gain)/loss on disposal of fixed
W),/ E518 assets (50) 42
HERIEQRA L Profit on disposal of interests in
PS5 71 leasehold land held for own use (1,807) (53)
EHERZEEEERE Impairment loss recognised on fixed
&8 assets 300 574
ERRZEERAEERE Impairment loss recognised on
stocks 402 395
e Depreciation 1,576 1,682
H b & = Amortisation of other intangible
assets 65 64
B B SR 7 B Government grants recognised (136) (328)
[EME &S E¥EREZ AT Share of results of joint ventures and
ES an associate 21 =
AARBEEHESSE  Change in fair value of financial
FFAEHERY assets at fair value through
TRIEE profit or loss 29 =
LEESFEH 2K Operating cash inflows before working
WERA capital changes 6,366 5,443
FEZ &) Changes in stocks (844) (387)
B 5 NEMmEWRFIAEZ Changes in trade and other
b= receivables 26 136
B REMENRIEZ Changes in trade and other payables
k) 722 436
REMFIZHA® Cash generated from operations 6,270 5,628
.4

= (A% ) AR A F | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited




A

HE-TZ=-—F+=-A=1+—HILFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

S+ EeBeREERME B 30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Continued)

dnolg ay| ynoqy

HPER HERR &t
Short-term Lease
loans liabilities Total §
ARBEETL AREBET ARKEBETRL =
RMB million RMB million RMB million %
RZZE=TF—H—H As at 1 January 2020 511 214 725
RERE Cash flows (526) (60) (586) =
BERHE Interest paid - 6 6 £
HNE B B Foreign exchange movement 15 (1) 14 g
THERRE W HES Non-cash movements = 41 41 =
R-ZE=T&+-A=+—H Asat31 December 2020 B
kZEZ—5—-HA—H and at 1 January 2021 - 200 200
HeRE Cash flows = (82) (82) —
ENHE Interest paid - 6 6
NERRE WS HE Non-cash movements - 7 7
W-Z-—#+-B=+-H At31 December 2021 - 131 131 &
;
- AR 31. COMMITMENTS &
—8=—% -—B-%F s
2021 2020 2
ARWEERT ARKEBET g
RMB million RMB million

REZEREELEEAEME Commitments outstanding on

ZAEWNT contracted but not provided at the
balance sheet date are as follows:
BEETEEE Acquisition of fixed assets 2,474 1,196
RBEREZEE Capital injection to Runhui Investment 48 =
2,522 1,196
.4
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32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

ARREEMBAR(BRARRZ Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
BEAT)ETZIRZERGERE which are related parties of the Company, have been
RFEsY  WEEARMFRHRE - BA eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
FEMBEHRERITRE RS RS Note. In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
N REBEHEIT YK IBEAKBER elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
R Group entered into the following material related party

transactions:

—ZT_—%F —E-TF
2021 2020
ARREET AREBEERL
RMB million RMB million
BT ATHRMEZIRFE  Receipt of services from
— AR AR (M &E—) A holding company (Note 1) 24 111
B RESEEZHE AR Fellow subsidiaries 62 38
BBt AR (MFE=) Related companies (Note 2) 24 15
M A ARIHEE SR Sales of goods to
B RAREE KB AR Fellow subsidiaries 33 56
BT Joint ventures 16 _
ERNIVNGIE- PN TR Purchase of goods from
BARIEEHEBAF Fellow subsidiaries 119 =
— B &R A An associate 1 _
BN R (HE=) Related companies (Note 2) 151 168
BN NGIE i G Rendering of services to
AEDE Joint ventures 7 _
TTRA AR Z A H Lease payments to
SYNGIEC Al VN Fellow subsidiaries 25 40
M5 AR ESE AiEZE Acquisition of right-of-use assets from
BAREECHBEAT Fellow subsidiaries 13 51
MR ATEREEMLLIE  Disposal of right-of-use assets resulting
HEWRNERAEEE from termination of
lease agreement to
B RaSEEZHE AR Fellow subsidiaries 14 =
RKETH AT ZHMEYA  Interest income from
B RAREEZHB AR Fellow subsidiaries 21 33
BT Joint ventures 2 _
FTRIIRE 2 FEXH Interest payment to
BARIEEZHEA A Fellow subsidiaries 1 -
. _______________________J

R E (8% ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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SHLEXHEX S (@) 32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 5
(Continued) =
B 5 - Notes:
1. THRB R H —MiERARRYE - KK 1. Administrative service is provided by a holding company, of which —
K] TRl WIRATABHEESE o costs are identifiable and are allocated on a fair and equitable basis.

2. Heineken Holding N.V. R EF Q&) ° 2. Heineken Holding N.V. and its subsidiaries. e
e
=
B

—E-—% —E-FTHE =
2021 2020 5
AR®BEET ARBBETT =
RMB million RMB million g

FEWE SRR Trade receivables from:

B RFSEEWEB AT Fellow subsidiaries 19 19 o

FEYGRIA - Amounts due from:

BARKEWER A Fellow subsidiaries 2,011 1,605 N
—REe&ErHE A joint venture 250 - ﬁﬁ
o

HeRREZEWEHRR ©  Cash and cash equivalents -

deposited in: E
I E=Y/NCIE S 1l A fellow subsidiary é
B/ A) 600 420 3
B SR Trade payables to: -
B RFSEENEB AT Fellow subsidiaries 8 5
FETFRIA Amount due to:
—EER A F] A holding company 5 26

FERTFRIA - Amounts due to:

B RaSEENE AT Fellow subsidiaries 22 9
.4
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HLEXHAERX S (5

AER B & 75 B BT AR o) ) A
FEE N —EARARAEEZKE -
BREPEEREBETZRHI 0 K
SE I E B X/ IBIE T EE MR
THIEBETERBER -BEFRS
BREBEAREEI  ZFERAE
BAOX RS2SR EARE MR
REBR  HZFERETZIRS
(BEREEERERYE RBRITHFER
REBZERNE) DiRAEE K
EBIZRIL - ARERS - LA
RAN LR 2 BB R B E T R
HamEER -

BHE_T-_—F+-_A=+—HBI*F
B INBETEEEAEBNEARTE
FEMEABREEHRDANAARE
128 &L AR 150,0007T °

R-Z_ZTF  AEEREERAE
ERTHEESRTREEAR A
BEMEN G BERRMET R
T  AEEREAXNTHREER
hfismHERIMMIEREEABZ
M

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

The Group itself is a part of a larger group of companies
under CRC which is controlled by the Chinese State
government. Apart from the transactions with CRC group,
the Group also conducts businesses with other state-
controlled entities. The directors are of the opinion that
those entities other than the CRC group do not have the
power to govern or participate in the financial and operating
policies of the Group. The transactions including sales
and purchases of goods and services and bank deposits
and corresponding interest income, with these entities are
conducted in the ordinary course of the Group's business.
The Group believes that it has provided, at the best of its
knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of related
party transactions as summarised above.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the basic salaries
and allowances and provident fund contributions paid to key
management personnel were amounted to RMB12 million
and RMB 150,000 respectively.

In 2020, the Group regards the directors and the five
highest paid employees are key management personnel
and the respective compensation is set out in Note 10 and
11 to consolidated financial statements. There was no
remuneration paid for key management personnel other
than directors or the five highest paid employees during the
year.

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021

33. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

—ZE_—%F§ —EZEF
2021 2020
AER®EET ARKBE&ET §
RMB million RMB million =
ERENEE Non-current assets ;E
EE & E Fixed assets 1 1
EREEE Right-of-use assets 3 16 =
R B A F) 2 i Interest in subsidiary 15,284 15,733 z
15,288 15,750 s
nERE Current assets 2
B 5 & E A fE U GRIA Trade and other receivables 2 212
R MRITHET Cash and bank balances 217 56
219 268
mEAE Current liabilities
B 5 & H At e 518 Trade and other payables (2,672) (2,401) B
MEaE Lease liabilities (3) (7) ;;’}f
(2,675) (2,408) -
REERPRE Net current liabilities (2,456) (2,140) g
HEERRBDAR Total assets less current liabilities =
RERRPE 12,832 13,610 =
JEREIAE Non-current liability =
HEaE Lease liabilities - (9) -
- (9)
12,832 13,601
B& 2 B i Capital and reserves
fi& 2 Share capital 14,090 14,090
1 Reserves (1,258) (489)
12,832 13,601
. J
B aE Note:

A

dnolg ay| ynoqy

As at 31 December 2021, trade and other payables included loans from a
subsidiary of approximately RMB2,660 million (2020: RMB2,370 million),
which are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on demand.

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H8 BS5RHEMRE
NHRBEEEENBRARERNARK2,6608 5
TL(ZZE=TF : AR¥E2,3708587T) * AEIR
- T ERPERERE -

SjuswWalel§ jeloueUl] W 5k

#% WEI QIANG
EZ Director

#%i5 HOU XIAOHAI
Z & Director
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SIS EEERREBER &) 33. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

g#FE—_E_—%+_-HA=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2021

[E R il RERT
Exchange Retained St
reserve profits Total
AREBET ARBEERT AREEETR
RMB million RMB million RMB million

R-E-_TF—f—H At 1 January 2020 (2,188) 2,987 799
[EXRzH Exchange difference on translation (865) - (865)
AEERF Profit for the year = 138 138
B B Dividend - (561) (561)
R-ZE-ZFF+-H=+—H At 31 December 2020 and

k=—F-—%—H—H 1 January 2021 (3,053) 2,564 (489)
EXREE Exchange difference on translation (382) - (382)
RER R Profit for the year _ 894 894
i B Dividend - (1,281) (1,281)
WZZE-_—F+-H=+—H At 31 December 2021 (3,435) 2,177 (1,258)
RAGIAESIERTRREZ #EERAR Reserves of the Company available for distribution to the
BI1NRBAET(ZZ_ZFF : AR shareholders amounted to RMB142 million (2020: RMB538
538H& L) ° million).

196 R (£ A% ) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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SR EEMBLAT + §E4EH 34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT 3
BENT VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE e
R¥EM
Percentage of capital
BRTEERRS  EREF FREEE  FLFRE WELRRE
RELR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FEXE
Subsidiaries registered capital tothe Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities §
RERERAL =
Incorporated in Hong Kong o
EREFERAT A%L00T 100.0 - 1000 RERR =
CRE Beverage Trading Limited HKD2.00 Investment holding -
REBRZHEEMAL §
Incorporated in British Virgin Islands -
AZTEBERAF 42,800,400 B RAE 1 XL BB 100.0 100.0 - RERRK -
Chma Resources Snow Breweries Limited 42,800,400 ordinary shares of Investment holding
US$1 each
>
e
TR E Aoy i e m
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland -
o ERSRRR(RIERRLAA AR$1,029,323,267.277C 1000 - 1000 RENHEREER g
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB1,029,323,267.27 Manufacturing and distribution s
(Sichuan) Co., Ltd. of beer products §
* BRRE(RE)AREAAD AE245,792,501 ¢ 100.0 - 1000 BEAHEEEER
RMB245,792,501 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
wo ERSTBE(EHERAR 31,200,00057 100.0 - 1000 BERBEEEER
China Resources Snowflake Brewery 1S§31,200,000 Manufacturing and distribution g
(lilin) Co., Ltd. of beer products ]
ili3
|
™ ZESIRRE(ZHARLT ARH438,147 5007 1000 - 1000 RENHEREER =
China Resources Snow Breweries (Anhui) ~ RMB438,147,500 Manufacturing and distribution g
Co, Ltd. of beer products =
 FREVBE(LE)ARD AEH778,414,4007 1000 - 1000 BEAEEREES ]
Chma Resources Snow Brewery (Wuhan) ~ RMB778,414,400 Manufacturing and distribution <
Co., Ltd. of beer products
w ERSTEE(EE)ERAR 118,504,683% 0 100.0 - 1000 BERBEEEER
US§118,504,683 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

T = —4% 3 | Annual Report 2021
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34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT

BE24A8 @3 VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
KFEY
Percentage of capital
BRTHERES/ERES ARAEE  FLALEE WELAEE
HELR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FEXHE
Subsidiaries registered capital tothe Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
ReERBEREL(E)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
v EEERBE(LR)ERAT 21,000000%7 100.0 - 1000 BEABEREER
U5$21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* ZEERRE(E)ARAA 159,030,076.09% 7 100.0 - 1000 AHBEER
1S§159,030,076.09 Distribution of beer products
" ERELRE(RR)ERAA ARE322,000000% 1000 - 1000 MENEERAES
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB322,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(lian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o EBERBE(ER)ERAT 55,850, 0005 0 100.0 - 1000 BENHERRER
U5$55,850,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
W EESEE(LE)ARAT 30,797 869% 7T 100.0 - 1000 BENHEETRER
China Resources Snow Brewery US§32,797,869 Manufacturing and distribution
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
» ERERREGHT)ERAR AR%580,187, 90070 100.0 - 1000 SHERHEERER
RMB580,187,900 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* ERTIRE(SR)ERAT AB95,000 0007 1000 - 100 RERBERAES
China Resources Snow Breweries RIMBY5,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Fuyang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
W BEEHBE(2ET)ARAT 29,166,116 3857 100.0 - 1000 BENHEERER
China Resources Snow Breweries 1S§29,166,116.38 Manufacturing and distribution
(Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
wo EESRBE(TH)ERAR 114,000,000% 7 100.0 - 1000 BENHEEEER
China Resources Snow Breweries US§114,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Jiangsu) Limited of beer products
* ERTIREN)ERAT ARESET0000007 1000 - 100 RERBERAES
RMB587,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution

2 i 8 (
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IR EEMELT - 88 ¥R 34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT 3
BE24A8 @3 VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) =
REEoL
Percentage of capital -
BRTHERES/ERES FREEE  FLAREE RELFAEE
RELR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FEXE
Subsidiaries registered capital tothe Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities §
ReEARERAL ) =
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued) o
o EESREEGRM)BRAR 55,800,005 100.0 - 1000 BEAHEREES =
China Resources Snow Breweries 1S§55,800,000 Manufacturing and distribution z
(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd. of beer products §
o EEEERE(HE)ERAA AR¥220,769,5007C 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER ’
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB220,769,500 Manufacturing and distribution
(Gansu) Co., Ltd. of beer products —
o SEEREE(TL)ARAR 58,020,000%7 100.0 - 1000 BERHECRER
1S$58,020,000 Manufacturing and distribution >
of beer products $§
=T
w ERERRE(ER)ERAT 88,710,000%7 100.0 - 1000 BENHELEER o
US5$88,710,000 Manufacturing and distribution E
of beer products s
* EEERRE(EM)ARAA AE%180,000,0007C 1000 - 1000 SENBEREER B
RIMB180,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o EEEREE(TE)ERAA AR#400,000,0007C 100.0 - 1000 BERHECRER
RMB400,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products =
-
" ERERRA(REARAT ARH265,000 0007 1000 00 MaREEREES .
RMB285,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution =
of beer products 3
Y EEEEME(ER)ERAA AR¥282,040,0007C 9.73 - %73 BENHEREER g
RIVB282,040,000 Manufacturing and distribution s
of beer products =
wo EREE(RR)ARAR 44,250, 0000 100.0 - 1000 BERHECRER
US$44,250,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
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BELF @

34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT
VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

R¥EM
Percentage of capital
BRTHERES/ERES FREEE  FLAREE RELFAEE
RELR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby FEXE
Subsidiaries registered capital tothe Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
R R ML)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
* EEREEEIHERRAT ARE10,000,0007 1000 - 1000 REfEEEEES
RMB10,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o EREE(EE)ARAR 74T1,153% 10 100.0 - 1000 BEAHERRES
US§74,771,153 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
» ERR5(LE)ARAT 6,000,000 7 100.0 - 1000 BENHEEEER
1S$6,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* BRREE( L) ARAT AB#50,000,0007C 100.0 - 1000 BENHELEER
RMB50,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o SRR ARAR 125,000,000570 100.0 - 1000 BEAHERRES
1S§125,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
oo EREE(EMNARAR 50,000,000%7 100.0 - 1000 BENHEEEER
1S$50,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* MITEEREERAT ARA1,000,000,0007% 500 - 00 BHEREREE
RMB1,000,000,000 Development and management
of real estate
* o BERE(RCE(BRAR) AB#500,000,0007C 300 - 300 RENENEE
RMB500,000,000¢ Investing in inefficient assets
W REZAERRAA AR¥1,670,000,0007C 40.0 - 400 HEMHEREED

RMB1,670,000,000

R E (8% ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT
VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

35.

Notes:

* %

* %k

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars
of all subsidiaries will be of excessive length and therefore the above
list contains only the particulars of the subsidiaries which materially
affect the results or assets of the Group.

Unless otherwise stated, the principal country of operation of each
company is the same as its place of incorporation.

For companies incorporated in the Chinese Mainland, the English
name is as shown in the Certificate of Approval of each company (if
any).

Joint Venture

Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise

Associate

Amount represents paid up capital

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 121
to 201 were approved by the board of directors on 24 March
2022.
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IFMBENEE
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

“F+tF —E-N\Ff —F-NF —FT-TF CZB--F
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
AREBEEL ARKRERT ARKAET ARE®EBEET AERBEET
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million

Rexs Consolidated results
2] Turnover 29,732 31,867 33,190 31,448 33,387
PR R R 7 Profit attributable to
shareholders 1,175 977 1,312 2,094 4,587

BREARET Basic earnings per share RMBO.36 RMB0.30 RMB0.40 RMB0.65 RMB1.41
BRI E Dividend per share

5 Interim RMBO0.07 RMBO0.09 RMB0.120 RMBO.128 RMB0.264

R Final RMBO0.07 RMBO0.03 RMB0.045 RMBO0.131 RMB0.302

RMBO.14 RMBO0.12 RMBO0.165 RMB0.259 RMBO0.566

GEEEARE Consolidated balance sheet

BB E Fixed assets 20,449 19,632 15,818 14,414 13,717
EREEE Right-of-use assets = - 3,595 3,367 3,379
BE Goodwill 8,318 8,390 9,422 9,326 9,250
HihEFEE Other intangible assets 147 124 384 320 255
REEhER Interests in joint ventures and

N X an associate - = - - 1,381
MDA EMESEHE  Financial assets at fair value

ZEtAEMEGZS  through other comprehensive

WEmemEE income 9 9 9 7 -

PAREBEEERE  Financial assets at fair value
SEEAEMIEE  through profit or loss

HERMEE - - - - 3,613
BIHIE Prepayments 81 240 113 106 175
EFRIBEE Deferred taxation assets 2,261 2,426 2,532 2,858 3,368
BERRTRER Pledged bank deposits - - - - 18
RBEETE Net current liabilities (9,809) (9,920) (10,138) (6,195) (5,273)
BE4ER Employment of capital 21,456 20,901 21,735 24,203 29,883
A AR Share capital 14,090 14,090 14,090 14,090 14,090
e Reserves 4,331 4,758 5,580 7127 10,342
AQNRIREEEER  Equity attributable to

shareholders of the Company 18,421 18,848 19,670 21,217 24,432
JEPR R R R Non-controlling interests 64 62 57 57 57
REER Long term loans 1,087 9 = = -
HEARE Lease liabilities - - 124 117 60
HREEE Other non-current liabilities 1,629 1,583 1,206 2,024 3,379
EEFIBEEE Deferred taxation liabilities 255 399 678 788 1,955
EERES Capital employed 21,456 20,901 21,735 24,203 29,883

L/
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HRERTERWITES

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
%2  Hou Xiaohai

HRUMBERUITES
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
o8 Wei Qiang
(R=ZB=——Ff+—HAHEZF)
(appointed on 5 November 2021)

FERITESR

Non-executive Directors

B4 M Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Richard Raymond Weissend

KFMAF  Zhang Kaiyu
(RZFBE-Z—F+—HABAEZE)
(appointed on 5 November 2021)

FEFE  Tang Liging
(RZFE-Z—F+—HLAEZE)
(appointed on 5 November 2021)

BAFRTES

Independent Non-executive Directors
#AZ  Houang Tai Ninh

ZREE Li Ka Cheung, Eric

EZEE  Cheng Mo Chi, Moses

FREH®  Bernard Charnwut Chan
FMMME  Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

EREEAR

Senior Management

=== Li Ji
(R=B-——Ff+=-H=—+—HEZE)
(appointed on 21 December 2021)

252  Liu Youtai
(R=ZFB=Z—Ff+=ZHA=+—HEZ(F)
(appointed on 21 December 2021)

®EF  Zeng Shenping
(R=FB-——Ff+=-H=-+—HEZE)
(appointed on 21 December 2021)

QFEH
CORPORATE INFORMATION

LEWE

Company Secretary

2{#58  Leung Wai Keung
(R=ZFB=—F+—HAEAEEE)
(appointed on 5 November 2021)

% BED

Auditor

=% « TR GETAITT

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

EoE -y

Certified Public Accountants
TR 7 B B2 20AT

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

HBREER ESHE
Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
BREFBEBE265FE A AE238230182310F
Room 2301 & 2310, 23/F.
China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(R=ZF=Z—FNA+HEEN)
(with effect from 10 September 2021)
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REEAEH
INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

D ERER

Announcement of Annual Results
- —HF=F—+/H

24 March 2022

ERERBRRUEBREABDCREREY

Last Day of Dealings in Shares with Entitlement
to Final Dividend

—EFRAZ+=H

22 June 2022

EFMERMEBRERFE

Closure of Register Period
BEARLERFRBFASUINE LIEZEZ
IR S 19

TR —FANATRABEZE_FA=+—H
(BEEMABELEAN)

To determine the identity of members

who are entitled to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting:

15 June 2022 to 21 June 2022

(both days inclusive)

BERRZHEZ 2 AR ZER :
T FRNAZTtEH

To ascertain the members’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend:

27 June 2022

KRB MRE

Payment of Final Dividend
—E-—#)\R+-HHF%E
On or about 12 August 2022

BRI ERE

Share Registrar
BEEREERAA
BBERRNEBER1835
B L5442

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

BERIETER

Depositary

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 30170

College Station

Tx 77842-3170

B R

Stock Codes

HFRBBAE RS - 00291
1§ : 291 HK

BEFELL 1 0291.HK
ADRRSE : CRHKY
CUSIP : 16940R109
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 00291
Bloomberg: 291 HK
Reuters: 0291.HK
ADR symbol: CRHKY
CUSIP: 16940R109

RRERE

Investor Relations
FHE : ir@crb.com.cn
Email: ir@crb.com.cn

B 57 (32 % ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited






it - FEEF B EE265FEEAE23122301&2310F
E 5 0 852-2360-9722 {EE : 852-2874-0280
ik : www.crbeer.com.hk ZE&H : info@crb.cn

Address: Room 2301 & 2310, 23/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Tel: 852-2360-9722 Fax: 852-2874-0280
Website: www.crbeer.com.hk Email: info@crb.cn
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